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"ARREST WARRANT APPLICATION 
JD-CR-G4b Rev. 3-11 
C.G.S. § 54-2a 
Pro Bk. Sec. 36-1, 36-2,36·3 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT 
SUPERIOR COURT 

www.jud.ct.gov 

For Court Use Only 

Supporting Affidavits sealed 

DYes 0 No 
Police Case number 

/

Agency name /Agency number 

CT State Police - Central District Major Crime Squad - H CFS 1400537444 
Name (Last, First. Middle Initial) 

Taupier, Edward 

Application For Arrest Warrant 
To : A Judge of the Superior Court 

/

ReSidence (Town) of accused /Collrt to be held a\ (Town) /Geogra
P

hical 

Cromwell Hartford Area number 14 

The undersigned hereby applies for a warrant for the arrest of the above-named accused on the basis of the facts 
set forth in t ~ ffidavit Below. L Affidavit(s) Attached. 

Dale 

Afti 
The undersigned affiant, being duly sworn, deposes and says: 

1. That the Affiant, Trooper Daniel D. Dejesus #494 is a regular sworn member of the Department 
of Emergency Services & Public Protection, Division of State Police and has been a member of 
said department since November of 2007. That Affiant Dejesus is presently assigned to the 
Central District Major Crime Unit at Troop "H" in Hartford. That at all times mentioned herein after, 
Affiant Dejesus was acting in his official capacity as a member of said department. Affiant 
Dejesus has received specialized training in the investigation of violent crimes and white collar 
crimes and how to process the scenes of such crimes. That the facts and circumstances contained 
herein are related from personal knowledge and I or information obtained by Affiant Dejesus and 
by other persons with personal knowledge of the facts and circumstances contained herein, and lor 
information obtained by Affiant Dejesus from reading reports or writings furnished or made 
available to Affiant Dejesus by fellow pOlice officers. 

2. That on August 28, 2014, at approximately 1429 hours, Troop H dispatch was contacted by 
Chief Judicial Marshal Brian Clemens who explained that he received a call from Greater Hartford 
Legal Aid Attorney Linda Allard. Allard stated that she was in receipt of several text messages from 
an acquaintance, Jennifer Verraneault, which were threatening in nature towards Judge Bozzuto. 
Verraneault had explained to Allard that the messages she had forwarded were screen shots off of 
an e-mail she received from Edward Taupier. 

3. That on August 28, 2014 , CSP Troop H Troopers arrived at Allard's office and obtained a written 
statement and a printed copy of what she had received from Verraneault. The printed copy 
appeared to be a partial e-mail and described in part where Judge Bozzuto resided and further 
described in detail the layout of her residence. 

4. That the following is the e-mail as provided to CSP-CDMCS by Allard: 
"Facts: JUST. an FYI 

(This IS page 1 of a 3 page Affidavit.) 
Oale Signed (Affiant) 

ate) Signed (JudgeIClerk, Com 
Jurat f/1'7 

The foregoing Application for an arrest warrant. and affidavit(s) attached to said Application. having been submitted to and 
considered by the undersigned, the undersigned finds from said affidavit(s) that there is probable cause to believe that 
an offense has been committed and that the accused committed it and. therefore, that probable cause exists for the 
issuance of a warrant for the arrest of the above-named accused. 

Date and 
Signature 



, ARRE'ST WARRANT APPLICATION 
JO-CR·64a Rev. 3·11 
e.G.s. § 54-2a 
Pro Bk. Sec. 36-1 , 36-2. 36-3 

Name (Last, Fir:st, Middle Irliba/) 

Taupier, Edward 

Affidavit - Continued 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT 
SUPERIOR COURT 

www.jud.ct.gov 

Residence (Town) of accused 

Cromwell 
Cour1 to be hel at 

Hartford 
own) Geographical 

Area number 14 

1) 1m still married to that POS .. we own our children, there is no decision ... its 50/50 or whatever we 
decide. The court is dog shit and has no right to shit they dont have a rule on. 

2) They can steal my kids from my cold dead bleeding cordite filled fists .. as my 60 round mag falls 
to the floor and im dying as a I change out to the next 30 rd .. 

3) Buzzuto lives in watertown with her boys and Nanny ... there is 245 yrds between her master 
bedroom and a cemetery that provides cover and concealment 

4) They could try and put me in jail but that would start the ringing of a bell that can be undone .. .. 

5) Someone wants to take my kids better have an f35 and smart bombs .. otherwise they will be 
found and adjusted ... they should seek shelter on the ISS ( Int space station) 

6) BTWa 308 at 250yrd with a double pane drops .5 inches per foot beyond the glass and loses 
7% of It Ibs of force @ 250 yrds- non armor piercing ball ammunition 

7) Mike may be right ... unless you sleep with level 3 body armor or live on the ISS you should be 
careful of actions 

8) Fathers do not cause cavities, this is complete bullshit 

9) Photos of children are not illegal 

10) Fucking Nannies is not against the law, especially when there is no fucking going on, just ask 
Buzzuto .. she is the ultimate Nanny fucker" 

5. That on August 28, 2014 at approximately 2045 'hours, CSP-COMCS personnel arrived at 
Verraneault's residence and obtained a written statement which stated in part that she had received 
e-mails from Taupier within the previous week regarding family court matters using the same e-mail 
account that sent the threatening messages: "tedtaupier@att.net". Verraneault stated Edward 
Taupier commonly went by the name Ted, and had confirmed via that e-mail address that he was in 
fact Edward Taupier, who was a party to a family court case in which Verraneault knows Edward 
Taupier to be involved. Verraneault further stated that she received the threatening e-mail on 
Saturday, August 23, 2014. 

6. That investigation confirms that there is a cemetery in close proximity to Judge Bozzuto's 
residence as described in the e-mail. 

(This is page 2 of 83 page Affidavit.) 
Date 

Public) 
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ARREST WARRANT APPLICATION 
JD-CR-64a Rev. 3-11 
C.G.S. § 54-28 
Pro Bk. Sec. 36-1 , 3&-2, 35-3 

Name (Last. First, Middle Initial) 

Taupier, Edward 

Affidavit - Continued 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT 
SUPERIOR COURT 

www.jud.ct.gov 

Residence (Town) of accused 

Cromwell 
Court to be erd at ( own) 

Hartford 
Geographical 
Area number 14 

7. That an inquiry through the the State of Connecticut Judicial Branch website revealed that Judge 
Bozzuto recently presided over Taupier's dissolution of marriage case (HHD-FA12-4065159-S). 

8. That an inquiry through the State of Connecticut Department of Emergency Services and Public 
Protection Special Licensing and Firearms Unit (SLFU) database revealed Edward Taupier 
possesses a valid CT pistol permit (#965512) and has a total of twelve (12) firearms registered to 
him, including five (5) hand guns and seven (7) long barreled guns, as well as forty-two (42) high 
capacity magazines. 

9. That criminal , motor veh icle and SLFU inquiries all revealed the same last known address for 
Taupier, as listed above. 

10. That based upon the above stated facts and circumstances, this Affiant believes that Edward 
Taupier. sent the aforementioned e-ma il on August 23, 2014 using the e-mail account: 
tedtaupier@att.net to Verraneault where he described and represented by his own words having 
possessed a firearm and high capacity magazine rounds dropping to the floor as he reloaded with 
another high capacity magazine, provided a description of Judge Bozzuto's residence and 
described an area immediately outside of her residence where cover and concealment was 
provided. With th is action, he threatened Judge Bozzuto with intent to place her in fear of imminent 
serious physical inj ury. In doing so, this Affiant believes that Edward Taupier violated Connecticut 
General Statues 53a-61aa: Threatening in the first degree, Connecticut General Statute 53a-183(a) 
(2) Harassment in the second degree and that probable cause exists for his arrest. 

That this affiant respectfully requests an arrest warrant be issued for Edward Taupier. 

(ThiS is page 3 of 8 3 page Affidavit) 
Dale 

. Noler)' PubliC) 
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SUPERIOR COURT 
CR14-0675616G-ifOGRAPHICAL AREA 9 

STATE 

v. 

EDWARD TAUPIER 

SUPERIOR COURT 

JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF 
MIDDLETOWN 

March 10,2015 

AMENDED INFORMA TlON 

FIRST COUNT 

In the Superior Court for the State of Connecticut, the undersigned Assistant 

State's Attorney accuses EDWARD TAUPIER of the crime THREATENING IN 

THE FIRST DEGREE 

and alleges that on or about August 22,2014 in the town of Cromwell, Connecticut, the 

defendant, Edward Taupier, threatened to commit a crime of violence, to wit: assault, 

against Elizabeth Bozzuto, in reckless disregard of the risk of causing terror. Further, in 

commission of such offense, the defendant represented by his words or conduct that he 

possessed a firearm, to wit: a rifle, in violation of Sections 53a-62 (3),53a-61aa (a) (3), 

and 53a-61 (a)(1) of the Connecticut General Statutes. 

SECOND COUNT 

In the Superior Court for the State of Connecticut, the undersigned Assistant 

State 's Attorney accuses EDWARD TAUPIER of the crime THREATENING IN 

THE SECOND DEGREE 

and alleges that on or about August 22,2014 in the town of Cromwell, Connecticut, the 

A4 



Defendant, Edward Taupier, threatened to commit a crime of violence, to wit: assault, 

against Elizabeth Bozzuto, in reckless disregard of the risk of causing terror, in 

violation of Section 53a-62 (3) and 53a-61 (a)(1) of the Connecticut General Statutes. 

THIRD COUNT 

In the Superior Court for the State of Connecticut, the undersigned Assistant 

State's Attorney accuses EDWARD TAUPIER of the crime DISORDERLY 

CONDUCT 

and alleges that on or about August 22, 2014 in the town of Cromwell, Connecticut, the 

defendant, Edward Taupier, recklessly created a risk of causing inconvenience, 

annoyance and alarm to Elizabeth Bozzuto by his offensive and disorderly conduct, to 

wit : disseminating an email containing threatening language, in violation of Section 53a-

182 (a) (2) of the Connecticut General Statutes. 

FOURTH COUNT 

In the Superior Court for the State of Connecticut, the undersigned Assistant 

State 's Attorney accuses EDWARD TAUPIER of the crime DISORDERLY 

CONDUCT 

and alleges that on or about August 23, 2014 in the town of Cromwell, Connecticut, the 

defendant, Edward Taupier, recklessly created a risk of causing inconvenience, 

annoyance and alarm to Jennifer Verraneault by his offensive and disorderly conduct, to 

wit: disseminating an email containing threatening language, in violation of Section 53a-

182 (a) (2) of the Connecticut General Statutes. 

2 
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FIFTH COUNT 

In the Superior Court for the State of Connecticut, the undersigned Assistant 

State's Attorney accuses EDWARD TAUPIER of the crime BREACH OF PEACE 

IN THE SECOND DEGREE 

and alleges that on or about August 22, 2014 in the town of Cromwell, Connecticut, the 

defendant, Edward Taupier, recklessly created a risk of causing inconvenience, 

annoyance and alarm by threatening to commit the crime of assault against Elizabeth 

Bozzuto, in violation of Section 53a-181 (a) (3) and 53a-61(a)(1) of the Connecticut 

General Statutes. 

TH~,STATE ~F C~NNECTICUT 

)~~v-:i:J l~0 By. ___ .~--=_--,--_ ___ _ 

BRENDA HANS, Assistant State's Attorney, Juris# 420294 

State's Attorney's Office 

1 Court Street 

Middletown, CT 06067 

(860) 343-6379 
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CERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was emailed to counsel for the 

defendant, Rachel Baird, Old Post Office Square, 8 Church Street Suite 3 B, 

Torrington, CT 06790 rbaird@rachelbairdlaw.com on March 10, 2015. 

1S\~~l; HCC,& 
BRENDA HANS, Assistant State's Attorney 
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06-01-' 15 16:06 FROM- Rachel M. Bai rd 

DOCKET NO. MMXCR140675616T 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT 

V. 

EDWARD F. TAUPIER 

860-626-8892 T-531 P0002/0007 F-892 

SUPERIOR COURT 

. JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF MIDDLESEX 

AT MIDDLETOWN 

JUNE 1,2015 

DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE OF TRIAL TO DETERMINE 
IMP ACT OF ELONIS V. UNITED STATES 

The Defendant Edward F. Taupier ("Taupier"), by and through his undersigned counsel, 

hereby moves for time to consider the impact of the decision issued to day by the Supreme Court 

of the United States in Elonis v. United States, No. 13-983, prior to requests for instructions and 

closing argument. 

Elonis is a pertinent and significant authority for the issues raised in a motion to dismiss 

prior to trial in the above-captioned matter, for evidentiary rulings made during trial, and for the 

law that wifl apply to the facts of the case. For these reasons the defense requests time to 

consider renewal of a pre-trial motion to dismiss, a motion for mistrial based on evidentiary 

rulings, a motion for judgment of acquittal at close of evidence, and allY other motions to 

preser:ve Taupier's appellate claims connected to the issuance of a Supreme Court decision after 

the close of evidence in the installt trial eddt'essing ale fundamental principal of scienter as 

applied to the "true threat" doctrine·. 

I. ELONIS V. UNlTED STATES 

In the district court, Anthony Douglas EIorns ("Elonis") moved to dismiss a five-count 

indictment alleging that he had threatened to injure park patrons and employees, his estranged 

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED 
TESTIMONY NOT REQUIRED 

A8 



06-01-'1516:06 FROM- Rachel M. Baird 860-626-9992 T-531 P0003/0007 F-892 

wife, police officers, a kindergarten class, and an FBI agent in violation of ~8 U.S.C. § 875(c). 

Elonis argued that the indictment failed to allege that he had intended to threaten anyone. The 

district court denied the motion holding that Third Circuit precedent required only that Elonis 

"intentionally made the communication, not that he intended to make a threat." Elonis requested 

a jury instruction that "the government must prove that he intended to communicate a true 

threat." The district court denied the request and instructed the jury as follows : 

A statement is a true threat when a defendant intentionally makes a 
statement in a context or under such circumstances wherein a 
reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be 
interpreted by those to whom the maker communicates the 
statement as a serious expression of an intention to inflict bodily 
injury or take the life of an individual. 

The Third Circuit affirmed holding that the intent required by 18 U.S.C. § 875(c) is only the 

intent to communicate words that the defendant understands and that a reasonable person would 

understand as a threat. 

The Supreme Court reversed holding that 18 U.S.C. § 875(c) requires not only proof that 

a communication was transmitted and that it contained a threat but that the presumption in favor 

of a scienter requirement should apply to require proof of the mental state of the defendant. In 

the district and appellate courts, according to the Supreme Court, Elonis' conviction was 

premised solely on how his posts would be understood by a reasonable person. According to the 

Supreme Court: Having liability turn on whether a reasonable person regards the communication 

2 
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06-01-'1516:06 FROM- Rachel M. Baird 860-626-9992 T-531 POO04/0007 F-892 

as a threat - regardless of what the defendant thinks - reduces the government's proof of the 

scienter requirement for the defendant's mental state to one of mere negligence. 1 

II. RECKLESSNESS 

The Supreme Court declined to address whether recklessness is sufficient to meet the 

mental state requirement for a true threat. 

There is no dispute that the mental state requirement in Section 
875(c) is satisfied if the defendant transmits a communication for 
the purpose of issuing a threat, or with knowledge that the 
communication will be viewed as a threat. In response to a 
question at oral argument, Elonis stated that a finding of 
recklessness would not be sufficient. Neither Elonis nor the 
government has briefed or argued that point, and we accordingly 
decline to address it. ... Given our disposition, it is not necessary 
to consider any First Amendment issues. 

In State v. Taupier, the instant case captioned-above, the Court must decide the First Amendment 

issue left undecided by the Supreme Court. The jury instruction for recklessness in Connecticut 

is substantively the same as the jury instruction given by the district court in Elonis that was 

rejected by the Supreme Court as contrary to the general interpretation of criminal statutes to 

include broadly applicable scienter requirements when the statute by its own tenns does not 

contaln them. 

"A person acts 'recklessly' with respect to a result or to a cirCUmstance described by a 

statute defining an offense when the defendant is aware of and consciously disregards a 

substantial and unjustifiable risk that such result will occur or that such circumstance exists." 

Connecticut Criminal Jury Instructions, § 2.3-4 Recklessness -- § 53a-3 (13) (Revised to 

I Due to time limitations, certain sections quoted iTom the Court's decision may no! be properly indicated .t this 
time. The Slip Opinion may be found at b!tp;i!www.supremecourt.gov!opinjQo.t14pdfIJ3-983 7148.pdf. 

3 
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06-01-'1516:06 FROM- Rachel M. Baird 860-626-9992 T-531 POO05/0007 F-892 

December 1.2007) The State alleges that Taupier was aware of and consciously disregarded a 

risk that an erilail would have a certain effect on the recipients and/or a reasonably. objective 

person. This is substantively identical to the rejected jury instruction in Elonis that defined a true 

threat as an intentional communication of a statement where a reasonable person would foresee 

that those hearing the statement would interpret the statement as a threat. Both the rejected jury 

instruction in Elonis and the jury instruction for recklessness in Connecticut omit from the 

govenunent's burden of proof a subjective intent to threaten. "Having liability tum on whether a 

'reasonable person' regards the communication as a threat - regardless of what the 'defendant 

thinks - reduces culpability on the all important element of the crime to negligence." In Taupier, 

liability turns on whether the defendant disregarded what a reasonable person would think - a 

standard that fails to consider, identical to the jury instruction in Elonis - what the sender, 

alJeged to be Taupier, thought. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated and due to the uncommon circumstance of the issuance of a 

Supreme Court decision addressing a principal of Jaw at issue in a pending case, the defense 

Ihoves for one week to consider the impact of Elonis v. United States and the guidance of the 

Supreme Court on the legal sufficiency of the five counts in the State's March 10, 2015, 

Amended Information. 

4 

A11 



06-01-'1516:06 FROM- Rachel M. Baird 860-626-9992 T-531 P0006/0007 F-892 

EDWARD F. TAUPIER 

G(lAtJ'lGJ) 

1~ b ' ZJ 

BY: 
Rachel ey 
Rachel Baird & Associate (JURlS 433409) 
8 Church St, Ste 3B 
Torrington CT 06790-5247 
Tel: 860-626-9991 I Fax.: 860-626-9992 
Email: l.baird@rachelbairdlaw.com 

His Atrorney 

ORDER 

Th' Co~ 8:~" h'~:::'_~~Otin 
Judge I Clerk of the Supe . or Court 

5 
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06;-01-.1516:06 FROM- Rachel M. Bai rd 860- 626-9992 T-531 P0007/0007 F-892 

CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to Practice Book § 10-14. I hereby certify that a copy of the above was 

transmitted by electronic transmission on June 1,2015: 

Brenda Hans, Attorney 
Office of the State's Attorney 
One Court St 
Middletown CT 06457-3377 
Email: Brenda.hans@ct.gov 

6 

@K--'---¥---/_ 
Rachel M. B~omey 
Commissioner of the Superior Court 

A13 



DOCKET NO. MMXCR140675616T SUPERlOR COURT 

STATE OF CONNECTCUT JUDICIAL DISTRlCT OF MIDDLESEX 

v. AT MIDDLETOWN 

EDWARDF. TAUPIER JUNE 23, 2015 

DEFENDANT'S RENEWED MOTION TO DISMISS AMENDED INFORMATION 

The Defendant, Edward F. Taupier, by and through his undersigned counsel and pursuant 

to Practice Book § 41-8(8), hereby renews his motion to dismiss the five-count Amended 

lnformation. I 

A Memorandum of Law is attached. 

THE DEFENDANT 
EDWARD TAUPIER 

By:_::-.,..-:-::-c:--=--:--:---:-_____ _ 
Rachel M. Baird, Attorney 
Rachel M. Baird & Associate (JURIS 433409) 
8 Church St, Ste 3B 
Torrington CT 06790-5247 
Tel: 860-626-9991 / Fax: 860-626-9992 
Email: rbaird@rachelbairdlaw.com 

I A previous motion was brought pursuant to Practice Book, § 41-8(2) and denied. 

A14 



ORDER 

The forgoing, having been duly heard/considered, is hereby ordered: 

Granted Denied 

CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Request for Discovery was electronically 

transmitted on June 23, 2015, to counsel of record as follows: 

Brenda Hans, A.S.A. 
Office of the State's Attorney 
One Court Street, 
Middletown, Connecticut 

2 

A15 

Rachel M. Baird 
Commissioner of the Superior Court 



DOCKET NO. MMXCR140675616T SUPERlOR COURT 

STATE OF CONNECTCUT JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF MIDDLESEX 

v. AT MIDDLETOWN 

EDWARD F. TAUPIER JUNE 22, 2015 

DEFENDANT'S RENEWED MOTION TO DISMISS AMENDED INFORMATION 

The Defendant, Edward F. Taupier ("Taupier"), by and through his undersigned counsel 

and pursuant to Practice Book § 41-8(8), hereby renews his motion to dismiss the five-count 

Amended Information. I The laws defrning the offenses charged which require proof merely of a 

reckless mens rea to hold Taupier criminally liable for speech are unconstitutional under the First 

Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUE 

The recent United States Supreme Court holding in Elonis v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 

2001, 83 USLW 4360 (2015) and the First Amendment are inconsistent with a standard that 

permits convictions in criminal prosecutions for speech attributed to a reckless mens rea. Elonis 

requires subjective intent. Recklessness, however, "does not involve intentional conduct because 

one who acts recklessly does not have a conscious objective to cause a particular result." In re 

Jeremy M , 100 Conn. App. 436, 447-50 (2007).2 A person alleged to have threatened another 

recklessly does not have the conscious objective to terrorize another person or to inconvenience, 

annoy, or alarm another person. At most, such a person has a conscious objective to take a risk 

I A previous motion was brought pUtsuant to Practice Book, § 41-8(2) and denied. 
2 For example, a person cannot attempt to be "reckless." See State v. Messier, 16 Conn. App. 455, 470 (1988) ("OUt 
Supreme Court has held that [a)ttempt liability requires that the defendant entertain the intent required for the 
substantive crime. Because the charge as given created the element of "reckless attempt," which element does not 
exist, the charge impermissibly expanded the manner in which the defendant could have been convicted of burglary 
in the first degree. We frod error and remand the case for a new trial on that charge.") (citing State v. Almeda, 189 
Conn. 303, 309, 455 A.2d 1326 (1983) and State v. Beccia, 199 Conn. I, 505 A.2d 683 (1986) (conspiracy to (fi" 
commit reckless arson not legally cognizable) (internal quotations omitted). . "'.)" \) 

~~iJ ?-.. ~' 

~\~S~ 
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that what they say is a gross deviation from what a reasonable person would foresee that another 

reasonable person would interpret as a threat. 

In Connecticut there have been only two reported cases addressing prosecutions for 

reckless threats under § 53a-62(a)(3) and neither of these two cases involve threats alleged to 

have been communicated by email or the Internet. See State v. Krijger, 313 Conn. 434, 97 AJd 

946 (2014) (conviction after trial for § 53a-62(a)(3) reversed); State v. Warecke, No. 

CR03117690, 2006 WL 329781 (Supr. Ct. Danbury, Jan. 24, 2006) (Sentence review of plea to § 

53a-62(a)(3)). In Krijger the conviction was reversed and in Warecke the defendant pleaded. 

Krijger affinned this jurisdiction's reliance upon an "objective test" to evaluate "whether 

allegedly threatening language is entitled to first amendment protection." Krijger, 313 Conn. at 

456 n. 10. In noting the split among authorities after by Virginia v. Black. 538 U.S. 343, 123 

S.Ct. 1536, 155 L.Ed.2d 535 (2003), the court recognized that "some courts have indicated that 

this language [in Black] requires proof that the speaker subjectively intended to threaten the 

victim." Krijger, 313 Conn. at 452 n. 10. Krijger did not decide whether Black required a 

subjective test because the evidence in Krijger was insufficient to establish a true threat even 

under an objective test. Id. 

A prosecution for threatening alleging speech recklessly co=unicated which relies on 

an objective test to determine whether the speech is protected under the First Amendment 

comports with logic: In Krijer the court started by analyzing the statements at issue using three 

factors: (1) Prior relationship between the parties; (2) Immediate circumstances surrounding the 

threat; and (3) The recipient's reaction to the threat. Id., at 454. In assessing the third factor, the 

court clarified: 
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Although a recipient's reaction to an alleged threat is one factor to 
consider in evaluating whether a statement amounted to a true 
threat, the test ~e apply is ultimately an objective one .... Under 
that test, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 'a 
reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be 
interpreted ... as a serious expression of intent to harm or assault. 

Jd, at 962 (citing State v. Cook, 287 Conn. 237, 249, cert. denied, 555 U.S. 970 (2008». All 

three factors impact the assessment of how a reasonable recipient would place a statement in 

context and react to it as threatening or not. They do not assess at all the subjective intent of the 

speaker. They assess how a reasonable speaker would assess how a reasonable recipient would 

react. The Krijer test applies a reasonable person standard, an objectives test, to the speaker's 

conduct. 

A prosecution for threatening alleging speech recklessly communicated which 

necessarily consider the subjective intent of the speaker to determine whether the speech is 

protected under the First Amendment does not comport with logic or the First Amendment. In 

the context of the First Amendment recklessness cannot suffice as a mens rea to separate 

wrongful speech conduct from otherwise innocent or protected speech conduct. The chilling 

effect on speech arising from criminal liability for disregarding a risk in making a statement, 

especially statements that address public issues and persons, renders the right to free speech 

captive to determinations by government officials of whom to arrest based on determinations of 

what a reasonable speaker should have foreseen would be the reaction of a reasonable listener. 

Recklessness as a mens rea applicable to criminal acts that do not implicate the guaranteed right 

to free speech under the First Amendment may be sufficient to separate wrongful conduct from 

innocent conduct. Where a mens rea includes within its scope innocent conduct it is not 

sufficient. Where a mens rea includes within its scope protected First Amendment speech it is 

not sufficient. Where a mens rea chills the exercIse of protected First Amendment speech 
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because it criminalizes the disregard of a risk in the context of a right where risk has brought 

about changes in society including the abolition of slavery, equality, and countless exhortatory 

appeals that for better or worse have changed society, a reckless mens rea is not sufficient. 

II. BACKGROUND OF THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT SPLIT 

Ten years before the Supreme Court's decision in Eionis, Circuit Judge Diarmuid F. 

O'Scannlain decided that the First Amendment does not pennit "the government to punish a 

threat without proving that it was made with the intent to threaten the victim." United States v. 

Cassel, 408 FJd 622, 624 (9th Cir. 2005). The disputed question in Cassel was whether "the 

government must prove that the defendant intended his words or conduct to be understood by the 

victim as a threat." Cassel, 408 F.3d at 628. The government argued "mere negligence with 

regard to the victim's understanding is enough: in other words, speech is punishable if a 

reasonable person would understand it as a threat, whether or not the speaker meant for it to be 

so understood." [d. In rejecting Cassel's claim that the statute at issue was facially 

unconstitutional because it failed to specifY the requisite subjective intent, Judge 0' Scannlain 

wrote on behalf of the three-judge panel: 

The existence of a mens rea is the rule of, rather than the exception 
to, the principles of Anglo-American criminal jurisprudence. Thus, 
except in unusual circumstances, we construe a criminal statute to 
include a mens rea element even when none appears on the face of 
the statute. . . Having held that intent to threaten is a 
constitutionally necessary element of a statute punishing threats, 
we do not hesitate to construe 18 V.S .c. § 18603 to require such 
intent. 

3 See 18 U.S.C. § 1860 ("Whoever bargains, contracts, or agrees, or attempts to bargain, contract, or agree with 
another that such other shall not bid upon or purchase any parcel of lands of the United States offered at public sale; 
or Whoever, by intimidation, combination, or unfair management, hinders, prevents, or attempts to binder or 
prevent, any person from bidding upon or purchasing allY tract of land so offered for sale-- Shall be fined not more 
than $1,000 or imprisoned not more thall one year, or both."). 
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Cassel, 408 FJd at 634-35 (internal citations omitted). The Ninth Circuit was alone among the 

eleven federal circuits in its absolute rejection of a standard permitting criminal liability for 

threatening conduct based .only on an objective listener's reaction. The Cassel decision was met 

with outright derision: "The Third Circuit does not share the Ninth Circuit's apparent inability to 

determine what comprises a 'true threat. '" United States v. D'Amario, 461 F. Supp. 2d 298, 302 

(D.N.J. 2006). The Third Circuit remained dismissive of the Ninth Circuit in its 2013 Elonis 

decision affirming the sufficiency of the objective listener standard in Elonis's conviction for 

threatening: 

Regardless of the state of the law in the Ninth Circuit, we find that 
BlacfiA does not alter our precedent. We agree with the Fourth 
Circuit that Black does not clearly overturn the objective test the 
majority of circuits applied to § 875(c).5 Black does not say that 
the true threats exception requires a sUbjective intent to threaten. 

United States v. Elonis, 730 FJd 321, 332 (3d Cir. 2013). In defense of its interpretation, the 

Third Circuit explained that § 875(c) already required the jury to find that a defendant knowingly 

and willfully transmitted the communication containing the threat. Since, according to the Third 

Circuit, a threat "is made willfully when a reasonable person would foresee that the statement 

would be interpreted by those to whom the maker communicates the statement as a serious 

expression of an intention to inflict bodily harm," the "objective intent standard protects non-

threatening speech while addressing the harm caused by true threats." Elonis, 730 FJd at 332. 

The Supreme Court granted Elonis's petition for writ of certiorari to the Third Circuit, stating: 

4 See Virginia v Black, 538 U.S . 538 , 359-60 (2003) ("'True threats' encompass those statements where the speaker 
means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of Wllawful vio1ence to a particular 
individual or group of in<lividuals. The speaker need not actually intend to carry out the threat.... Intimidation in the 
constitutionally proscribable sense of the word is a type of true threat, where a speaker directs a threat to a person or 
group of persons with the intent of placing the victim in fear of bodily harm or death."). 
'See 18 V.S.c. § 875(c) ("Whoever transmits in interstate or foreign commerce any communication containing any 
threat to kidnap any person or any threat to injure the person of another, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned 
not more than five years, or both."). 
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In addition to the question presented by the petition, the parties are 
directed to brief and argue the following question: "Whether, as a 
matter of statutory interpretation, conviction of threatening another 
person under 18 U.S.C. § 875(c) requires proof of the defendant's 
subjective intent to threaten." 

Elonis v. United States, 134 S. Ct. 2819 (2014). In a 7-2 decision reversing and remanding Elonis 

the Supreme Court held on June 1, 2015, that the conviction for threatening could not stand: 

... Elonis's conviction cannot stand. The jury was instructed that 
the Government need prove only that a reasonable person would 
regard E10nis's communications as threats, and that was error. 
Federal criminal liability generally does not tum solely on the 
results of an act without considering the defendant's mental state. 

Elonis v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2001, 2012 (2015)6 The Elonis majority expressly declined to 

decide whether recklessness suffices for criminal liability under § 875(c)7 and reversed on 

grounds that omitted consideration of the broader constitutional question set forth below by 

Circuit Judge Scirica in the Third Circuit's decision: "This case presents the question whether the 

true threats exception to speech protection under the First Amendment requires a jury to fInd the 

defendant subjectively intended his statements to be understood as threats." United States v. 

Elonis, 730 F.3d 321, 323 (3d Cir. 2013). The question left unanswered by the Supreme Court in 

Elonis is whether the true threats exception to speech protection under the First Amendment 

requires a fInding that a defendant intends to achieve a specific result or whether one who acts 

6 The instruction read to the Elonis jury in the district court required only a finding of negligence: 
A statement is a true threat when a defendant intentionally makes a statement in 
a context or under such circumstances wherein a reasonable person would 
foresee that the statement would be interpreted by those to whom the maker 
communicates the statement as a serious expression of an intention to inflict 
bodily injury or take the life of an individual. 

Elonis v. United Stales, 135 S. Ct 2001, 2007 (2015) (citation omitted). 
7 See Elonis, 135 S. Ct. at 2013 ("Justice ALITO also suggests that we bave not clarified confusion in the lower 
courts. That is wrong. Our holding makes clear that negligence is not sufficient to support a conviction under 
Section 875(c), contrary to the view of nine Courts of Appeals. Pet for Cerro 17. There was and is no circuit conflict 
over the question lustice ALITO and Justice THOMAS would have us decide--whether recklessness suffices for 
liability under Section 875(c). No Court of Appeals has even addressed that question. We think tbat is more than 
sufficient "justification," post, at 2014 (opinion of ALlTO, J.), for us to decline to be the tmt appellate tribunal to do 
so.). 
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recklessly without a conscious objective to cause a particular result is protected under the First 

Amendment. See State v. Williams, 237 Conn. 748, 755-56 (1996).8 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. United States v. Bagdasarian and the First Amendment True Threat Analysis 

In United States v. Bagdasarian, 652 F.3d 11 I3 (9th Cir. 2011), the Ninth Circuit 

considered a federal statute which prohibits threats to kill or injure a major presidential 

candidate9 A jury found that Bagdasarian, described by Circuit Judge Reinhardt as "an 

especially unpleasant fellow," posted statements on an online message board two weeks before 

the 2008 presidential election, quote: "(1) 'Re: Obama fk the niggar, he will have a 50 cal in the 

head soon and (2) shoot the nig. ", Bagdasarian, 652 F.3d at 1115. Government agents executed 

a search warrant at Bagdasarian's home a month after the statements were posted and seized six 

firearms including a Remington model 700ML .50 caliber muzzle-loading rifle, as well as .50 

caliber ammunition. Id, at 1116. The agents also searched Bagdasarian's home computer and 

recovered an email sent on Election Day in the subject matter line stating: "Re: And so it 

begins." The text of the email stated: "Pistol??? Dude, Josh needs to get us one of these, just 

shoot the nigga's car and POOF!" and linked to a web page showing a large caliber rifle. 

Another email sent the same day with the same subject matter line stated: "Pistol . .. plink plink 

• See Williams, 237 Conn. at 755-56 ("With respect to the same victim and the same act, however, specific intent 
and recklessness are distinct and mutually exclusive mental states under our penal code because one who acts 
recklessly does not have a conscious objective to cause a particular result.... Therefore, the transgression that caused 
the victim's injuries was either intentional or reckless; it could not, at one and the same time, be both .... Where a 
determination is made that one mental state exists, to be legally consistent the other must be found not to exist. "). 
9 See 18 U.S.C. § 879(a) ("Whoever knowingly and willfully threatens to kill, kidnap, or inflict bodily harm upon-
(1) a former President or a member of the immediate family ofa former President; (2) a member of the immediate 
family of the President, the President-elect, the Vice President, or the Vice President-elect; (3) a major candidate for 
the office of President or Vice President, or a member of the immediate family of such candidate; or (4) a person 
protected by the Secret Service under section 3056(a)(6); shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 
5 years, or both. "). 
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plink Now when you use a 50 cal on a nigga car you get this" and linked to a web page with a 

video of a propane tank, a pile of debris, and two junked cars being blown up. ld. Bagdasarian 

waived his right to a jury and the matter was heard before a district court judge. 

In reversing the district court judgment of guilty on two counts of threatening, the Ninth 

Circuit began its analysis by noting that a statute, such as § 879, '''which makes criminal a form 

of pure speech, must be interpreted with the commands of the First Amendment clearly in 

mind.'" ld (quoting Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 707, 89 S.Ct. 1399,22 L.Ed.2d 664 

(1969). These First Amendment constitutional commands do not irnmunizetrue threats from 

prosecution. True threats are an exception to the right to speak freely. Bagdasarian reviewed 

circuit precedent noting the "perceived confusion as to whether a subjective or objective analysis 

is required when examining whether a threat is criminal under various threat statutes and the 

First Amendment." ld, at 1116-17.10 Black confirmed that the "element of intent is the 

10 The Ninth· Circuit's application of subjective and objective standards to the intent element in statutes criminalizing 
pure speech was confusing prior to the Black decision in 2003. See n. 2, supra. In Roy v. United Stales, 416 F2d 
874 (9 th Cir. 1969), a 20-year old Marine at Camp pendleton disappointed that he would be attending a training 
school instead of going with his unit to fight in Vietnam called the telephone operator who testified later at trial that 
Roy had said: "Tell the President that he should not come aboard the base or he would be killed." Roy testified that 
he said: "Hello, baby. I hear the President is coming to the base. I am going to get him." The Ninth Circuit upheld 
Roy's conviction for threatening the President under 18 U.S.C. § 871 finding that Roy had not challenged his 
conviction on First Amendment grounds claiming as a defense that he had been 'JOking-around" "[u)nlike the 
situation in Watts" where a free speech issue was addressed. The court applied only an objective standard to the 
intent element in Roy. In United Slales v. Gordon, 974 F.2d 1110,1 113 (9th Cir. 1992) the same circuit applied both 
subjective and objective standards to the intent element in 18 U.S.C. § 879 for threats against former President 
Ronald Reagan.ld, at 1117 ("In addition, because Congress 'construe[d) "knowingly and willfully" [in section .879) 
as requiring proof of a subjective intent to make a threat,' 128 Cong.Rec. 21,218 (1982), the jury must find that Mr. 
Gordon intended the statements to be taken as threats.") (brackets in original). Despite the different analyses in Roy 
and Gordon, both §§ 871 (a) and 879(a)(I) require that threats be made "knowingly" and "willfully." The Supreme 
Court decision in Black cured the confusion in the Ninth Circuit: 

Because Black requires that the subjective test must be met uoder the First 
Amendment whether or not the statute requires it, an objective test is not an 
alternative but an additional requirement over-and-above the subjective 
standard. To be clear, we are not suggesting that an objective determination does 
not provide a worthwhile test or that statutes criminalizing threats against the 
President or others should require only a subjective test. We merely point out a 
paradox in our treaUDent of threat statutes now that Black requires proof of 
intent under the First Amendment in such cases. 
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detenninative factor separating protected expressIOn from unprotected criminal behavior" 

binding on the Ninth Circuit even though in tension with prior cases. Id, at 1118. In applying the 

objective standard to Bagdasarian's statements the court found that neither statement conveyed 

either an explicit or implicit threat. The court analyzed the statements: 

Neither statement constitutes a threat in the ordinary meaning of 
the word: "an expression of an intention to inflict ... injury ... on 
another." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 2382 
(1976). The "Obama fk the niggar" statement is a prediction that 
Obama "will have a 50 cal in the head soon." It conveys no explicit 
or implicit threat on the part of Bagdasarian that he himself will 
kill or injure Obama. Nor does the second statement impart a 
threat. "(SJhoot the nig" is instead an imperative intended to 
encourage others to take violent action, if not simply an expression 
of rage or frustration. The threat statute, however, does not 
criminalize predictions or exhortations to others to injure or kill the 
President. It is difficult to see how a rational trier of fact could 
reasonably have found that either statement, on its face or taken in 
context, expresses a threat against Obama by Bagdasarian. 

Id., at 1 I 19. Only three or four members of the board discussion group indicated that they 

planned to contact authorities after reading the Bagdasarian's posts and only one reader actually 

did contact the authorities. The court considered this probative to the objective intent standard: 
\ 

"It is certainly more significant that among the numerous persons who read Bagdasarian's 

messages, the record reveals only one who was significantly disturbed to actually notify the 

authorities." Id, at 1121. "Predictive"ll and "exhortatory"12 statements are not true threats. Id. , at 

Bagdasarian, 652 F.3d at 1117 n. 14. 
11 See Bagdasarian, 652 F.3d at 1122 ("[T]he prediction that Obama 'will have a 50 cal in the head soon' is not a 
threat on its face because it does not convey the notion that Bagdasarian himself had plans to fulfill the prediction 
that Obarne would be killed, either now or in the future . "). 
12 See N A. A. C. P. v. Claiborne Hardware Co., 458 U.S. 886,927-28 (1982) ("This Court has made clear, 
however, that mere advocacy of the use afforce or violence does not remove speech from the protection of the First 
Amendment. In Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444, 89 S.Ct. 1827,23 L.Ed.2d 430, we reversed the conviction of a 
Ku Klux Klan leader for threatcning 'revengeance' if the 'suppression' of the white race continued; we retied on 
'the principle that the constitutional guarantees of free speech and free press do not permit a State to forbid or 
proscribe advocacy of the use afforce or oflaw violation except where such advocacy is directed to inciting or 
producing imminent lawless action and is likely to incite or produce such action. ''') (emphasis in original). In 
Claiborne Hardware, civil rights activist Charles Evers addressed a crowd on April 19, 1969, during a boycot! in 
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1122. The statements failed the subjective intent test because the government failed to show that 

Bagdasarian "made the statements intending that they be taken as a threat." [d I3 Judge Reinhardt 

interpreted Bagdasarian's statements as direct encouragements to violence but "nevertheless" 

held that neither constitutes a threat." Jd, at 1116. 

B. United States v. Jeffries and the Statutory Intemretation Analysis 

In United States v. Jeffries, 692 FJd 473 (6th Cir. 2012), Jeffries recorded a video of his 

performance of a song that he had written about his daughter which expressed his feelings about 

an upcoming child custody hearing and the judge who had ordered the hearing. The song 

included a threat to kill the judge if he doesn't "do the right thing" at the hearing. [d, at 475. 

Five days prior to the hearing Jeffries posted the video on YouTube and shared it with friends, 

family, and a few others. Jeffries posted a link to the hearing on his Facebook page and sent links 

to the media and local politicians. 14 Jeffries was arrested for violation of 18 U.S.C. § 875(c) for 

communicating a threat to injure the judge. The Sixth Circuit considered the jury instruction 

given by the district court and the proper elements of § 875(c). Jeffries claimed that the jury 

should have been instructed to convict only if it found that Jeffries had "subjectively meant to 

threaten the judge." Jd, at 477. The district court rejected Jeffries' request based on circuit court 

Mississippi. See Rothman ("Thus, political speech may be useful shorthand to suggest that in context a statement 
was mere rhetoric for persuasive rather than threatening purposes. This is true because the speaker is often speaking 
to supporters and may be exaggerating for effect as was the case in both Watts and Claiborne."). Rothman at 23 of 
59. 
1J See United States v. White, 670 F.3d 498,510 (4th Cir. 2012) ("Only the Ninth Circuit's decision in Cassel, 408 
F.3d at 631-32, seems to have adopted a distinct subjective test in ligbt of Black, holding that after Black a 
subjective intent to threaten is a necessary part of the defmition of a true threat. But even Cassel stands in doubt, as a 
later Ninth Circuit opinion applied the objective test. See United States v. Ramo, 413 F.3d 1044 (9th Cir.2005). 
Moreover, subsequent Ninth Circuit opinions bave recognized the inconsistency between Cassel and Romo. See 
Fogel v. Collins, 531 F.3d 824, 831 (9th Cir.2008); United States v. Stewart, 420 F.3d 1007, 1017-18 (9th 
Cir.2005). Most recently, tbe Ninth Circuit now appears to be retreating from Romo. See United States v. 
Bagdasarian, 652 F.3d 1113, 1117 & n. 14 (9th Cir.2011)."). 

" Circuit Judge Sutton recounts the entirety of the lyrics in his opinion. 

10 

A25 



precedent and affirmed his conviction. Judge Sutton, writing for the panel on appeal, reflected on 

the district court's reliance on Sixth Circuit precedent: 

That would be the end of it but for one thing: Virginia v. Black, 
538 U.S. 343, 123 S.Ct. 1536, 155 L.Ed.2d 535 (2003). As Jeffries 
reads the decisioD, it invalidates all communicative-threat laws 
under the First Amendment unless they contain a subjective-threat 
element. The argument is not frivolous, as one court (the Ninth) 
has accepted it. But the position reads too much into Black. 

Id., at 479. In a separate opinion, Judge Sutton questioned Sixth Circuit precedent interpreting 

the intent element of § 875(c): 

The First Amendment, as construed by Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 
343, 123 S.Ct. 1536, 155 L.Ed.2d 535 (2003), does not require a 
different interpretation. I write separately because I wonder 
whether our initial decisions in this area (and those of other courts) 
have read the statute the right way from the outset. 

Id., at 483. Judge Sutton reviewed the common definitions of the noun "threat" and the verb 

"threaten" and concluded that the definitions "show that subjective intent is part and parcel of the 

meaning of a communicated 'threat' to injure another." Id., at 484. His opinion cites Morissette 

v. United States, 342 U.S. 246,250, 72 S.Ct. 240, 96 L.Ed. 288 (1952) and United States v. X 

Citemenl Video, Inc., 513 U.S. 64, 73, 115 S.Ct. 464, 130 L.Ed.2d 372 (1994) for the principal 

that "[cJourts presume that intent is the required mens rea in crirninallaws." Id. The Supreme 

Court referenced the same two cases in E/onis and in fact cites to Judge Sutton's dubitante 

opinion in Jeffries: 

According to Elonis, every definition of "threat" or "threaten" 
conveys the notion of an intent to inflict harm. Brief for Petitioner 
23. See United States v. Jeffries, 692 F.3d 473, 483 (C.A.6 2012) 
(Sutton, J., dubitante). E.g., 11 Oxford English Dictionary 353 
(1933) ("to declare (usually conditionally) one's intention of 
inflicting injury upon"); Webster's New International Dictionary 
2633 (2d ed. 1954) ("Law, specif., an expression of an intention to 
inflict loss or harm on another by illegal means"); Black's Law 
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Dictionary 15 I 9 (8th ed. 2004) ("A communicated intent to inflict 
harm or loss on another"). 

Elonis, 135 S.Ct. at 2008. The Supreme Court viewed these definitions as relevant only "to what 

the statement conveys-not to the mental state of the author." ld In declining to accept either the 

government's position that § 875 did not require a mental state element or Elonis's position in 

full, the Supreme Court began its analysis by stating: 

When interpreting federal criminal statutes that are silent on the 
required mental state, we read into the statute only that mens rea 
which is necessary to separate wrongful conduct from otherwise 
innocent conduct .... The mental state requirement must therefore 
apply to the fact that the communication contains a threat. . .. 
Elonis's conviction, however, was premised solely on how his 
posts would be understood by a reasonable person. 

ld, at 20 I O. In the instant case of State v. Taupier the matter of law left unresolved is whether a 

mental state of recklessness is sufficient to separate wrongful conduct from conduct protected 

under the First Amendment. While the Supreme Court found no dispute that "mental state 

requirement in Section 875(c) is satisfied if the defendant transmits a communication for the 

purpose of issuing a threat, or with knowledge that the communication will be a threat[,)" it did 

not address whether recklessness would be sufficient to separate wrongful conduct from innocent 

conduct. Innocent conduct includes conduct protected by the First Amendment. Whether or not 

conduct is protected by the First Amendment is a matter oflaw for a court, not a fact-finder. 

C. Factors for Consideration in True Threat Analyses or Distinguishing a True 
Threat from Protected Speech 

Prior to the June 1,2015, decision in Elonis and despite the signal given by the Supreme 

Court when it granted certiorari and added an issue not framed by First Amendment 

considerations there was anticipation that E/onis would clarify Black's definition of a true threat 

as a statement through which the speaker 'means to communicate a serious expression of intent 
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to hann another.'" Fuller at 53. "In the years since the Watts decision in 1969, the federal circuits 

have encountered significant challenges in applying the abstract true threats doctrine to nuanced 

factual circumstances." Fuller at 41. Defendants who "target a specific audience on the Internet 

by name and personal information have enjoyed greater protection than defendants who happen 

to frighten anonymous and untargeted readers of the defendants' social media accounts. Fuller at 

62. 

1. United States v. Watts 

In United States v. Watts , 394 U.S. 705 (1969) a district court jury convicted Watts of 

threatening the President in violation of 18 U.S.c. § 871(a). Watts, who was 18 years old when 

the incident occurred, had attended a public rally and gathering in Washington, D.C. to discuss 

police brutality. A witness testified that Watts told members of a discussion group at the rally: 

They always holler at us to get an education. And now I have 
already received my draft classification as I-A and I have got to 
report for my physical this Monday coming. I am not going. If they 
ever make me carry a rifle the first man I want to get in my sights 
is L.BJ. They are not going to make me kill my black brothers. 

Jd, at 706. Watts moved for acquittal at the conclusion of the government's case arguing that the 

statement was made at a political rally, the crowd had laughed at the statement, and the statement 

was conditioned on Watts' induction into the military which Watts had said would never occur. 

Jd, at 707. The Supreme Court immediately addressed First Amendment implications of the 

prosecution: 

Nevertheless, a statute such as this one, which makes criminal a 
form of pure speech, must be interpreted with the commands of the 
First Amendment clearly in mind. What is a threat must be 
distinguished from what is constitutionally protected speech. 

Jd The Supreme Court reversed the conviction confirming "a profound national commitment to 

the principle that debate on public issues should be uninhibited, robust, and wideopen, and that it 
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may well include vehement, caustic, and sometimes unpleasantly sharp attacks on government 

and public officials." fd, at 708. Watts' only offense was "a kind of very crude offensive 

method of stating a political opposition to the President[]" when "[tJaken in context, and 

regarding the expressly conditional nature of the statement and the reaction of the listeners" the 

Supreme Court, did not see bow it could be interpreted otherwise." fd 

2. United States v. Alkhabaz 

In United States v. Alkhabaz, 104 F.3d 1492 (6th Cir. 1997), Alkhabaz, known as Jake 

Baker at the time of the incident and arrest, exchanged email communications with another 

individual, Arthur Gonda, about violent fantasies directed toward women and young girls. Baker 

was indicted for violations of 18 U.S.C. § 875(c), which prohibits interstate communications 

containing threats to kidnap or injure another person. Alkhabaz, 104 F.3d at 1493. The district 

court quashed the indictment "reasoning that the e-mail messages sent and received by Baker and 

Gonda did not constitute "true threats" under the First Amendment and, as such, were protected 

speech." fd. The Sixth Circuit affirmed the district court holding that as a matter of law the 

indictment failed and therefore did not reach the First Amendment issue . 

3. United States v. Patillo 

In United States v. Patillo, 438 F.2d 13 (4th Cir. 1971), an en banc court considered a 

heightened standard of proof when the target of the threat is unlikely to receive the threat. The 

court held that "where, as in Patillo's case, a true threat against the person of the President is 

uttered without communication to the President intended, the threat can form a basis for 

conviction under the terms of Section 871(a) only ifmade with a present intention to do injury to 

the President." fd., at 15. 
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In Patillo, a Norfolk Naval Shipyard security guard made statements on two occasions to 

his co-worker about President Nixon that were recounted at trial as: (I) "I'm going to kill 

President Nixon, and I'm going to Washington to do it." (2) "r will take care of him personally." 

(3) " ... he would gladly give up his life doing it." (4) "Getting close to the President would 

present no problem because 'he (Patillo) did not need to get close to him (the President) to do 

it.'" Id , at 295. The court held: 

Id, at 297-98. 

We hold that where, as in Patillo's case, a true threat against the 
person of the President is uttered without communication to the 
President intended, the threat can form a basis for conviction under 
the terms of Section 871(a) only if made with a present intention 
*298 to do injury to the President. 

A California appellate court has adopted a similar balancing test that considers whether a 

speaker has a present intention to carry out a threat when the communication is made under 

circumstances when the target is unlikely to receive the threat. In In re Ryan D., 100 Cal. App. 

4th 854, 861 (2002), the court recognized that the statute at issue did not require that a threat be 

personally ·communicated to the target by the individual who made the threat. The court 

emphasized, nevertheless, "that the statute was not enacted to punish emotional outbursts, it 

targets only those who try to instill fear in others." Id. 

In other words, section 422 does not punish such things as mere 
angry utterances or ranting soliloquies, however violent. 
Accordingly, where the accused did not personally communicate a 
threat to the victim, it must be shown that he specifically intended 
that the threat be conveyed to the victim. 

Id. See State v. McWilliams, No. 20II-CA-0005I, 2012 WL554435, §4 (Ohio Ct. App. Feb. 13, 

2012) (,'The Court of Appeals ... held that to sustain an aggravated menacing cOllviction, a threat 

to cause harm need not be made directly to the intended victim, but may be sufficient of made to 
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a third-party to whom defendant knew or reasonably should have known would convey the threat 

to intended victim."); People v. Chase, No. 09CA1908, 2013 WL 979519, §13 (Colo. App. Mar. 

14,2013) ("Contrary to Chase's argument that the emails cannot constitute true threats because 

most of them were not directed at a particular individual, a true threat can be directed to a group 

of individuals. Further, all of the emails were sent by Chase to the named victims, and he knew 

them personally, as well as where they lived." "[A] factor to be considered in identifYing a true 

threat is to whom the statement is communicated."); People v. Felix, 92 Cal. App. 4th 905, 908 

(2001) ("In a session with his psychotherapist, a patient makes threatening statements about his 

ex-girlfriend. Penal Code section 422 makes it a crime to threaten another with great bodily 

injury or death even when that threat is made to a third party with the intent that it be conveyed 

to the victim. Here we conclude, among other things, that the patient's statements do not 

constitute a violation of section 422 even though the third party psychotherapist has a duty to 

warn the intended victim. It must be shown that the patient intended the threatening remarks to 

be communicated to the victim."). 

4. United States v. Fulmer 

In United States v. Fulmer, 108 F.3d 148'6 (lS! Cir. 1997), Fulmer was alleged to have 

threatened a FBI agent in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 115(a)(l)(B) after the agent informed Fulmer 

that the United States Attorney was unwilling to prosecute Fulmer's complaint against his father-

in-law and brother for failing to disclose bankruptcy assets. Fulmer left a voicemail for the agent 

stating: 

Hi Dick, Kevan Fulmer. Hope things are well, hope you had an 
enjoyable Easter and all the other holidays since I've spoken with 
you last. I want you to look something up. It's known as 
misprision. Just think of it in terms of misprision ofa felony. Hope 
all is well. The silver bullets are coming. I'll talk to you. Enjoy the 
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intriguing unraveling of what r said to you. Talk to you, Dick It's 
been a pleasure. Take care. 

Fulmer, 108 F.3d at 1490. The agent testified that he was "shocked" by the message and found it 

"chilling" and "scary." Jd Fulmer presented two witnesses who testified that Fulmer had used 

the term "silver bullets" to refer to information about illegal transactions. Fulmer argued that 

"the appropriate standard for determining a true threat is whether a reasonable person would 

foresee that the statement would be interpreted by those to whom the maker communicates the 

statement as a serious expression of intent to harm or assault." Jd., at 1490-91 (internal 

quotations omitted). The government argued that "the proper standard is whether an ordinary, 

reasonable recipient who is familiar with. the context of the [statement] would interpret it as a 

threat of injury." Jd (internal quotations omitted). The court, adopting Fulmer's argument, held 

that "the appropriate standard under which a defendant may be convicted for making a threat is 

whether he should have reasonably foreseen that the statement he uttered would be taken as a 

threat by those to whom it is made." Jd., at 1491-92. 

Jd. 

This standard not only takes into account the factual context in 
which the statement was made, but also better avoids the perils that 
inhere in the "reasonable-recipient standard," namely that the jury 
will consider the unique sensitivity of the recipient. We find it 
particularly untenable that, were we to apply a standard guided 
from the perspective of the recipient, a defendant may be convicted 
for making an ambiguous statement that the recipient may find 
threatening because of events not within the knowledge of the 
defendant. Therefore, we follow the approach of several circuits by 
holding that the appropriate focus is on what the defendant 
reasonably should have foreseen. 

5. United States v. Kelner 

In United States v. Kelner, 534 F.2d 1020, 102] (2d CiT. 1976), Kelner held a news 

conference on November 11, 1974, responsive to a United Nations visit by Yasser Arafat that 
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same day. The news conference was telecast by WPIX-TV from New York City with a 50 mile 

range into New Jersey and COlUlecticut. Kelner was dressed in military fatigues armed with a .38 

caliber handgun when he gave a statement and answered questions, including: 

We have people who have been trained and who are out now and 
who intend to make sure that Arafa1 and his iieutenants do not 
leave this country alive .... We are planning to assassinate Mr. 
Arafat .... Everything is planned in detail. 

Kelner, at 1025. The Kelner court deemed "the question of the application of the First 

Amendment to the statute" at issue in the case as "properly for the court rather than the jury 

under Dennis v. United States, 341 U.S. 494, 511-15, 71 S.Ct. 857, 868-870, 95 L.Ed. 1137, 

1153-1155 (1951). See Kelner, 534 F.2d at 1028, n. 10 ("In referring to Dennis, as an inferior 

court we must accept its formulation of the respective roles of judge and jury in free speech 

cases[.)") (internal citations omitted). In affirming Kelner's conviction the Second Circuit found 

"it cannot be said as a matter of law that appellant was stating onIy ideas." Id., at 1025. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons and arguments of law, Taupier respectfully asks the Court to 

dismiss the Amended Information in its entirety. 
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BY: 

EDWARD F. TAUPIER 

Rachel M. Baird, Attorney 
Rachel M. Baird & Associate (JURIS 433409) 
8 Church St, Ste 3B 
Torrington CT 06790-5247 
Tel: 860-626-9991 / Fax: 860-626-9992 
Email: rbaird@rachelbairdlaw.com 

His Attorney 

CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to Practice Book § 10-14, I hereby certifY that a copy of the above was hand-

delivered on June 23, 2015, to counsel below: 

Brenda Hans, Attorney 
Office of the State's Attorney 
One Court St 
Middletown CT 06457-3377 

Ra . d, Attorney 
Commissioner of the Superior Court 
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SUPERIOR COURT 

JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF 
MIDDLETOWN 

July 7, 2015 

STATE'S OBJECTION TO RENEWED MOTION TO DISMISS 

The State objects to the "Defendant's Renewed Motion to Dismiss Amended 

Information" dated June 22, 2015. In support of the objection, the State submits the 

accompanying memorandum of law. 

"'" ~ a:: c...J 
lJJ 
-J (") 

C> 

I.JJ E 
CL I 

I-
u.. c-
0 

lJ.J -' <..:> -, 

IL. -." 

u.. en 
C) .--. 

= 
'" 

!-
c: 
::> 
<.:> 
<..) 

0::: 
o .. -
.-

'.L.l 
CL 
:-.;) 
Uj 

(J) 

-<t 
w 
c::: 
<t 
-J 
.<{ 
<.) 
-

::r: 
OL. 
« 
r:r: 
<-> 
0 
lJ.J 
C> 

THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT 

/lL .? ~1 ) 
By: ~I}J~ 

BRENDA HANS, Assista.nt State's Attorney, Juris # 420294 

State's Attorney's Office 

1 C au rt Street 

Middletown, CT 06067 

(860) 343-6379 
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ORDER 

The State' objection to the renewed motion to dismiss the amended information, 

having been reviewed by the Court, is hereby ORDERED: 

___ SUSTAINED 

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was emailed to counsel for the defendant, 

Rachel Baird , Esq., 8 Church Street, Suite B Torrington, CT 06790 

rbaird@rachelbairdlawcom on July 7, 2015. 

BRENDA HANS, Assistant State's Attorney 
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CR14-0675616 -T 

STATE 

v. 

EDWARD TAUPIER 

SUPERIOR COURT 

JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF 
MIDDLETOWN 

July 7,2015 

STATE'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF 
OBJECTION TO RENEWED MOTION TO DISMISS 

The State submits this memorandum in support of its objection to the defendant's 

renewed motion to dismiss the amended information dated June 22, 2015. The 

defendant contends that our state's threatening statute, which allows a "reckless" state 

of mind, is unconstitutional under the First Amendment's free speech provision within 

the United States Constitution. Our state threatening statute is similar to at least a 

dozen other states, all of which contain a "reckless" mental state. The argument that a 

"reckless" mental state for threatening crimes contravenes the First Amendment is 

without merit for all of the reasons outlined below. 

I. ARGUMENT 

In its brief, the defense primarily relies upon the recent United States Supreme 

Court case of Elonis v. United States, to support its assertion that our state threatening 

statute is unconstitutional for having a "reckless" me~s rea t
. The State submits that the 

defendant's reliance upon Elonis as well as the other federal cases is misplaced. The 

I Mens rea definition: " A guilty mind; a guilty or wrongful purpose; a criminal intent" Black's Law 
Dictionary p. 889, Fifth Edition 
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Elonis case examined a jury instruction concerning the federal threaten ing statute of 18 

U. S. C. § 875(c). Under 18 U.S.C. § 875(c), any person who "transmits in interstate or 

foreign commerce any communication containing any threat to kidnap any person or 

any threat to injure the person of another" commits a felony federal crime punishable for 

up to five years imprisonment. Elonis at p. 2008. Under the federal statute, unlike our 

state threatening statute, there is no mental state outlined in the text. Elonis at p. 2009 

("statute does not specify any required mental state"). 

In Elonis, the defendant was convicted after trial for making various threats 

against his estranged wife, police officers, an FBI agent, and a kindergarten class. Id. 

The jury was instructed as follows: 

A statement is a true threat when a defendant intentionally makes a statement in 
context or under such circumstances wherein a reasonable person would foresee 
that the statement would be interpreted by those to whom the maker 
communicates the statement as a serious expression of an intention to inflict 
bodily injury or take the life of an individual. 

The defendant challenged the instruction on the basis that "the jury should have 

been requ ired to find that he intended his [Facebook] posts to be threats ." Id. at 2007. 

The Supreme Court reversed the Th ird Circuit Court of Appeals holding, which was "that 

the intent required by Section 875(c) is only the intent to communicate words that the 

defendant understands, and that a reasonable person would view as a threat." Id. at 

2007. The Supreme Court noted that" ... Elonis's conviction cannot stand . The jury 

was instructed that the Government need prove only that a reasonable person would 

regard Elonis's communications as threats, and that was error. Federal criminal liability 

generally does not turn solely on the results of the act without considering the 

defendant's mental state" Id. at 2012. The Supreme Court stated that "negligence is 

2 

A38 



not sufficient to support a conviction under Section 875(c )." Id. at 2013. 

It is crucial to point out that the Supreme Court expressly declined to address the 

issue of whether or not "recklessness" is sufficient for criminal liability under Section 

875(c). The Court stated as follows: 

There was and is no circuit conflict over the question Justice Alit02 and Justice 
Thomas would have us decide-whether recklessness suffices for liability under 
Section 875(c) . No court of appeals has even addressed that question. We 
think that is more than sufficient 'justification' ... for us to decline to be the first 
appellate tribunal to do so .. . We may be 'capable of deciding the recklessness 
issue ... but following our usual practice of awaiting a decision below and 
hearing from the parties would help ensure that we decide it correctly. 

Id. at2013. 

It is also important to note that the Elonis Court specifically did not address any 

First Amendment issues in its decision. The Court opined, "[gJiven the disposition here, 

it is unnecessary to consider any First Amendment issues." Id. at 2004. 

The defense cites the Ninth Circuit case of United States v. Bagdasarian, 652 F. 

3d 113 (9th Cir. 2011) to support the premise that the defendant's objective intent, not a 

reckless mental state is required for a true threat. Unfortunately for the defense, like 

E/onis, the Bagdasarian case is a narrow federal statutory interpretation for threats 

made against the president. Similar to Elonis, the Bagdasarian case doesn't address 

the issue of reckless behavior in the spectrum of various types of mental state. 

Accordingly, this case cannot assist this court in determining the validity of the reckless 

component in Connecticut's threatening statute. 

2 In Justice Alito's concurring/dissenting opinion, he unequivocally states that a "reckless" state of mind 
is "enough" under Section 875(c ). "There can be no real dispute that recklessness regard ing a risk of 
serious harm is wrongful conduct. In a wide variety of contexts, we have described reckless conduct as 
morally culpable" Id. at 2014-15. 
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While there is no controlling federal authority for the proposition that a "reckless" 

mental state suffices for a threatening crime, numerous other states, in addition to the 

great state of Connecticut, have included the "reckless" state of mind in their threatening 

statutes. See Attachments 1-13. 

In State v. 8jergum, 771 N. W. 2d 53 (2009), the Minnesota appellate court 

considered whether the defendant, who threatened to bring guns to his former 

workplace and open fire , "was entitled to a jury instruction relating to voluntary 

intoxication when his criminal charge for making a touristic threat was premised on his 

recklessness." !d. at 54 . The court held that the "voluntary-intoxication statute regards 

only specific-intent crimes and that the crime of recklessly making terroristic threats is 

not a specific-intent crime." !d. The court noted that, "[bJecause threats are context 

specific, a person who may lack a specific intent to threaten or terrorize may 

nevertheless utter an objectively threatening statement recklessly ... "8jergum at page 

5 of the opinion, paragraph 8. 

Like 8jergum, our Connecticut courts have recognized that criminal liability can 

attach to threats made recklessly. In the Connecticut Supreme Court case of State v. 

Krijger, 313 Conn . 434, 435-36 (2014), the jury convicted the defendant of threatening 

in the second degree under General Statutes § 53a-62(a)(3), which provides in 

pertinent part as follows: "[aJ person is guilty of threatening in the second degree when: 

(3) such person threatens to commit such crime of violence in reckless disregard of the 

risk of causing such terror." While the Connecticut Supreme Court examined the criteria 

for determine whether or not statements constitute a "true threat," it was silent on the 

issue of whether or not reckless conduct is sufficient. In Krijger, the Court overturned 
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the appellate court's finding that statements a defendant made to a town attorney 

becaus~ he was angry for being fined constituted a true threat. The Krijger Court only 

addresses the first element for a finding of guilty of threatening, namely, whether or not 

the words constitute a true threat. The Court presumes (as it should) that the statute is 

constitutional and never addresses the second element of the crime, which is whether 

or not the defendant was reckless in making the statements . "It is important at the 

outset, to recognize that the challenge of any state statute on constitutional grounds 

imposes a difficult burden on the challenger. We have consistently held that every 

statute is presumed to be constitutional and have required invalidity to be established 

beyond a reasonable doubt." (citations omitted) Heslin v. Connecticut Law Clinic of 

Trantolo and Trantolo, 190 Conn. 510, 521-23 (1983). 

In Lansdell v. State, 25 So. 3d 1169, 1178-79 (2007), writ denied sub nom Ex 

parte Lansdell, 25 So. 3d 1183 (2009), the court considered the issue of whether the 

trial court erred in" submitting the question of Landsdell's [ the defendant's] guilt to the 

jury." Landsdell made a threat to blow up the victim's house. The court stated , "[t]hus, 

the State was required to prove that Lansdell acted intentionally or recklessly to 

terrorize Jones by threatening to "blow up" Jones's house .... " (Emphasis added) Id. 

at 1178. 

In State v. Mayo, 237 Neb. 128, (1991) , the Nebraska Supreme Court held that 

the phrase "reckless disregard of the risk of causing terror or evacuation" in the 

threatening statute was not unconstitutionally vague." The undersigned prosecutor has 

not uncovered any cases in its research that show that any of the above state court 

decisions regarding reckless threats have been granted a petition for certiorari to the 

5 

A41 



United States Supreme Court. As such, the State would urge this court to follow our 

threatening statute as mirrored by many other states and deny the defense motion to 

dismiss the Amended Information. The statute in no way violates free speech and 

properly criminalizes threats in reckless disregard of the risk of causing terror. We all 

understand that someone can't recklessly scream "fire" in a crowded theater if there is 

no fire just to create chaos . "The most stringent protection of free speech would not 

protect a man in falsely shouting fire in a theatre and causing panic." Schenck v. United 

States, 249 U.S. 47,52, 39 S. Ct 247, 63 L. Ed. 470 (1919) . 

II. CONCLUSION 

The defendant's renewed motion to dismiss the amended information should be 

denied. Neither federal case law nor state case law support the premise that a threat 

requires specific intent as opposed to a reckless state of mind. 

THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT 

BRENDA HANS, Assistant State's Attorney, Juris # 420294 

State 's Attorney's Office 

1 Court Street 

Middletown, CT 06067 

(860) 343-6379 
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ORDER 

The State' objection to the motion to dismiss, having been reviewed by the Court, 

is hereby ORDERED: 

SUSTAINED OVERRULED 

CERTIFICATION 

J hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was emailed to counsel for the defendant, 

Rachel Baird, Esq., 8 Church Street, Suite B Torrington, CT 06790 

rbaird@rachelbairdlaw.com on July 7, 2015. 

BRENDA HANS, Assistant State's Attorney 
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§ 13A-10-15. Terrorist threats. - WestlawNext Page 1 of I 

ATTACHMENT1-ALABAMA 
§ 13A-10-1S. Terrorist threats . 
COde 01 Alabama Tale 1M. Cr,(nlllal COde ,App«., 2 p.I(1fi's) 

Codc of Alabama 

Title l:~O. Criminal CodE:. (}{ef.~ &: Allno~) 

Chllptcr 10. Offcns(~ Against Public Administration . (Rcf~« Annos) 

A,rtk-! e I. Ob . .;tru{'lion (If Public AdJ1lini,:,1rtltJOn . 

Ala.Code 1975 § 13A-IO-IS 

§ 13A-I0 M 15. Terrorist threats. 

Currentness 

(a) A person commits (he crime of making a terrorist Ihreal when he Of she threatens by any 
means to comfnlt any crime pf violence or to damage any property by dOing any of the 

follOWing 

(1) Intentionally or recklessly. 

a. Terrorizing another person 

b. Causing !.he disruption of school aclivilies. 

c Causing the evacuation of a bUilding, place of assembly, or facility of public 

transponation, or other serious public inconvenience, 

(2) With the intent to retaliate against any person who. 

a Atlends a judicial or administratIVe proceeding as a witness or party or produces 

records , documents, or other objects in a judicial proceeding . 

b. PrOVides to a law enforcement officer, adult or Juvenile probation officer, prosecuting 

attorney, or judge any information relating to the commission or possible commission of 

an offense under the la~s of this state. of the United States, or a violation of conditions 

of bail, pretrial release, probation, or parole , 

(b) The crime of making a terrorist threat is a Class C felony 

Credits 
(Act 2000-a07, p. 1919, § i ) 

Notes of Decisions containing your search terms (0) V.e.-. all 10 

Ala Code 1975 § 13A-10-15, AL ST § 13A·10-15 

Current through Act 2015-449 of the 2015 Regular Session. 

End of Document 
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§ 13-1202. Threatening or intimidating; classification - WestlawNext Page 1 of I 

We<;t!3wNexr ATTACHMENT 2- ARIZONA 
§ 13·1202. Threatening or Intimidating; classification 
Arizona ReVised St'tutes Annotated Tille 13. Criminal Code Effective. September 19, 2007 /lipp.'C). :; P<JgIIJJ 

Ari;WlVl R{'\i~(!d SI>ltlltC'i Anllmateel 

Tilk . :~. Criminal ("<Jell'! (J{('ts & Annos) 

ChllptC'r l!l. AS$3.t1H .. mcl RcJ'Jted OtfcnSt'<; (R~'fs & Al1nI)s) 

Effective: September 19 , 2007 

A.R.S. § 13-1202 

§ 13-1202. Threatening or intimidating; classification 

Cllrr('lllll l. <;'!: 

A. A person commits threatening or intimidating if the person threatens or intimidates by 

word or conduct" 

1. TO cause physicaJInJury to another perSOn or seriolJs damage to the property of another; 

0' 

2 . To cause, or in reckless disregard 10 causing, serious public inconvenience including, but 

not limited to. evacuation of a building, place Of assembly or transportation facility; or 

3 To cause physical injury to another person or damage to the property of another in order 

to promote further or assist in the interests of or to cause, induce or solicit another person 10 

particIpate In a cllmlnal streelgang, a criminal syndIcate Of a racketeenng enterprise 

B . Threatening or inltmldating pursuanlto subsection A, paragraph 1 or 2 is a class 1 

misdemeanor, except that it is a ctass 6 felony if: -

1 The offense is committed in retaliation for a victIm's either reporting criminal activity or 

being involved in an organization, other than a law enforcement agency, ths! is established 

for Ihe purpose of reporting or preventing criminal activity 

2. The person IS a crimInal street gang member. 

C. Threatening or intimidating pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 3 is a class 3 felony. 

Credits 

Added by laws 1977. Ch. 142. § 61. efr. Oct. 1, 1978. Amended by laws 1978. Ch. 201, § 
128. eff. Ocl. 1, 1976; Laws 1990 Ch. 366, § 1: laws 1994. Ch. 200. § 11, eff A.priI19. 

1994. Laws 2003. Ch 225, § 2; Laws 2007. Ch 287. § 3 

<Title 13. the revised Criminal Code. consisting of Chapters, 10 33, 35, 35.1. and 

36 to 38, was adopted by Laws 1977, Ch. 142, §§ 110 178. effective October t, 

1978. laws 1978, eh. 200, § 3, effective October 1.1978. alld laws 1978, Ch. 

215. § 3, effective October 1.1978.> 

Notes of Decisions containing your search terms (0) Vie' ... a!117 

A. R 5 § 13-1202 AZ 5T § 13-1202 

Current thro ugh the First Regutar Session of the Fifty-Second legislature 

End of Documc:nt 
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WestlawNexr ATTACHMENT3-DELAWARE 
§ 621. Terroristic threatening 
w",~rs Delaware Code ArYlotaied Title 11 Crimes and Criminal Procedure EtJective. April 29, 2015 (Ap(>fO)( 2 pages; 

Wl'.!-t'S D('lilw:m.' Code Anllvtnted 

"I itll' I L Crinlt!1< !!lld Crim inal f'md.:dul'(' 

I':m I. llela .... ·:a rf' trimin;}1 Code 

Clwpll'r .'i. Spt,t:iri{' Offcns~ 

Subchapter II. OffellS{'$ Against the f'er~on 

StlbPfl!1 A. A.<:'slll.lltl' and Related Off{.:nse:-, 

EffecLi'"e: April 29. :.0/015 

11 DeLe § 621 

§ 621. Terroristic threatening 

(a) A person is guilty of terroristiC Ihrealening when tha! person commits any of fhe following : 

(1) The person threatens '0 commit any crime likely to result in death or in senous injury to 

person or property; 

(2) Tht: person makes a false statement or statements: 

a Knowing that the statement or statements are likely 10 cause evacuation of a building, 

place of assembly, or facil ity of public transportation; 

b, Knowing that the statement or statements are likely to cause serious inconvenience; 

or 

c. In reckless disregard of the (lsk of causing terror or serious inconvenience; or 

(3) The person commits an ael with intent of causing an individual 10 believe that the 

individual has been exposed to a substance that will cause the individual death or senous 

injury 

(b) Any violation of paragraph (a){1) of this section shalJ be a class A misdemeanor except 

where the victim is a person 62 years of age or older, In which case any violation of 

paragraph (a)(1) of this section shall be a class G felony. Any violation of paragraph (a)(2)13. 

of this section shalt be a class E felony. Any Violation of paragraph (a){2)b, or c. of this 

sechon shall be a class G felony unless the place al which the risk of serious inconvenience 

or terror IS created is a place thaI has the purpose, in whole or in part. of aeling as a daycare 

facility, nursery or pleschool kmdergarten, elementary. secondary or vocational-technical 

school, or any long. term care facility in which elderly persons are hOused, In which case it 

shaJi be a class F felony Any Violation Of paragraph (a){3) of this $ection shall be a class F 

felony. Notvlithstanding any provision of this subsection to the contrary, a first offense of 

paragraph (a){2) of tnis section by a person 17 years old or yo unger shall be a class A 

misdemeanor. 

ec) In addition to the penalties otherwise authorized by law, any person convicted of an 

offense in violation of paragraph (a}(2) of this section shalt 

(1) Pay a fine of nOlless than $1,000 nor more than $2,500, which fine cannot be 

suspended; and 

(2) Be sentenced 10 perform a minimum of 100 hours of community service, 

(d) In addition 10 the penalties otherwise authorized by law, any person convicted of an 

offense in violation of paragraph (a)(3) of \his section shall pay a fine of not less than $2,000, 

which fine cannol be suspended 

Credits 

58 laws 1972. ch . -497 , § 1. 67 laws 1969. cn 130, § 6; 70 laws 1995, ch 166, § " ef( 

July 10, 1995, 70 laws 1996 en 330, § 1 eft May 8. 1996; 73 laws 2001 eh 126, §§ 5, 6. 

eff July 9, 2001: 73 Law~ 2002 eh 255. § 1. eN. May 9. 2002; 80 laws 2015. cM . 14, § 1, 

e~ . .t..pnI29, 2015. 
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ATTACHMENT 4- GEORGIA 
WesttiwvNext-

§ 1 6~11·37. Terroristic threat s and acts 
wlJsrs COde Of GtlorQI, Annotated Tj~! 16 Crimes and Offenses Effect,..,e' Jut)' " 2015 rApprr)Jt.:> p;q"S} 

We-n'" C(ld~' of Gcorj!ia Annnf<ltc(l 

THlt, III CnmE'!' and Of(t;Ell>t'.!' (Kl' ft< & Allum:) 

Ch<1pt("r 1 L Offcnsf'...i Agllin$1 1'l1bli( Order and Sa(('ty (Refs &. Annos) 

I,rti("! (' ~. Off('ns('.!' A~linst Public orO,,!" 

F:fff:Cli\'c : ,Ju!y I , 2015 

G;I , Codc Arm., § 16 - 11 -37 

§ 16-11-37. Terroristic threats and acts 

( 'llfTt'nll1('~" 

(a) A person commIts the offense of a terroristic threat when he or she threatens to commit 

any crime of violence, to release any hazardous substance. as such term is defined in Code 

Sectloll 12·8.92, or to burn or damage property with the purpose of terrorizing another or of 

causing the evacuation of a building , place of assembly, or facilily of public transportation or 

otherwise causing serious public inconvenience or in reckless disregard of the risk of 

causing such terror or inconvenience. No person shall be conVIcted under this subsection on 

the uncorroborated testimony of Ihe party 10 whom the threat is communicated, 

(b) A person commits the offense of a telloristic act when' 

(1) He or she uses a burning or flaming cross or other burning or flaming symbol or 

flambeau with the intent to terrorize ana/her or another's household; 

(2) While not in the commission of a lawful ael. he or she shoots at or throws an object at 

a conveyance whiCh is being operated or which is occupted by passengers; or 

(3) He or she releases any hazardous subslance or any simulated hazardous subs/ance 

under the guise of a halardous substance for the purpose of lerrorizing another or of 

causing the evaClJation 01 a building, place 01 assembly, or facility of public transportation 

or otherwise causing serious public inconvenience or in reckless disregard of the risk of 

causing such terror or inconvenience, 

(c) A person convicted of the offense of a terroristic threat shall be punished by a fine of not 

more than $1,000,00 or by imprisonment for not less than one nor more than five years, or 

both , A person convicted of the offense of a terroristic act shall be puniShed by a fine of not 

more than $5,000.00 or by imprisonment for not less than one nor more than len years, or 

both; provided. however, that if any person suffers a serious physical injury as a direcl result 

of an aci gIVIng flse to a conviction under thiS Code section, the person so convicted shall be 

punished by a fine of not more th'an $250,000 00 or imprisonment for not less than five nor 

more Ihan 40 years, or both 

(d) A person who commits or attempts to commit a terroristic threat or act with the intent to 

relaliate againsl any person for' 

(1) Attending a Judicial or adm/niSlralive proceeding as a witness, attorney, Judge, clerk of 

cour1, deputy clerk of court, court reporter, community supervision officer, county or 

Department of Juvenile Justice juveOile probation officer, probation officer serving 

pursuant to Article S of Chapter B of Title 42, or party or prodUCing any record, document, 

or other Object in a judicial or official proceeding or 

(2) ProVIding to a law enforcement officer, community supenrision officer, county or 

Department of Juvenile Justice juvenile probation officer, probation officer serving 

pursuanllo Article 6 of Chapter B of Title 42, prosecuting allorney , or judge any 

information relating to the commiSSion or possible commiSSion of an offense under the 

laws of this state or of the United Slates or a vtolalion of conditions of bail. prelrial release, 

probattOn, or parole 

shall be gUllly of Ihe offense of a terrons!Jc threat or act and, upon conviction thereof, shall 

be punished, for a terroristic threat. by Imp(Jsonmenl for not less than five nor more Ihan ten 
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WP.5 t lawNext- ATTACHMENT 5- HAWAII 
§ 707-716. Terroristic Ihreatenlng in the first degree 
Wesl'S Ha""ai", Revised SI3tUtt'S Amouned Divi,ion 5 Crime~ arid Criminal Proceeding, ;Ap,; ." . ;> pagU) 

\o\r't":"r's Ha",<,i') RI'n-;f'd Staluh'!'" AnnotalC'tI 

l.> i\ j"iwi 'i. CrWll.':': <llld CrimiJll11 Proc(';('di!li(~ 

TI1.!(' :S~. Ha\\.Jli PI'noll Code 

Chuptt".r 707. Off(::l1st's Agninsl tIle Pf"!"$;on (Rer!> N )\nnm:) 

"art Ifl. Crilllinal A.s..'.':lII!ts and Rt"I(lIl'd Off('o$C$ 

H RS §707-710 

§ 707-716. Terroristic threatening in the first degree 

CII ITt'lltne.~<: 

(1) A person commits the offense of terroristic Hlreatenmg in the first degree if the person 

commits terroristiC threatening: 

(a) By th,eatening another person on more than one occasion for the same or a similar 

purpose; 

(b) By threats made in a common scheme against different persons; 

(c) Against a public servant aris ing out of the performance of the public servant's offlcia! 

dulles . For Ihe purposes of th is paragraph. -public servant' includes but is nol limited to 

an educatiooa:1 worker 'Educational worker· has the same meaning as defined in 

section 707.71 1. 

(d) Against any emergency medica! services provider who is engaged in the performance 

of duty. For purposes of th is paragraph . 'emergency medical services provtder' means 

emergency medical services personnel, as defined in section 321-222, and physicians, 

physician's assistants , nurses, nurse practitioners , certified registered nurse 

anesthetists, respiratory therapists, laboratory technicians, radiology technicians, and 

social workers, providing services in the emergency room of a hospital; 

(e) With tt'le use of a dangerous instrument or a Simulated firearm. For purposes o f this 

section, · simulated firearm' means any object thaI. 

(i) Substantially resembles a firearm; 

(ii) Can reasonably be perceived to be a firearm , or 

(iii) Is used or brandished as a firearm, or 

(f) By threalening a person who. 

(i) The defendant has been restrained from. by order of any court, including an ex parte 

order. contacting 1hreatening. or physically abUSing pursuant to chapter 586, or 

(Ii) Is being protected by a police officer ordering the defendant to leave the prem ises of 

that protected person pursuant to section 709· 906 {"::), during the effective period of 

that order 

(2) Terroristic threatening in the firsl degree is a class C felony. 

Cred its 
Laws 1979. ch. 184, § 1 (2); Laws 1984, ch . 90 . § 1, Laws 1989. ch . 131 , § 1 , Laws 2006. ch. 

230. § 31 . Laws 2007 ch 79 § 2. eN. May 21 , 2007 , Lows 2010 ch 146, § 2, eft. May 27 , 

2010; Laws 201 I. cn 63. § 4, eff. July 1. 2011 . Laws 2013 eh. 255 § 1, eff. July 2. 2013. 

Notes of Decisions (73) 

H R S § 707·716 , Ht ST § 707·716 

Current with provisions ilT effect June 29, 2015 , th rough Act 139 of the 20 ! 5 Regular 

Session , pending classification of un des ignated matenal and text revision by the revisor of 

statutes For research tJpS relatmg to newly added undeslgnated materia!, see scope. 
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VV",sti;jwNext" ATTACHMENT6-KANSAS 
21·5415. Criminal threat; aggravated crIminal threat 
We5r~ Karl'''' SlalUleS Amotall!lCl Chilptec 21. Crimes and PunlshmllntS (Appf'O(:1 ;>aV.J.s) 

\\"('$t'$ K,Jn$tls St<ltul('$ Ann(lt;!t(>d 

Chapter 21. Crtrnes and Pl1ni,<:hm('nts 

K!'In:'<a:: Crimin .lf Code (2(,111 CodIfIcation] 

i"rtidc' .5-1 . Climes Ag.lim:t Person:; 

K.S.A . 21-S4 l S 

Formerl), cited as KS.A. 21-3419; 21-3419a 

21~5415 , Criminal threat; aggravated criminal threat 

(\nn'ntne&; 

(a) A criminal threat is any threat to, 

(1) Commit violence communrcated with Inlenllo place anolher In fear, or to cause the 

evacuation, lock down or disrupllon in regular, ongoing actIVities of any building, place of 

assembly or facility of transpor1ation, or in reckless disregard of the risk of caUSing such 

fear or evacuation, lock down or disruption In regular. ongOing activities: 

(2) adulterate or contaminate any food, raw agricultural commOdity, beverage, drug, 

animal feed, plant or public waler supply; or 

(3) expose any animal in thiS state to any contagiOUS or infectious disea~. 

(b) Aggravated criminal threat is the commission of a criminal threat, as defined in 

subsection (a), when a public. commercial or industrial building, place of assembly or facility 

of transportation is evacuated. tacked down or disrupted as to regular, ongotng actiVities as 

a resut! of the threat. 

(C)( l) A criminallhreal is a severity levelS, person fe lony_ 

(2) Aggravated criminal Ihreal is a severity levelS, person felony 

(d) As used In this section, "threal" includes any statement thai one has committed any 

action described by subsection (aJ 

Credits 

Laws 2010. ch. 136. § 50. eft. July 1, 2011 . 

Notes of Decisions containing your search terms (0) Vie .... .lit 75 

K. S_ A 21-5415. KS ST 21-5415 

Current through 2014 regula r and special sessions 

End of Documellt 
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WestlawNexC ATTACHMENT 7- MINNESOTA 
609.713. Terroristic threats 
Mlnne5Qla Statutes Anfl()l'led Crime5. E>::pungement. VictIms eCh, 609·624) (Appf()~:; D<'I9'"s) 

:\finnn':/ltd SI<ltutcs Annotated 

Crimes; ExpllngCnienl : Victjl1J~({ 'h . 609-6:L.4) 

Chllplcr Mg. ('riminNi {A:,<ic (I{ct'~ lit Anno~) 

Public ML<:conduct or N\lis.:ITlCC 

Proposed Legl$/ation 

M.S.A. § 609.713 

6°9 .713 . Terroristic threats 

Cllrrcntncs~ 

SubdivIsion 1. Threaten violence; intent to terrorize. VVIloever threatens. direclly or 

indirectly. to commit any crime of violence with purpose 10 terrorize another or to cause 

evacuation of a building, place of assembly, vehicle or facihty of public transporta tion or 

otherwise to cause serious public inconvenience, or in a reckless disregard of the risk of 

causing such terror or inconvenience may be sentenced 10 imprisonment for not more than 

f ive years or 10 payment of a fine of not more than $10.000 or both As used In this 

subdivisron. ·crime of violence- has the meaning given ·violent crime" in section 609.1095. 

subdiVISion 1, paragraph (d). 

SUbd. 2. Communicates to terrorize. lJ'omoever communicates to another with purpose 10 

terrorize anothe r or in reckles s disregard of the risK of causing such terror, that explosives or 
an explOSive device or any incendrary deVice is present at a named place or location, 

whether or not the same is in fact present. may be sentenced to imprisonment for nOI more 
than Ihree years or to payment of a fine of nol more than $3,000, or both 

Subd. 3. Display replica of firea rm . (a) Whoever displays, exhibits, brandrshes, or 

otherwise employs a replica firearm or a BS gun in a threatening manner, may be sentenced 

to Imprisonment for not more than one year and one day or to payment of a fine of not more 

than $3,000 , or both, if, in doing so, the person either: 

(1) causes or attempts to cause lerror in another person: or 

(2) acts in reckless disregard of the risk of causing terror in another person 

(b) For purposes of this subdivision: 

(1) "B8 gun ' means a device thaI fi res or ejects a shot measuring .18 of an inCh or less in 

diameter: and 

(2) "replica firearm" means a device or object that !s not defined as a dangerous weapon, 

and that is a facsimile or toy version of, and reasonab ly appears to be a pistOl, revolver, 

shotgun. sawed·off shotgun, rifle, machine gun, rocket launcher, or any other firearm. The 

term replica firearm includes, but is not limited to, devices or objects that are designed to fire 

only blanks . 

Credits 
laws 1971 . c. 645, § 19, eN. Jury T, 1971 . Amended by Laws 1968, C. 712, § 1 S. eft. Aug. 1, 

t988; Laws 1990. c 461 , § 3; Laws 1993. c. 326. art. 4 . § 34; l aws 1994 . c 636 art 2, § 
45. Laws 1994, C 636, art. 3, § 23; Laws 1995 c 244, §§ 24, 25; lawS 1998. c. 367 , art. 6, 

§ 15 eft Aug 1.1 998. 

Editors ' Notes 

RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 

<Section 480.059. sube1. 7, provides In part tha t statutes which relate to substantrve 

crrmlnal law found in chapter 609, except for sections 609 1 I 5 and 609 145. remain 

In full force and effect notwithstandrng the Ru les of Criminal Procedure.> 
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IlVesclawNext" ATTACHMENT8-NEBRASKA 
• 28-311.01 . Terroristic threats; penalty 

Wesl's ReVIsed Slarures 01 Nebraska Annotated Chaplet 28. Climes .mel pun'snrneflls 

Wt·,.1'S R"\;.'wti.'1I ;l tutc$ of NC'hr,J';\.:a AI1J)lItal('(1 

Ch<t[1I{·j":.!H Crimes and PUr1i.~hJllenl& 

Artkle'~. Off('nscs Agilinst the Per$()Il 

ttl) (;l'ncral Pro\isions 

Ncb,Rev.S!. * 28 -311.01 

28-311.01. Terroristic threats; penalty 

Ctlrrcnrtl(~ss 

P) A person commits terroristic threats if he or she threatens to commit any crime of 

violence: 

(a) With the intent to terrorize another; 

(b) With the inlent of causing the evacuation of a building, place of assembly. or facilily of 

public transportation; or 

(C) In reckless disregard of the risk of causing such terror or evacuation. 

(2) TerronSlic threats IS a Class IV felony. 

Credits 
laws 1986. LB 956, § 11. 

Relevant Notes of Decisions (77) \ lew all 88 

Notes 01 Decis,ons IlsteCl below contain your search terms 

Validity 

TerrOristic-threats statute is nol unconstitutionally vague for using the words "terror" and 

· terrorize-; those words are words of common usage and meaning capable of being readily 

understood by an individual of common intelligence Neb Rev.SI. § 28-311.01. State v 

Nelson. 2007 739 N.W.2d 199, 274 Neb. 304. Threats. Stalktng, And Harassment ~ 5 

Statutes governmg committing terroristic threats and first degree fa lse imprisonment were 

not unconstttutional as applied to defendant; although defendant contended statutes were 

unconstilulional since legislature did not intend statutes to apply to conduct thai occurred 

during private, consensua l relationship involving bondage, discipline, and sadomasochism 

(805M) activities, object of statutes was to protect dtlzens from injury and to maintain public 

order. and -case law did not restrict ability of state to regulate such conduct through its 

criminal laws Neb.Rev.S!. §§ 28·311 .01, 26-314. State v Van. 2004, 688 N.W.2d 600. 268 

Neb 814. False Imprisonment /bl<. 43; Threats, Stalking. And Harassment ... 5 

Terroristic threat statute is not unconstitutionally overbroad. notwithstanding that it falls to 

timit ·crtme of violence' to felony crimes and exposes accused who may only threaten 

misdemeanor crime of Violence to felony puniShment, as it is narrowlY tailored 10 achieve 

substantial and legitimate state interest ; slate has substantial governmental interest in 

protecting persons agarnst harm, including anxiety produced by threats, and may achie ve 

thaI legitimate objective by preventing or punishing terrOristic threat, even if speech is used 

to communicate or e)(press threal. Neb.Rev $t § 28·311 01(1)(a), (2) · U S.C.A 

Cansl-Amend 1, Consl Art 1, § 5. State v. Schmailz! . 1993. 243 Neb. 734. 502 N.W ~d 

463 Threats . Stalking. And Harassment ~ 5 

Words "threats' and "threatens· are terms of common usage and understanding which 

supply adeqUate and fair notice of conduct prohibited by terroristic threat statute and. thus. 

·statute JS not unconsll1u!lonally vague. Neb.Rev 51. § 28-311 .01(1 ). Slate v. Schrnailzl. 1993. 

243 Neo 734 , ~0 2 N W 2d <163. Threats . Stalking, ArId Harassment ..... 5 
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«NE ST § 28-311.01 » 
28-311.01. 
(l) A person commits terroristic threats if he or she threatens to commit any crime of violence: 
(a) With the intent to terrorize another; 
(b) With the intent of causing the evacuation of a building, place of assembly, or facility of 
public transportation; or 
(c) In reckless disregard of the risk of causing such terror or evacuation. 
(2) Terroristic threats is a Class 111 0. PI felony. 

CRIMES AND OFFENSES-SENTENCE AND PUNISHMENT-GENERALL Y, 2015 
Nebraska Laws L.B. 605 
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ATTACHMENT 9- NEW HAMPSHIRE 
631:4 Criminal Threatening . 
Revised Stat..J lu Mnotale<l Of the SLSIII 01 New Hampshire TIlle LXII Criminal Code Ie,., 625 L065 1-F) Effective Jef'll,l8Ty 1, 2011 iAPlI~X 2 P'!Jlu.NOTES OF DECISIONS (26) 

I('\i~cd SliltUtcS Annot<lted of IIw Statl" of N('w H<l1ltpshirc 

Title LXIJ. CrinllltllJ Code rCh. 02.') to 6.'lH') (Ref!. &. An!1/)!» 

Chtlpter 631 . Assault and R(:!at('d Offenses CRef$ & Annas) 

Effective: January I, 2011 

N.H. Rev. Stl'lt. § 631:4 

631:4 Crimina! Threatening. 

A person is guilty of criminal th reatening when: 

(8) By physical conducl, the person purposely places or attempts 10 place another in fear 

of imminent bodily injury or physical contact: or 

(b) The person places any object or graffiti on the property of another with a purpose to 

coerce or terrorize any person: or 

{c) The person threatens to commil any crime against the property of another with a 

purpose to coerce or terrorize any person; or 

(d) The person threatens to commIt any crime against lhe person of another with a 

purpose to terrorize any person; or 

(e) The person threatens to commit any crime of violence, or threatens the delivery or use 

01 a bJOlogical or chemical substance, with a purpose to cause evacuation of a building, 

place of assembly, lacility of public transportation or otherwise to cause senous public 

inconvenience, or in reckless disregard of causing such fear, terror or inconvenience; or 

(f) The person delivers, threatens to deliver, or causes the delivery of any substance the 

actor knows cou;o be perceived as a biological or chemical substance, to another person 

with the purpose of causing fear or terror, or in reckless disregard of causing such fear or 

terror 

II. (a) Criminal threatening is a class B felony if the person: 

(1) Violates the provisions of subparagraph I(e): or 

(2) Uses a deadly weapon as defined in RSA 625.11 , V in the violation or the provisions 

of suboaragraph I(a), I(b). I(c), or ICd) 

(b) A1I other criminal threatening is a misdemeanor 

III (a~ As used in this section. ·property" has the same meaning as 1() RSA 637 .2, !; 

"property of another' has the same meaning as in R$A 637 2, IV. 

(b) As used in this section, "terroriz.e" means to cause alarm. frighl or dread, the state of 

mmd induced by the apprehension of hurt from some hostile Ot threatening event Of 

manifestation 

IV. A person who responds 10 a threat which would be considered by a reasonable person 

as likely to cause serious bodily injury or death to the person or to another by displaying a 

firearm or olher means of self-defense With the mien! 10 warn away the person making the 

threat shall not have committed a crimmel act under this section 

Notes of Decisions containing your search terms (0) View al i 26 

Copyright <0 2015 by the State of New Hampshire Office of the Director of Legislative 

ServIces and Tnomson ReulcrslWesl 2015 

N H Rev . Slat § 631.4 . NH 5T § 631 '4 
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Westl;:;wNext - ATTACHMENT 10- NEW JERSEY 
2C:12-3. Terroristic threats 
New Jersey Statutes AnnoWed Title 2C. TJ'le New Jersey COde of Criminal Jus~ Effeclive. June 18, 2002 ,-Appro« 2 P890") 

Nc~, .IN:-:t'~ StarU!('':' Al'lnota\t'(1 

Tit!t,lt Ttl{' Ne\' .I(>r~t'.v Code of Crimillal .1ll."lice (Refs & AnnCll') 

Subtitle 1. Detlnition of Specific Of(ellse~ 

ParI I. Offenses Involving D/lllger In I he Person 

Chapter 12.. A~<l:uJ t; Reckless Rnd<lng<!ring: Threats (Ref$ & Annos) 

Proposed Legislation 

Effective: .Julle 18, 2002 

N.J.S A. 2C:12-3 

2C:12-3. Terroristic threats 

Curn_ntn ['~~ 

a, A person is guilty of a crime of the third degree Jf he threatens to commit any crime of 

violence With the purpose to terrorize another or to cause evacuation of a building, place of 

assembly, or faCi lity of public transportation, or otherwise to cause serious public 

inconvenience, or in reckless disregard of the risk of causing such terror or itlCOnvenience A 

violation of this sUbsection is a crime of the second degree if it occurs during a declared 

period of national. State or county emergency. The actor shaH be strictly liable upon proof 

that the crime occurred, in fact, during a declared period of national, State or county 

emergency It shall not be a defense that the actor did not know that there was a declared 

period of emergency at the time the crime occurred 

b. A person is guilty of a crime of the third degree if he threatens to k ill another with the 

purpose to put him in imminent fear of death under circumstances reasonably causing the 

victim to believe the immediacy of the threat and If1€: likelihood that it wJU be carried out 

Credits 
L.197S, c. 95, § 2C:12-J, eft. Sept. 1, 1979; L.1981, C 290, § 15, eff Sept. 24, 1981 

Amended by L 2002. c 26, § 11. eft. June 18, 2002 

Relevant Notes of DeciSions (2) View a!) 50 

Notes of DeciSions listed belOW contain your search terms 

Threats within section 

N.J.SA 2C:12-3. subd, b. which proscribes threatening to kill another with purpose to put 

him in the imminent fear of death under circumstances reasonably causing victim to believe 

immediacy of threat and likelihood that it will be carried out, requires only that words or 
conduct be of nature such as would reasonably convey menace or fear of death to ordinal)l 

hearer. Slate v. Nolan, 205 N J. Super 1,500 A.2d 1 (A 0 1985). HomiCide e.:. 736 

Guilty plea 

Defendant's statement in support of his plea of guilty to charge of terroristic threats [N.J,SA 

2C: 12-3, subd. b] established all of the statutory elements so as to justify entry of plea, 

where defendant stated he threatened to kill his brother and threat was made while 

defendant was rea ching for a machete during struggle with victim, as the statement 

established that Intended victim reasonably feared immedIate harm or death under the 

circumstances. Stale v Nolan 205 N.J .Super. I, SOD A.2d 1 (A.D 1985). Criminal Law".. 

27"3(4 .1) 

N. J. 5 . A. 2C :12-3, NJ 5T 2C:f .2-3 

Current with laws effective through L.2015, c. 61 . 

End of Docwnent 
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WesttawNext· ATTACHMENT 11 NORTH DAKOTA 
§ 12.1-17-04. TerrorizIng 
WilSf' NotIh Dakota Century CocJe AmoUl1ed Title 111. Cnminat Code (Appr.J < ') pD{le5} 

W('~1'~ North n)lkOI~1 Cr'!lmry ('()(!{' Alln(lta! l~l 

Tilll' lO!. J. Criminal Code 

CllilptC'r I~. 1- J 7- Assaults--ThrC<1ts--C()cr('ioo- ' Har'J.s,<,meJlt 

C1lI1'('ntnes;, 

A person is guilty of a dass C felony if. with intent to place another human being in fear for 

that human being's or another's safety or to cause evacuation of a building. place of 

assembly. or facllily of public transportation. or otherwise to cause serious dis ruption or 

public inconvenience, or In reckless disregard of Ihe risk of causing such terror, disruption, 

or inconvenience, Ihe person. 

Threatens 10 commit any crime of violence or act dangerous to human life, or 

2 Falsely informs another that a situation dangerous to human life or commission of a 
cnme of violence is imminent knowing that the information is fa lse. 

Credits 

S.l 1973, eh. 116, § 17, S.l. 1983, ch. 166, § 1 

Relevant Notes of Decisions (8) 

NOles 01 OccJsions listed below contain your search terms. 

In general 

To be convicted of terrori.zing. the Stale must prove . (I) the defendant intended to cause 

another person to fear for his or another person's safety or acted with reckless disregard of 

Ihe risk of causing such fear. and (2) the defendant made a threat to commit a crime of 

violence or act dangerous to human life State v Brossart. 2015. 2015 WL 138159. Threats. 

Stalking And Harassment c-=. 8 

Threats 

Defendant's statement that he was going to kill sheriff who arrested him and hurt his family 

til reate ned crJminaJ violence or acl dangerous to human life and was terrorizing, if 

committed WIth intent 10 place another human being In lear for safety Of in reckless 

disregard of risk of causing such terror. NDCC 12.1-17-04, subd 1. State v Canson , 1997, 

559 N,W.2d 802 . rehearing denied. Homicide ~ 736; Threats. Stalking. And Harassmenl __ 

16; Threats, Stalking, And Harassment etI:: 17 

Defendant's statement to complainant that she and her children would wake up with either 

flat tires; or sugar in their gas tank. or "not wake up at aU" was sufficienlly definite to 

constitute the threat of a crime of violence or act dangerous to human rife for purpose of 

offense of terrorizing; defendant had a history of harming complainant, approximately one 

hour before statement. defendant daimed 10 have beheaded one kitten and he brutally 

mu tilated another in the presence of comp lainant and her five-year old son , and he made the 

th reatening statement after being lold by the authorities to cease further menacing contact 

with complainant. NDCC 12.1-17-04. Stale v. Getroh, 1993. 495 N.W 2d 651 . Threats. 

Stalking. And Harassment ~ 9 

Lesser Inch.Jded offense 

Disorderly conduct is lesser-included offense of terrorizing; terrorizing requires threat to 

commit crime of lIiolence or act dangerous 10 human life, and disorderly conduct requires 

threatening behavior. bul does nol require threaten ing behavior to involve any crime Df 

VIolence or acl dangerous to human hfe. NDCC 12. 1-17-04. subd " 12.1-31·01. State \I 

Carlson, '997. 559 N.W2d 802, rehearing denied. Indictment And Information ....... 191(.5) 
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WestlawNext- ATTACHMENT 12- PENNSYLVANIA 
§ 2706. Terroristic threats 
Purdon', PSnf1sylvarue StaMas and Coosoltdaled StaMas Tille 18 P",C.S A Crime, al1Cl Oflenses ett.twe- August 27 2002 rAppro~ ~ ~TES OF DECISIONS (146) 

Purdon'~ P(,lUls\./v;mia St,J!lltC--;: .md Con.!'"olidll tccl SI<ltu!C's 

Titlt' J8 Pa.e SA Ct·ime . .: and Of{t'n$;l'~ (ReI:., &. AnlJo ... ) 

1';111 II . Ilefinl1"ir)J1 (If Specific Offenses; 

Al1i('ic [I. offens;es 1m olvin~ Danger til Lht' f>1'~')1l (Hef!' & Annm:) 

Ch:lph'!" :."!7 . • ~alllllRl'f.s $: AnnQsJ 

Propor;ed legislation 

Effective: August 27. 2002 

18 Pa.C.S.A. § 2706 

§ 2706. Terroristic threats 

('urr~ll!nt'ss 

(a) Offense defined.-·A person commits the crime of terroristic threats if the person 

communica tes , either directly 0 1 indirectly, a threat 10· 

(1) commit any crime of violence with inlent to terrorize another, 

(2) cause evacuation of a building. place of assembly or facilicy of public transportation ; or 

(3) otherwise cause serious public inconvenience, or cause terror or serious public 

inconvenience with reckless disregard of the risk of causing such terror or inconvenience. 

(b) Restrtution.--A person convicted of violating this section shall, in addition to any other 

sentence imposed or restitution ordered under 42 Pa.C.S. § 9721(c) (relating to sentencing 

generally). be sentenced 10 p8y restitution in an amount equal to the cost of the evacuation, 

including. bul nol limited to. fi re and police response; emergency medical service or 
emergency preparedness response, and transportation of an individual from the building. 

place of assembly or facility. 

(e) Preservation of private remedles.·-No judgment or order of restitution shall debar a 

person, by appropriate action, 10 recover from the offender as otherwise provided by law, 

provided that any civil award shall be reduced by the amount paid under the criminal 

judgment. 

(dJ Grading.--An offense under subsection (a) constitutes a misdemeanor of the first degree 

unless the threat causes the occupants of the building, place of assembly or facility of public 

Iransportatlon to be diverted from their normal or cu stomary operations, in which (.;ase the 

offense constitutes a fefony of the third degree 

(e) Oefin ltion.--As used in this section, the term Mcommunicates" means conveys In person 

or by written or electronic means. including telephone, electronic mail, Internet, facsimile, 

telex and Similar transmiSSions. 

Credits 
1972. Dec 6. P L.1482, No 334, § 1, effective June 6, 1.973. Amended 1998. June 11:! P.L 

534 No 76, § I, effective in 60 days: 1999. Dec 15. P L 915, No 59, § 2, effectJve in 60 

days; 2002. June 28. P.L. 481, No. 87. § 1. effective in 60 days. 

Editors' Notes 

OFFICIAL COMMENT-1972 

This seclion is derived from Section 211.3 of the Model Penal Code. There IS no 

similar provision in existing law. 

ThiS section covers o'al threats as well as written Ihreats. The purpose of the 

section is to impose crimina! liability on persons who make threats which seriously 

impair personal security or public convenience 1\ is not intended by thiS section to 

pena lize mere spur-of-the-momen! 1hreats which resufl from anger. 

11"\ general 

Acts constituting offense 

AdmissibIlity of evid9f1Ce 

Conduct of counsel 

COl'\CluCl of judge 

Crime 01 vIOlence. sutflCt6l'lcy of ev idence 
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WestiawNexr ATTACHMENT 13- WYOMING 
§ 6-2-505. Terroristic threats; penalty 
Wl'!sr. 'N»om/.-.g 5101111111$ Annorilled Title 6 Crimes 11'10' Olle.,s!s (t.ppr()). ] fU~SJ 

WC'f't' ... Wy{Jl\lin~ St;Jtntcs Annuiilti' d 

'nUl' 6. Crimt's and O:Ifl':lls('s 

ChHph'r:.l. Offen.~es Again.!.1 the Person 

Arti~ le;5. As,s..ll111 11110 Hiittt'1} (RC'fs & AIl1l0.~) 

W.S 1977 § 6-2-505 

§ 6-2-505· Terroristic threats; penalty 

CLlrrf:nln~'~!\ 

(8) A person is guilty of a lerronslJc threat if he threatens to commit any violent felony with 

the inlenllo cause evacuation of a building, place of assembly Of facility of public 

transportation. or otherwise to cause serious public inconvenience, or In reckless disregard 

of the risk of causing such inconvenience. 

(b) A terronsllc threat is a felony punishable by imprisonment for nol more than three (3) 

years. 

Credits 

laws 1982. ch. 75. § 3 

Relevant Notes of Decisions (16) VIew 811 16 

Noles of DeciSions listed below contain your searcl'l lerms 

Validity 

Terroristic threats statute was not faciaUy vague, so as to be unconstitutional, making violent 

threats against society was not protected speech and specified prohibited COnduct. includrng 

threatening to bomb public faci lity with intent to force evacuation . W.S 1977, § 6.2-505(a): 

U S.CA Cons!.Amends, 5, 14 McCone v. Slale , 1993, 866 P 2d 740, dismissal of habeas 

corpus affirmed 83 F.3d 432. appeal from denial of habeas corpus 161 F.3d 18. Threats. 

Stalking, And Harassment "'. 5 

Construction and application 

Cruninal statute prohibiting terroristic threats was not unconstitutionally vague as applied to 

defendant accused of placing telephone calls threatening to bomb a nursing home, person 

ot ordinary Intelligence would be aware that imminen t bomb threat directed at nursing home 

facrhty could cause prohibited ~serious public inconvenience" and statute was not enforced in 

arbitrary or diSCriminatory manner. W.S.1977, § 6-2-505(a); U S C.A Consl.Amends. 5, 14. 

McCone v Stale, 1993 866 P 2d 740, dismrssal of habeas corpus affirmed 83 F.3d 432, 

appeal from denial of habeas corpus 161 F 3d 18. Threats . Stalking, And Harassment ~ 5 

Criminal statute prohibiting terroristic threats was nol overbroad as applied to defendant 

accused of threatening to bomb a nursing home and shoot one of nursing home's 

employees. W.S. 1977, § 6.2-505: U S.C.A. Const Amends 5. 14. McCone v. State, 1993, 

866 p 2d 740, dismissal of habeas corpus affirmed 83 F 3d 432, appeal from denial of 

habeas corpus 161 F 3d 18. Threats, Stalking. And Harassmenl eor. 5 

TerroristiC threat statute proscribes threat to commit any violent felony with intent to cause 

evacuation of building, place of assembly or facility of public transportation, Of to otherwise 

cause serious public inconvenience, and likewise proscribes threat to commit any violent 

felony with reckless disregard of risk of causing such seriOUS public inconvenience. 

W.S 1977. § 6-2-505. McCone v State 1993. 866 P 2d 740, dismissal of habeas corpus 

affirmed 83 r 3d 432, appeal from denial of habeas corpus 161 F.3d 18 Threats . Stalking, 

And Harassment "'"" 9 

-TerroristiC threat' includes U'veat 10 commit Violent felony and reckless disregard of risk of 

causing evacualion of building W S.1977. § 6-2·505 ttl.cCane v. Stale 1993 866 P 2d 740. 

NOTES OF DECISIONS (16) 

Admissibnily Of evidence 

ConSll'\lctlOtl and appllcal!on 

DUll process 

Harmless or leversible error 

Lesswr included offenSi;l 

ValiOily 

Venue 

A5? 
https ://a.next.westlaw.comlDocumentINOB9479EO 130FII DDACA2D74AB30 1 C686Niew/. . 7/7/?Ol') 



DOCKET NO. MMX-CR140675616T SUPERIOR COURT 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF MIDDLESEX 

v. AT MIDDLETOWN 

EDWARD F. TAUPIER OCTOBER 2,2015 

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION RE: DEFENDANT'S RENEWED MOTION TO DISMISS 

In his Renewed Motion to Dismiss Amended Information filed pursuant to Practice Book 

§ 41-8 (8),1 the defendant, Edward Taupier, moves this court to dismiss the charges against him 

on the ground that they are unconstitutional. The defendant's constitutional challenge is 

premised on his contention that laws that seek to criminalize the making of allegedly threatening 

statements will comport with the first amendment to the United States Constitution only if those 

laws require proof that the defendant specifically intended to threaten the victim. In support of 

his claim, the defendant relies first on the United States Supreme Court's recent decision in 

Elonis v. United States, 575 U.S. -, 135 S. Ct. 2001, 192 1. Ed. 2d 1 (2015), and then on a 

handful ofpre-Elonis cases that he cites and discusses in his motion. Elonis and these other 

cases, the defendant argues, compel the conclusion that the offenses at issue in the present 

prosecution-threatening in the first degree, threatening in the second degree, disorderly conduct, 

and breach of the peace in the second degree-violate the first amendment because they each 

allege that he acted with a reckless state of mind, and not with the type of specific intent that he 

contends is constitutionally mandated. He therefore urges dismissal of the charges. 

By way of response to the defendant's assertions, the state disputes the defendant's <i.O,j 

10/"1 
'Practice Book § 41-8 (8) authorizes a motion to dismiss to be filed where a defendant DENI!:l> 

asserts the "[ c Jlaim that the law defining the offense charged is unconstitutional or othbrwise fo Ie>· ~·10 15 
invalid." ~ '" "S) 

1 

A58 

~ ~'\. ~~' 
~~ , 'vv:.. r0 l:: .,,' 
n Q~~ cr,,·~ ~;(O ~ 
'~~C?IA vr 



interpretation of Elonis, minimizes the relevance and precedential value of the other cases cited 

by him, and asks the court to reject the defendant's constitutional challenge. For the reasons set 

forth below, the court agrees with the positions advanced by the state and, accordingly, denies the 

defendant's renewed motion to dismiss. 

Elonis v. United States 

In the court's opinion, the defendant's reliance on Elonis is misplaced. Contrary to the 

statement contained in the defendant's motion, Elonis did not hold that "the First Amendment 

[is] inconsistent with a standard that permits conviction in criminal prosecutions for speech 

attributed to a reckless mens rea." Defendant's Renewed Motion to Dismiss Amended 

Information (Defendant's Motion), I. In addition, the defendant's later statement that "E/onis 

requires subjective intent," id., is similarly in error ifby "subjective intent" the defendant is 

referring to a specific intent to threaten. As the court reads it, Elonis lends no support to the type 

of constitutional challenge the defendant asserts in his renewed motion to dismiss, and, as will be 

explained, actually seems to signal that the statutes charged in the present case are fully 

consistent with the requirements of the first amendment. 

The defendant in Elonis was indicted in connection with certain allegedly threatening 

statements he had posted on Facebook. He was charged with violating 18 U.S.C. § 875 (c), a 

federal statute that makes it a crime to "transmit[] in interstate or foreign commerce any 

communication containing any threat ... to injure the person of another." Although 18 U.S.C. 

§ 875 (c) expressly requires the defendant to transmit a communication containing a threat, the 

statute is silent as to the defendant's requisite mental state-that is, the statute does not indicate 

whether the defendant must have an awareness of the threatening nature of his communication. 

2 
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Given the absence of any such mental state requirement in the statute, Elonis requested at 

his trial that the jury be instructed that the government was required to prove that he had intended 

to communicate a threat. The trial court denied that request. It instead instructed the jury that the 

government need only prove that the defendant transmitted a communication and that the 

communication contained a "true threat," a term it defined as follows: "A statement is a true 

threat when a defendant intentionally makes a statement in a context or under such circumstances 

wherein a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted by those to 

whom the maker communicates the statement as a serious expression of an intention to inflict 

bodily injury or take the life of another." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Elonis v. United 

States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2007. Apart from this definition of a "true threat," the jury was given no 

instruction regarding the government's burden to prove, or the jury's duty to find, the defendant's 

subjective state of mind as it pertained to the threatening nature of those statements. Elonis was 

subsequently convicted and sentenced to three years and eight months of imprisonment. 

After his conviction was affirmed by the Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit, the 

Supreme Court granted certiorari. Noting that the petitioner had been convicted of a violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 875 (c) under jury instructions that required the jury only to find that he 

communicated what a reasonable person would regard as a threat, the Supreme Court framed the 

issue before it as follows: "The question is whether the statute also requires that the defendant be 

aware of the threatening nature of the communication, and-if not-whether the First 

Amendment requires such a showing." Elonis v. United States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2004. 

Relying exclusively on principles of substantive federal criminaI'law and the 

jurisprudential maxim that "wrongdoing must be conscious to be criminal," id., 2009, the court 
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decided that 18 U.S.C. § 875 (c), though silent on the issue of scienter, nonetheless did require 

proof of the defendant's awareness, to some unspecified degree, of the nature of his statements. 

At the outset, the court pointed out that it "generally interpreted criminal statutes to include 

broadly applicable scienter requirements, even where the statute by its terms does not contain 

them," (internal quotation marks omitted) id., and that, as a result, "[t)he fact that [18 U.S.C. 

§ 875 (c») does not specit'y any required mental state ... does not mean that none exists." rd . 

The court then went on to hold that Elonis's conviction, having been predicated solely on how 

his posts would be understood by a reasonable person, could not be sustained because such a 

reasonable person standard "reduces culpability on the all-important element of the crime to 

negligence," id. , 2011 , and, as such, "is inconsistent with the conventional requirement for 

criminal conduct-awareness of some wrongdoing." (Emphasis in original.) rd. To secure a 

conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 875 (c), in other words, the court concluded that the government 

was required to prove that the defendant possessed some mental awareness of the threatening 

nature of the communication. Proof that the communication would be viewed as threatening on 

an objective basis (pursuant to a reasonable person analysis) was alone not enough. 

Having been decided so narrowly and only on the basis of substantive federal law and 

general principles of criminal liability, Elonis may be seen as more important for what it did not 

decide than for what it did . First, although many (including the court and the parties here) may 

have anticipated that Elonis would address constitutional questions, it did not. Elonis v. United 

States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2012 ("Given our disposition, it is not necessary to consider any First 

Amendment issues. "). Moreover, although deciding that proof of negligence alone is not enough 

to support a conviction under 18 U.S.c. § 875 (c), the court declined to set forth what more is 
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needed. The court did say, as noted earlier, that "wrongdoing must be conscious to be criminal." 

rd., 2009. It also stated that there could be "no dispute that the mental state requirement in § 875 

(c) is satisfied if the defendant transmits a communication for the purpose of issuing a threat, or 

with knowledge that the communication will be viewed as a threat." rd., 2012. As Justice Alito 

points out in his concurring and dissenting opinion, however, "[tJhe Court holds that the jury 

instructions in this case were defective because they required only negligence in conveying a 

threat. But the Court refuses to explain what type of intent was necessary." rd., 20 I 3- I 4. 

Elonis is, therefore, of little help to the defendant's claim that the "laws defining the 

offenses charged [in this case] which require proof merely of a reckless mens rea ... are 

unconstitutional under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution." Defendant's 

Motion, I. Elonis addressed no constitutional issues, and it neither held, nor for that matter even 

suggested, that recklessness is an inadequate scienter requirement, as a matter of law, in cases 

involving the prosecution of allegedly threatening speech. Accordingly, the court rejects the 

defendant's claim that the holding in Elonis undermines the constitutionality of, or otherwise 

invalidates, the criminal statutes at issue in this case. 

The Other Cited Cases 

The defendant fares no better in his effort to cite pre-Elonis cases in support of his claim 

that the laws under which he is charged are "unconstitutional or otherwise invalid." Practice 

Book § 41-8 (8). Most of the cases referenced in his brief miss the mark because they do not 

involve, and therefore fail to address, the type of first amendment challenge to the language and 

application of criminal statutes that the defendant makes here. For example, while United States 

v. Watts, 394 U.S. 705, 89 S. Ct. 1399,22 L. Ed. 2d 664 (1969), upheld the constitutionality of 
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the statute there at issue, id., 707 ("[ c ]ertainly, the statute under which the petitioner was 

convicted [18 U.S.C. § 871 (a)] is constitutional on its face"), the court did not undertake the 

kind of constitutional analysis required in the present case, and provided no guidance as to 

whether recklessness is a sufficient mental state for statutes prohibiting threatening speech. Like 

Watts, United States v. Alkhabaz, 104 F.3d 1492 (6th Cir. 1997), is similarly lacking in 

constitutional analysis given that the court expressly "decline[ dJ to address the First Amendment 

issues raised by the parties." rd., 1493. For the same reason, the defendant's citations to United 

States v. Patillo, 438 F.2d 13 (4th Cir. 1971), United States v. Fulmer, 108 F.3d 1486 (1st Cir. 

1996), United States v. Kelner, 534 F.2d 1020 (2d Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1022, 97 S. 

Ct. 639, 50 L. Ed. 2d 623 (1976), and In re Ryan D., 100 Cal. App. 4th 854,123 Cal. Rpt. 2d 193 

(2002), are equally unavailing. 

The remaining two cases the defendant cites in his brief, United States v. Je}fries, 692 

F.3d 473 (6th Cir. 2012), cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 59, 187 L. Ed. 2d 25 (2013), and United States 

v. Bagdasarian, 652 F.3d I I 13 (9 th Cir. 201 I), contain some discussion of first amendment 

issues, but they too ultimately fail to provide this court with any rational basis to conclude that 

the charges in the present case are wlconstitutional. Even as persuasive authority, the value of 

Je}fries is obviously undermined by the fact that the defendant finds support for his claim not in 

that court's unanimous decision, but in a separate dubitante opinion filed by the same judge who 

authored the controlling opinion of the court. More importantly, as to the portion of the 

dubitante opinion that the defendant asks the court here to adopt-namely, that proof of a 

specific intent to threaten is constitutionally required because a "threat," by virtue of that word's 

common understanding, conveys a notion of an intent to inflict harm-Elonis expressly rejected 
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that contention, stating that the term "threat" "speaks to what the statement conveys-not to the 

mental state of [its] author." Elonis v. United States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2008 "("For example, an 

anonymous letter that says 'I'm going to kill you' is 'an expression of an intention to inflict loss 

or hann' regardless of the author's intent. A victim who receives that letter in the mail has 

received a threat, even if the author believes (wrongly) that his message will be taken as a 

joke."). 

With regard to United States v. Bagdasarian, supra, 652 F.3d I I 13, the defendant's 

reliance on Ninth Circuit precedent is understandable given that circuit's determination that 

Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 535 (2003), compels proof of a 

specific intent to threaten as a necessary part of a constitutionally punishable threat. As our state 

Supreme Court noted in State v. Krijger, 313 Conn. 434, 451 n.lO, 97 A.3d 946 (2014), 

however, the view of the Ninth Circuit does not represent the majority view of the courts, and it 

is at odds with the law "traditionally applied" in Connecticut. The court, therefore, declines the 

defendant's invitation to adopt the Ninth Circuit's view, and, accordingly, it rejects his claim that 

the charges against him are unconstitutional because they fail to allege that he acted with the 

specific intent to threaten. 

Proof of Recklessness Satisfies the First Amendment 

Finally, the court here concludes that proof of a defendant's specific intent to threaten is 

not a constitutional requirement in prosecutions based on threatening speech, and that 

recklessness strikes the most appropriate balance between one person's right to free speech and 

another's right to be free from the fear and disruption that true threats engender. In Elonis, the 

court appears to have considered, and rejected, the claim that an intent-to-threaten requirement is 
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required by law. In the context ofa 18 U.S.C. § 875 (c) prosecution, Elonis held that the 

government's obligation to prove the defendant's subjective awareness of the nature of the threat 

could be satisfied by evidence showing that he transmitted the communication either "for the 

purpose of issuing a threat" or "with knowledge that the communication will be viewed as a 

threat." Elonis v. United States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2012. The first of these alternatives obviously 

relates to proof of the defendant's specific intent-that is, his conscious objective in transmitting 

the communication. By contrast, however, the second alternative looks not at the objective the 

defendant sought to achieve by transmitting the communication, but instead at what he knew 

about the character of his communication. By expressing its approval of this second type of 

proof, Elonis indicates that criminal liability can be validly based on evidence that a person knew 

that a communication would be viewed as a threat, even if that person transmitted the 

communication for a purpose other than as a means by which to threaten the victim. Elonis 

signals, therefore, that the state is not required to prove, in cases of this variety, that a defendant 

transmitted a threat with the specific intent to threaten its target. Indeed, in his dissenting 

opinion in E/onis, Justice Thomas expressed precisely that view, noting that trial courts "can 

safely infer that a majority of [the Supreme] Court would not adopt an intent-to-threaten 

requirement ... . " Elonis v. United States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2018. 

If criminal liability can be validly imposed when a defendant acts with knowledge that a 

communication will be viewed as a threat, then liability can also be imposed when a defendant 

recklessly communicates a threat. As Justice Alito wrote in his concurring and dissenting 

opinion in Elonis, "[t]here can be no real dispute that recklessness regarding a risk of serious 

harm is wrongful conduct. In a wide variety of contexts, we have described reckless conduct as 
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morally culpable. . .. Someone who acts recklessly with respect to conveying a threat 

necessarily grasps that he is not engaged in innocent conduct. He is not merely careless. He is 

aware that others could regard his statements as a threat, but he delivers them anyway." Elonis v. 

United States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2015. In Justice Alito's view-one shared by the court 

here--proof of recklessness in cases such as these is therefore consistent with the first 

amendment and "[nJothing in the Court's [majority opinion in Elonis] prevents lower courts from 

adopting that standard." Id., 2016. 

Justice Alito's description of the nature of recklessness as a state of mind is reflected in 

the language of Connecticut statutes. Under General Statutes § 53a-3 (13), a person acts 

"recklessly" with respect to a result or to a circumstance describe.d by a statute when "he is aware 

of arid consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that such result will occur or 

that such circumstance exists." (Emphasis added.) As this statutory definition makes clear, 

proof of recklessness requires proof of the defendant's "awareness," that is, proof of what the 

defendant actually knew. For proof of recklessness, it is not enough for the state to show that a 

reasonable person would have known of the risk, or even that the defendant should have known 

of it. Rather, the defendant must be proven to have subjectively known of the risk described by 

the statute, and then to have acted in conscious disregard of that risk. 

In order to prove recklessness in a prosecution for threatening speech and to demonstrate 

that the defendant was aware of the risk of harm described in the statute, the state therefore will 

be required to present evidence, consistent with the requirement of Elonis, that the defendant 

knew that his statement would be viewed as a threat. Given that burden of proof, there is, in this 

court's judgment, no legitimate constitutional purpose to be served by imposing on the state the 
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further obligation to prove what the defendant may have subjectively sought to accomplish by 

transmitting the threat-that is, to show the defendant's purpose for doing what he did. As 

Justice Alita noted in E/onis, it ultimately does not matter that a defendant may have 

communicated a threat specifically "for a therapeutic purpose, to deal with the pain ... of a 

wrenching event, or for cathartic reasons;" (internal quotation marks omitted) Elonis v. United 

. States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 20 I 6 (Alito, J. concurring and dissenting); and not with the conscious 

objective of causing fear and harm to the victim. The particular evil of a true threat is that it 

"works" either way because, as Justice Alita pointed out, "whether or not the person making a 

threat intends [for his words J to cause harm, the damage is the same." Id. 

For these reasons, an intent-to-threaten requirement seems particularly ill-suited for cases 

like the present one where the defendant does not communicate the threat directly to the person 

who is threatened by it. If the state is required in such cases to prove that it was the defendant's 

conscious objective to threaten the victim, then the defendant would be undeservedly afforded 

the following built-in defense: "If it really was my conscious objective to threaten the victim, 

then why didn't I send the threat to the victim directly?" The state should not be required to 

rebut this defense if the evidence clearly demonstrates that the defendant acted recklessly by 

being aware that his statement would be seen as a threat, and by communicating it anyway. 

To require proof of specific intent in these cases will serve only to promote the type of 

"indirect" threat that has become so prevalent on social media and the internet, and to insulate 

from criminal liability-to a degree not required by the first amendment-those who traffic in 

that type of threatening speech. Although the means of communicating threats, especially in 

today's digital world, may in certain circumstances have become more indirect, the same cannot 
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be said about the damage those threats cause to the victim's sense of safety and security. To 

paraphrase Justice Alito, the resulting damage of these threats is always direct. 

At least as a matter of Connecticunaw, recklessness will require proof that the defendant 

acted with knowledge of the threatening nature of his communication and with reckless disregard 

of the substantial risks that would be created by the transmission of the communication to others. 

As a result, and consistent with a fair reading of Elonis, the court here is firmly convinced that 

when it is proven beyond a reasonable doubt that a defendant was aware that a statement would 

be seen as threatening, and then intentionally communicated the statement in the face of that 

knowledge and with an awareness tbat statutory harm could be caused, then, regardless of what 

that defendant's conscious objective may have been in conveying the threat, neither the 

defendant nor the words he expressed are entitled to first amendment protection. 

Conclusion 

Because the defendant's motion has challenged the constitutionality of the statutes 

charged in the present case, there is a fundamental legal principle that must inform the court's 

ruling. "[A] validly enacted statute carries with it a strong presumption of constitutionality [and] 

those who challenge a statute's constitutionality must sustain the heavy burden of proving its 

unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. 

Rizzo, 266 Conn. 171,291,833 A.2d 363 (2003). Given this presumption of constitutionality, 

"when a question of [the] constitutionality [of a statute] is raised, courts must approach it with 

caution, examine it with care, and sustain the legislation unless its invalidity is clear." (Internal 

quotation marks omitted.) State v. McCahill, 261 Conn. 492, 505,811 A.2d 667 (2002). In the 

court's opinion and for the reasons stated herein, the defendant has failed to sustain his heavy 
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burden of proving that the statutes charged against him are unconstitutional. Accordingly, his 

renewed motion to dismiss is hereby derued. 

BY THE COURT 

GOLD,' . 
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Opinion 

VERDICT AND MEMORANDUM OF DECISION 

On March 12, 2015, the defendant waived his 
right to a jury and elected to be tried by the court. 
The court heard evidence from twenty-five 
witnesses between April 6, 2015 and May 4, 
2015, many of whom were called first by the state 
and then recalled by the defense. After the parties 
had rested, they sought and were granted 
permission to file post-trial memoranda of facts 
and law. Prior to the date on which these briefs 
were to be filed, the parties [*2] were granted 
additional time to review the United States 
Supreme Court's decision in Elonis v. United 
States, 575 U.S. _, 135 S.Ct. 2001, 192 L.Ed.2d 
1 (2015), which was issued on June 1,2015, and, 
if necessary, to submit supplemental memoranda 
on the significance of that case to the matters at 
issue here. Briefs were eventually submitted by 
both parties, with the last being received by the 
court on July 7, 2015. 

The court has considered all of the evidence 
presented by the parties at trial, and has drawn 
such inferences that it deems reasonable and 
logical from that evidence. The court also has 
resolved all questions of credibility, and decided 
the proper weight to be given to the testimony of 
each witness and to the other evidence that it has 
received. Against these factual findings, the court 
has applied the law that pertains to this case and to 
the charges alleged in the Information. 

The defendant, Edward "Ted" Taupier, is charged 
in a five-count, long-form Amended Information 
dated March 10, 2015 (Information), with the 
crimes of threatening in the first degree, in 
violation of General Statutes §§53a-62(a)(3), 
53a-61aa(a)(3), and 53a-61(a)(l); threatening in 
the second degree, in violation of General Statutes 
§§53a-62(a)(3) and 53a-61(a)(l); two counts of 
disorderly conduct, each in violation of General 
Statutes §53a-182(a)(2); and breach of the peace 
in the second degree, in violation of General 
Statutes §§53a-181(a)(3) and 53a-6J(a)(l). Each 
charge relates to the state's allegation that the 
defendant authored and sent to others an email in 
which he threatened to shoot the Superior Court 
judge who was overseeing the progress of the 
defendant's dissolution of marriage action and 
presiding over the pretrial issues in that case. 

In the sections that follow, the court will indicate 
its verdict as to the each of the charges-verdicts 
that this court today announced from the bench in 
open court in the presence of the parties-and 
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then set forth the facts and law on which those 
verdicts are based. 

at considerable length. For convenience and ease 
of understanding, these facts are catalogued under 
separate headings that identify the nature and 
timing of the events described. I. THE COURT'S VERDICT 

Having applied the law applicable to this case to 
the facts it has found, the court's [*3] verdict as to 
each count of the Information is as follows: 

The Family Court Action: Matters of Significance 
Occurring Prior to August 2014 

As to the first count, on the charge of threatening 
in the first degree, the court hereby finds the 
defendant guilty. 

As to the second count, on the charge of 
threatening in the second degree, the court, in 
light of its verdict on the first count, does not 
return a verdict. 1 

As to the third count, on the charge of disorderly 
conduct, the court hereby finds the defendant 
guilty. 

As to the fourth count, on the charge of disorderly 
conduct, the court hereby finds the defendant 
guilty. 

As to the fifth count, on the charge of breach of 
the peace in the second degree, the court hereby 
finds the defendant guilty. 

II. THE COURT'S FACTIJAL FINDINGS 

The verdicts in this case are based on the following 
facts that the court [*4] finds were proven by the 
reliable and credible evidence presented at trial. 
As will be explained later in this opinion, the 
determination of whether a defendant's allegedly 
threatening statements may be prosecuted and 
punished under the law requires that they be 
examined and considered in light of their entire 
factual context and with reference to all 
surrounding events. By necessity, therefore, the 
court's factual findings in this case must be set out 

The defendant was married to Tanya Taupier on 
September 25, 2004, and the couple had two 
children: a son born November 4, 2005, and a 
daughter born March 23, 2007. By September 
2012, the relationship between the defendant and 
his wife had significantly and irretrievably 
deteriorated. As a result of that breakdown, Ms. 
Taupier moved out of the family home located at 
6 Douglas Drive in Cromwell, Connecticut, and 
soon thereafter commenced a dissolution of 
marriage action, Taupier v. Tauuier [*5] , Docket 
No. FA-12-4018627-S (family case), against the 
defendant in the Hartford Judicial District family 
court. Ms. Taupier has been represented by 
Attorneys Geraldine Ficarra and Michael Peck 
from the filing of the dissolution matter in October 
2012, to the present time. 

Although many motions and other pleadings were 
filed by the parties in the early stages of the 
family case, the court here finds two of those 
filings, in particular, to be relevant to the criminal 
proceedings currently at issue. The first of those 
filings was a written agreement entered into by 
the parties on March 6, 2013, and approved by 
and made an order of the family court, 
Carbonneau, J., on the same date. That agreement, 
and the court order incorporating it, established 
limitations on the defendant's possession of 
ftrearms and ammunition during the pendency of 
the dissolution action, and specifically provided 
as follows: 

The defendant husband shall remove all his 
guns, firearms & annmunition from the marital 

I General Statutes §53a-61aa provides that a person cannot be convicted of both threatening in the first degree under subdivision (3) 
of that statute and threatening in the second degree in connection with the same incident. Given that this court has found the defendant 
guilty of threatening in the first degree under subdivision (3) by its verdict on the first count, the court does not return a verdict on the 
charge of threatening in the second degree as alleged in the second count. 
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home at 6 Douglas Drive, Cromwell, CT and 
place them in the custody of Dan Satulo who 
shall keep them in a gun safe until further 
order of the court. The defendant shall obtain 
a receipt for said items along [*6] with an 
inventory and give it to his counsel who shall 
give it to plaintiff's counsel. The defendant 
shall not attempt to retrieve these items until 
further order of the court. The defendant shall 
not obtain any new/additional firearms during 
the pendency of this action. 2 

had not gone to judgment by the spring of 2014. 
At that time, the Honorable Elizabeth A. Bozzuto, 
whose duties as a family court judge in Hartford 
included the management of cases and dockets, 
was alerted to and became involved in the family . 
case because it had been pending for 
approximately a year and a half. Believing that the 
case needed to be actively monitored, Judge 
Bozzuto assumed sole responsibility for the 
management of the case to ensure that [*8] it 
would either be resolved by the parties or 
adjudicated by the court in a timely manner. To 
that end, Judge Bozzuto scheduled status 
conferences with the lawyers and the guardian ad 
litem in order to oversee the matter's progress. On 
May 23, 2014, she also ordered a full 
comprehensive evaluation to be completed by the 
Family Services Unit of the Court Support Services 
Division and directed the parties to cooperate 
fully with that evaluation . 

On March 14,2013, and in purported compliance 
with this firearms restriction, the defendant turned 
over to Dan Sutula, at Mr. Sutula's residence in 
Harwinton, Connecticut, thirteen firearms and a 
large quantity of ammunition. These items were 
more specifically described in a typed inventory 
prepared by the defendant and bearing the title 
"Edward Thupier Firearms Inventory- To be held 
until court says otherwise," which was signed by 
the [*7] defendant and Mr. Sutula at the time of 
the transfer. 

The second relevant filing from the family case is 
an agreement pertaining to the Taupier children 
entered into by the parties on August 13, 2013, 
and on the same date approved by and issued as a 
further order of the family court, Carbonneau, J. 
The second paragraph of the order specifically 
addressed the children's schooling and provided 
as follows: 

During the school year, the children shall have 
primary residency with mother and attend 
Windermere Elementary School in Ellington. 
There should be no change in the children's 
school pending written agreement by the 
parents or further Court order. 

Shortly after issuing this order, the Family Services 
Unit advised Judge Bozzuto that its ability to 
complete the court-ordered evaluation was being 
thwarted by the defendant's persistent effort to 
inject into the evaluation process his personal 
views and opinions regarding the family court 
system generally. In response to this report, Judge 
Bozzuto conducted an in-court proceeding on 
June 18,2014, at which the parties were present. 
During that hearing, Judge Bozzuto advised the 
defendant that he was free to express his political 
beliefs and his views of the family court process, 
but ordered him to refrain from doing so during 
the interviews being conducted in the context of 
the comprehensive evaluation. Before concluding 
the hearing, Judge Bozzuto [*9] also reiterated to 
the parties that, going forward, she alone would 
be managing the case and monitoring its progress. 

Although the parties had negotiated the Children's Enrollment in Cromwell Schools: 
above-referenced agreements, the family case still August 16, 2014-August 22, 2014 

2 This order appears here exactly as it was written, with the coun neither correcting the errors it may contain (Le. the actual name of 
the person designated to hold the defendant's firearms is "Dan Sutula," not 'TIan Satulo"'), nor signaling those errors with the notation 
'''[sic].'' The court has followed the same practice with regard to the particular words that appear in the emails and in the excerpt from 
the transcript of the radio program that are quoted verbatim later in this opinion. 
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In accordance with the parenting plan then in 
place, the Taupier children were visiting and 
staying with the defendant in his Cromwell home 
from August 16, 2014 until August 24, 2014. 
Either shortly before or during that week, Ms. 
Taupier received a series of emails from the 
defendant in which he indicated that he would be 
enrolling the children in the Cromwell public 
school system. Aware that the existing court order 
expressly provided for the children to attend 
school in the town of Ellington, Ms. Taupier 
advised the defendant in email replies that she 
was not in agreement with the change. In his 
responses to Ms. Taupier's objections, the 
defendant reiterated his insistence that the children 
be registered in Cromwell, and intimated that the 
children would not be returned to Ms. Taupier 
absent the school change. 

emailed by Attorney Ficarra to the defendant on 
the afternoon of August 22, 2014.3 

The Emails at Issue: August 22, 2014-August 23, 
2014 

Soon after receiving the contempt motions from 
Attorney Ficarra in the afternoon or early evening 
of August 22,2014, the defendant shared them or 
discussed their substance with other persons by 
email. At 7 p.m. on that date, Anne Stevenson, 
who had become aware of the contempt motions 
and their manner of service upon the defendant, 
emailed the defendant, copying on the email 
Michael Nowacki and others, under the subject 
line "third times a charm?" Both Ms. Stevenson 
and Mr. Nowacki had been involved in family 
court reform efforts and previously [*12J had 
communicated with the defendant regarding those 
effocts and their individual experiences within 
that court system. In her email. Ms. Stevenson 
offered the following opinion as to the contempt 
motions filed by Attorney Ficarra: "I still don't 
understand how the attorney can file a motion 
without citing a single law in support, not sign 
them, not get them endorsed by the court, then 
serves you by email. Is that legal?" 

On August 20, 2014, Ms. TauDier received an 
email from the defendant stating that he had 
registered the children in Cromwell and that they 
would be attending the Edna C. Stevens 
Elementary [*10J School (Stevens School). Upon 
learning of this, Ms. Taupier contacted her 
attorney, Attorney Ficarra, to seek enforcement of 
the existing court order. On August 22, 2014, 
Attorney Ficarra prepared an application for an 
emergency ex parte order of custody that she 
planned to file with the court and serve on the 
defendant on the following Monday, August 25, 
2014. Attorney Ficarra also prepared a motion for 
contempt and a separate pleading seeking an 
immediate hearing on that motion (together, the 
contempt motions). The contempt motions were 

At 7:16p.m., in a response he directed to Ms. 
Stevenson and the defendant (among others), Mr. 
Nowacki expressed his understanding of the 
defendant's legal status and the propriety of 
Attorney Ficarra's contempt motions. Under the 
same subject line, "third times a charm?" Mr. 
Nowacki stated: 

He is self represented. Previous orders of the 
court remain intact until they are modified. 

3 Attorney Ficarra emailed these motions directly to the defendant because he had fUoo an appearance in the fantily case on August 
11,2014, as a self-represented party, and had indicated on that appearance form that he would accept pleadings and service electronically. 
See Practice Book §JO-13. The defendant originaJly had been represented in the family case by Brown, Paindiris and Scott, a firm that 
had appeared on November 15, 2012. Three months later, on February 11 , 2013, the Law Office of Henry B. Hurwitz appeared on the 

defendant's behalf in lieu of Brown, Paindiris and Scott. Thereafter, [*l1J by motion dated December 3, 201 3, Attorney Hurwitz sought 

permission to withdraw his appearance on the stated grounds that the defendant had insulted and demeaned him, had accused him of 
stealing, and had threatened to sue Attorney Hurwitz for malpractice. Although that motion was never ruJed upon by the family court, 

the firm of Lobo and Associates, LLe filed an appearance on the defendant's behaJf on January 10.2014, in lieu of the earlier appearance 

of Attorney Hurwitz. Lobo and Associates. LLC remained the defendant's counsel of record until he filed his pro se appearance on 

August II, 2014. 
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Ted is on shaky ground here in enrolling his 
daughter in Cromwell. The court order is the 
prevailing order-like it or not. He could be 
incarcerated for contempt. While it may not 
seem fair, it doesn't matter what any of us 
thinks. Only Bozzuto's opinion matters. 

That same evening, Jennifer Verraneault,4 who 
was acquainted with the defendant, Mr. Nowacki 
and Ms. Stevenson and shared their desire [*13] 
to improve the family court system, learned 
through email correspondence of the contempt 
motions filed against the defendant, and of Mr. 
Nowacki's opinion as to their legal merit. At 9:21 
p.m., she emailedthedefendant.Mr. Nowacki and 
Ms. Stevenson to express her agreement with Mr. 
Nowacki's view, writing simply: "Mike is right." 

At 11:24 p.m. on August 22,2014, the defendant 
sent the email that is the immediate subject of the 
charges in the present matter. Under a modified 
subject line that read "third times a charm? plus 
knowledge" the defendant emailed the following 
remarks to Ms. Verraneault, Mr. Nowacki and Ms. 
Stevenson, and copied the email to three other 
individuals: Susan Skipp, Sunny Kelley and Paul 
Boyne:5 

Facts: JUST an FYI 

1) 1m still married to that pas ... we own 

between her master bedroom and a 
cemetery that provides cover and 
concealment. 

4) They could try and put me in jail but 
that would start the ringing of a bell that 
can be undone ... 

5) Someone wants to take my kids better 
have an f35 and smart bombs ... otherwise 
they will be found and adjusted ... they 
should seek shelter on the ISS (Int space 
station). 

6) BTW a 308 at 250yrd with a double 
pane drops .5 inches per foot beyond the 
glass and loses 7% of ft lbs of force @ 

250yrds-non armor piercing ball 
arnrnunition 

7) Mike may be right ... unless you sleep 
with level 3 body armor or live on the ISS 
you should be careful of actions. 

8) Fathers do not cause cavities, this lS 

complete bullshit. 

9) Photos of children are not illegal-

10) Fucking Nannies is not against the 
law, especially when there is no fucking 
going on, just ask Buzzuto ... she is the 
ultimate Nanny fucker. 

our children, there is no decision ... its It is not known when Mr. Nowacki first accessed 
50150 or whatever we decide. The court is this email, but he replied to it [*15] early the 
dog shit and has no right to shit they don ' t following morning, August 23, 2014, at 7:51 a.m. 
have a rule on. Under the subject line "third times a charm? plus 

2) They can steal my kids from my cold knowledge" Mr. Nowacki directed the following 
dead bleeding cordite filled fists ... as my response solely to the defendant: "Ted, There are 
60 round mag falls to the floor and im disturbing comments made in this email. You will 
dying as a I change out to the next 30 rd. be well served to NOT send such communications 

to anyone." 

3) Buzzuto [*14] lives in watertown with Less than an hour later at 8:50 a.m., the defendant 
her boys and Nanny ... there is 245 yrds replied to Mr. Nowacki's comment and warning, 

4 Ms, Verraneault's involvement in this case is addressed at greater length below. 

S Ms. Skipp, Ms. Kelley and Mr. Boyne also were involved in family court reform efforts and had previously communicated and 
interacted with the defendant on that subject. 
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again under the same subject heading, with the 
following: 

I don't make threats, I present facts and 
arguments. The argument today is what has all 
the energy that has expended done to really 
effect change, the bottom line is-insanity is 
defined as doing the something over and over 
and expecting a different outcome . . . we 
should all be done ... and change the game to 
get results . .. that's what Thomas Jefferson 
wrote about constantly ... 

Hi Mike: the thoughts that the courts want to 
take my civil rights away is equally disturbing, 
I did not have children, to have them abused 
by an illegal court system. 

My civil rights and those of my children and 
family will always be protected by my breath 
and hands. 

I know where she lives and I know what I 
need to bring about change ... 

These evil court assholes and self appointed 
devils will only bring about an escalation that 
will impact their personal lives and families. 

When they figure out they are not protected 
from bad things and their families are taken 
from them in the same way they took yours 
then the system will change. 

This past week in FERGESON there was a lot 
of hurt caused by an illegal act, if it were my 
son, [*16] shot, there would be an old 
testament response. 

2nd amendment rights are around to keep a 
police state from violating my families rights. 

Don't be disturbed .. . be happy there are new 
minds taking up a fight to change a system. 

Here is my daily prayer: 

I will never quit. I persevere and thrive on 
adversity. 

My Nation and Family expects [*17] me 
to be physically harder and mentally 
stronger than my enemies. 

If knocked down, I will get back up, every 
time. 

I will draw on every remaining ounce of 
strength to protect my FAMILY & 
teammates and to accomplish our mission. 

I am never out of the fight.- ML 

Mr. Nowacki tersely replied to the defendant at 
9:08 a.m., as follows: "Violence is not a rational 
response to injustice. Please refrain from 
communicating with me if you are going to allude 
to violence as a response." 

If they--<:ourts . . . need sheeeple they will 
have to look elsewhere. If they feel it' s 
disturbing that I will fiercely protect my 
family with all my life ... they would be 
correct, I will gladly accept my death and 
theirs protecting my civil rights under my 
uniform code of justice. 

Reaction and Response of Jennifer Verraneault: 

They do not want me to escalate . .. and they 
know I will gladly . .. 

I've seen years of fighting go un-noticed, 
people are still suffering . . . Judges still 
fucking sheeple over. Time to change the 
game. 

August 23, 2014-August 24, 2014 

As noted above, the defendant also had sent his 
August 22, 2014 email to Jennifer Verraneault. 
Ms. Verraneault first accessed and read that email 
on the morning of Saturday, August 23, 2014,6 
and, like Mr. Nowacki, found its content to be 
disturbing. She was especially frightened by those 
portions of the email that were directed at Judge 

6 At that time, Ms. Verraneault was traveling in Massachusetts with a group of friends and was not to return to Connecticut until August 
24, 2014. 
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Bozzuto, particularly given the detailed references 
to the judge's home. Within minutes of reading 
the email, and because of the concerns and fears 
she had about it, Ms. Verraneault emaiJed the 
defendant telling him that she was worried about 
him. The defendant never responded to Ms. 
Verraneault, which served [*18] only to heighten 
her level of distress. 

generally the nature of the defendant's email and 
its references to a judge, but did not identify either 
the defendant or Judge Bozzuto by name. 

I 

Removal of the Children from Stevens School: 
August 25, 2014-August 27,2014 

On the morning of August 25, 2014, the 
application for an emergency order of custody 
that had been prepared by Attorney Ficarra was 
submitted to the family court and was promptly 
considered by Judge Bozzuto.7 Although she 
denied the request for temporary custody, Judge 
Bozzuto ordered that the parties were to abide by 
the August 13, 2013 agreement regarding the 
children's schooling and that, "consistent 
therewith, the children shall attend school in 
Ellington, forthwith."8 Later on August 25, 2014, 
the defendant was served by a judicial marshal 
with Judge Bozzuto' s order. 

Unsure as to what action, if any, she should take, 
Ms. Verraneault discussed the email and its 
contents over the course of that weekend with 
some of her traveling partners in Massachusetts, 
and by phone and email with other friends who 
were involved with her in family court reform. 
Among the friends with whom she spoke over that 
weekend was Connecticut State Representative 
Minnie Gonzalez. Around that time in 2014, Ms. 
Verraneault and Representative Gonzalez talked 
with one another on a nearly daily basis regarding 
family court issues and legislative efforts related 
thereto. On August 23, 2014, Ms. Verraneault 
forwarded Representative Gonzalez a copy of the 
defendant' s email, and during a follow-up phone 
call later that day, read the defendant's email to 
her as well. 

Ms. Verraneault also sought advice that weekend 
from Attorney Linda Allard. Ms. Verraneault and 
Attorney Allard had become acquainted in the 
course of their joint service on a state task force 
addressing family court issues. In speaking with 

[*19] Attorney Allard by phone from 
Massachusetts, Ms. Verraneault described 

On Wednesday, August 27, 2014, and in 
accordance with Judge Bozzuto's order that the 
children attend school in Ellington, Ms. Taupier 
took steps to remove her children from Stevens 
School. Arriving at the school with Cromwell 
police because she feared a possible confrontation 
with the defendant, Ms. Taupier went to the 
school office and took [*21] her children into her 
care. As she left the school with the children and 
walked toward her car, she observed that the 
defendant was in the school parking lot and that 
he was videotaping the events as they unfolded. 9 

Police efforts to persuade the defendant "not to 

7 This application had taken on greater urgency in the shared view of Attorney Ficarra and Ms. Taupier because the defendant had not 

returned the children to Ms. Taupier at 7 p.m. on August 24. 2014, as required by the terms of the earlier referenced summer parenting 

plan. Prior to that agreed-upon time, Ms. Tanpier had emailed the defendant to remind [*20] him that she would be at his Cromwell 

horne at 7 p.m. to pick up the children. The defendant did not respond to that emaiL Upon her arrival at the defendant's home, Ms. 

Taupier discovered tbat the shades were drawn and no one was home. Ms. Taupier tried to contact the defendant on his cell phone, on 

his home phone and by email to advise him that she was at his home and would go to the police if she did not hear back from him. When 

she did not bear from him, Ms. TauDier went to the police in Cromwell that night to make a report of what bad transpired, and also 

contacted Attorney Ficarra to advise her. The defendant still had not returned the children to Ms. Taupier's care as of August 27, 2014, 

when the events next described in the text occurred. 

8 Judge Bozzuto also scheduled a hearing on the issues of custody and visitation for September 2, 2014. 

9 A portion of this video was introduced as evidence at the trial and viewed by the court. 
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make matters worse" for the children went largely 
unheeded, as the defendant can be heard on the 
video directing a series of mocking comments to 
the police and Ms. Taupier all in the presence of 
the children. At one point in the video, after Ms. 
Taupier allowed the children to share a few 
moments with the defendant, the Taupiers' 
daughter clearly can be seen and heard crying.lo 
Eventually, Ms. Taupier was able to place the 
children in her car and drive from the scene. As 
she was doing so, the defendant, making apparent 
reference to his intention to upload the video to 
the internet, can be heard on the video stating to 
Ms. Taupier and the police: "You Thbe. Look for 
it tonight." 

Initial Involvement of Law Enforcement: August 
27, 2014-August 28,2014 

Judge Bozzuto and the defendant by name, and 
forwarded to Attorney Allard a screen shot of the 
contents of the defendant's email." 

After discussing the matter with Ms. Verraneault, 
Attorney Allard immediately phoned the family 
court clerk's office in Hartford and was directed 
by a representative there to contact Judicial 
Marshals Services. Attorney Allard did so, and 
eventually spoke with Iudicial Marshal Brian 
Clemens and informed him of the contents of the 
defendant's email. Iudicial Marshal Clemens 
alerted the Connecticut State Police at Troop H in 
Hartford and then, knowing that Judge Bozzuto 
was traveling out of state at the time, left a 
message on her personal cell phone asking that 
she call him. When Judge Bozzuto returned [*24] 
his call, he told her that she and her family had 
been the subject of a threat made by the defendant 
and that State Police investigators were in the 
process of retrieving a copy of the threatening 
communication. Early that same evening, Judicial 
Marshals Services forwarded Judge Bozzuto a 
copy of the screen shot of the defendant's email, 
along with a photograph of the defendant. 

On the afternoon of August 27, 2014, Ms. 
Verraneault received a phone call from 
Representative Gonzalez in which Representative 
Gonzalez reported having seen a video of the 
Taupier children being removed from school in 
Cromwell earlier that day. After being told that the 
children could be seen and heard crying on the 
video, Ms. Verraneault feared that the events at 
the school might, in her words, put the defendant 
"over the edge." Recalling the statements the 
defendant had made in his email, and despite fears 
she harbored about her own safety if he were to 
learn that she was the person who had disclosed 
the email to law enforcement authorities, Ms. 
Verraneault contacted Attorney Allard on August 
28, 2014, regarding the need to alert police and 
Iudge Bozzuto of the email's content. Unlike her 
communications with Attorney Allard the previous 
weekend, Ms. Verraneault at this point identified 

Reaction and Response of Judge Bozzuto: August 
28, 2014 and Days Following 

The information Judge Bozzuto received from 
Judicial Marshals Services caused her to fear for 
her own safety and that of her family. When she 
learned that the threat was made by the defendant, 
Judge Bozzuto recalled who the defendant was 
and the contentious nature of his dissolution 
action. She also recalled that court personnel 
involved in the defendant's family case, including 
the guardian ad litem . and counselors with the 

)0 The video images of the defendant holding and attemptiog to comfort his crying daughter with one hand apparently were filmed by 

him with a camera he was simultaneously [*22] holding and operating in his other hand. 

11 Ms. Verraneau!t chose to send a screen shot of the content [*23] of the defendant's email. rather than forwarding the email itself 

in its original format, because the screen shot enabled Ms. Verraneault to provide Attorney Allard with the defendant's statements without 

also disclosing the identities of the other individuals who had been recipients of the defendant's email, and whose names appeared in 

the email header. Although Ms. Verraneauit had made the personal choice to report the defendant's threat to law enforcement, she did 

not wish for her decision to oblige the other recipients of the email to become involved if they preferred not to do so. 
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Family Services Unit, at times had expressed 
concerns about their personal safety in their 
interactions with him. 

Defendant's Arrest and Simultaneous 
His Home: August 29, 2014 

Search of 

The investigation into the defendant's email began 
on the afternoon of August 28, 2014, when 
Judicial Marshal Clemens contacted Connecticut 
State Police. By the next day, August 29, 2014, 
Detective Daniel Dejesus and Trooper Andrew 
Katreyna of the Central District Major Crimes 
Unit had prepared and applied for, and were 
granted by the court, Mullarkey, J., two warrants: 
an arrest warrant authorizing the defendant's arrest 
for the crimes of threatening in the first degree 
and harassment in the second degree; and a 
so-called risk warrant, issued pursuant to General 
Statutes §29-38c, authorizing police to enter the 
defendant's home at 6 Douglas Drive, Cromwell, 
and to seize any fireanns and ammunition [*27) 
found therein. Both warrants were executed by 
police on August 29, 2014, at the defendant's 
Cromwell home. The defendant was arrested 
pursuant to the authority of the arrest warrant, and 
in the simultaneous search of the defendant's 

Upon reviewing the screen shot of the email, 
Judge Bozzuto was immediately alarmed by the 
extent of the defendant's knowledge of aspects of 
her personal life and relationships. Most 
frightening to Judge Bozzuto [*25) was the 
defendant's intimate know ledge of details 
regarding her personal residence, including not 
justthe town in which she resided, but her home's 
proximity to a nearby cemetery, the general 
topography of her property and the land around it, 
the location of the master bedroom within the 
home, and the fact that the bedroom had 
double-pane windows that looked out over the 
rear yard. The email was so detailed and specific 
in its substance and so threatening in its tone that 
Judge Bozzuto concluded that, in her words, the 
defendant was "desperate," and had "become 
completely unraveled" and "really d[id]n't care 
what happens." 

In light of these fears, Judge Bozzuto, while still 
traveling, contacted her electrician and the security 
company responsible for the alarm system at her 
home and upgraded its overall level of security. 
She asked that local police check on the status of 
her home and to determine whether it was safe. 

home authorized by the risk warrant, the police 
located and seized fifteen firearms, consisting of 
both handguns and long guns, along with a 
number of pistol and rifle ammunition magazines 
of various calibers, and mUltiple rounds of 
ammunition also of various calibers. 

Upon the judge's return to Connecticut, police 
officers were stationed outside her home for a Law Enforcement Investigation re Defendant's 

week or more, and at work judicial marshals 
escorted her to and from her car, particularly 
when she was working late. At her request, local 
police contacted her children's schools [*26) and 
provided officials there with the defendant's 
photograph so that they could be on alert and 
protect her children. Concerned that the defendant 
might be prepared to do harm to others outside her 
family, Judge Bozzuto also took steps to see that 
the threatening nature of the defendant's email 
was brought to the attention of Ms. Taupier, as 
well as to court personnel who had interacted with 
the defendant during proceedings in the family 
case. 

Firearms 

As their investigation continued in the days shortly 
after the defendant's arrest, the police came to 
learn of the existence of the March 6, 2013 family 
court agreement and order that had prohibited the 
defendant from possessing any firearms and 
pursuant to which the defendant had purportedly 
surrendered all of his firearms to Mr. Sutula on 
March 14, 2013. With that information becoming 
known to them and in light of their August 29, 
2014 seizure of multiple firearms from the 
defendant's home, the police went to the home of 
Mr. Sutula on September 2, 2014, to conduct 
further investigation. 
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Mr. Sutula confirmed to the police that he had, in 
[*28] fact, received thirteen firearms from the 

defendant on March 14, 2013. He went on to 
disclose, however, that at some point during the 
mid-summer of 20 I 4, the defendant had contacted 
him indicating he wanted his guns back, and that 
on August 27, 2014, the defendant came to Mr. 
Sutula's home and retrieved six of those guns. 12 

Mr. Sutula told the police that he still possessed 
the remaining seven firearms, and then voluntarily 
turned them over to the police upon their request. 

of ammunition that were compatible with and 
could be fired from each of the four firearms that 
had been examined. 

Other facts found by the court will be noted and 
addressed as necessary during the court's 
consideration of the charges. 

III. COURT'S CONSIDERATION OF THE 
CHARGES 

Having concluded that the facts set forth above 
were established at the trial, the court now turns 
its attention to the charges alleged in this case to 
determine whether, on the basis of these facts, the 
state has proven anyone or more of these charges 
beyond a reasonable doubt. 

A. 

Although the various charges alleged in the 
Information differ in some respects, they each 
[*31] require proof of two common elements: 

first, that the defendant is the person who authored 
and intentionally sent the email at issue; and 
second, that the email communicated the type of 
threatening language that may be punishable by 
law. The court will address these two elements at 
the outset, with the court's findings and 
determinations hereinafter explained being 
applicable to each count of the Information. 

Although having seized a total of twenty-two 
firearms in the course of their 
investigation-fifteen from the defendant's home 
and seven from Mr. Sutula-the police later 
specifically examined the fifteen weapons that 
had been seized from the defendant's possession 
on August 29, 2014, to determine whether any of 
them was capable of firing a projectile from 245 
yards, the distance that the defendant had 
referenced [*30] in his email. After four of those 
fifteen firearms were identified as possibly 
possessing that long-range capacity, Trooper 
Matthew Eagleston of the Connecticut State 
Police, a firearms expert, inspected and test fired 
those four weapons and concluded that each was 
fully operable and capable of accurately firing a 
projectile 245 yards. In addition, after reviewing 
the types of ammunition that police had seized 
from the defendant's home on August 29, 2014, 
Trooper Eag]eston further determined that the 
defendant possessed on that date multiple rounds 

Identity 

Upon consideration of the evidence presented at 
trial, the court finds that the state has proven 

12 It is significant that the defendant retrieved only six fireanns from :Mr. Sutula on August 27, 2014, because, as earlier noted, the 
police seized fifteen firearms from the defendant's residence on August 29,2014. The defendant's possession of nine additional firearms 
on August 29, 2014, compels the conclusion either that he had not, as required, surrendered all of his firearms to Mr. SutuJa on March 
]4, 2013, or that he had acquired new firearms after that date and before August 29, 2014. In either case, the defendant's conduct clearly 

was in direct violation of the unambiguous terms of the firearms restriction that the defendant bad agreed to and the court had ordered 
on March 6, 2013. 

Moreover, the fact that the [*29] defendant possessed on August 29, 2014, nine flIearms in addition to those he had retrieved from Mr. 

Sutula two days earlier, supports the reasonable inference that the defendant was in possession of firearms on August 22, 2014, when 

he wrote and sent the email threatening to shoot Judge Bazzuto. While it may be theoretically possible that the defendant did not have 

a firearm in his possession when he sent his email and that he acquired all nine of these additional firearms in the six days that followed, 

the existence of such a remote and farfetched possibility wholly lacking in any evidentiary support does not prevent the court from 

drawing the reasonable inference that the defendant did possess at least one, if not several, firearms when he communicated his threat 
on August 22,2014. 
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beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was 
the person who authored and intentionally sent the 
email at issue. The most compelling evidence in 
this regard was the series of statements made by 
the defendant during the course of an interview he 
gave on an internet radio program hosted by an 
individual calling himself "The Captain," which 
aired on January 6, 2015. In this two-hour 
interview, an audio tape and transcript of which 
was introduced by the state at trial, the defendantI3 

and his interviewer discussed in considerable 
detail the defendant's family case and the present 
criminal court matter. As the discussion turned to 
the basis for the defendant's arrest on the charges 

[*32] here, the conversation, as it appears 
verbatim in the transcript entered into evidence, 
proceeded as follows: 

MR. TAUPIER: Hell is going on? Alright. So 
we have this coalition or slash group of 
families, group of people that are involved 
with this troublesome divorce system that 
goes on in the State of Connecticut every day. 
And I vented one afternoon for various reasons. 

. Basically my ex-I was pro se, so I was 
self-represented-and my ex 's attorney filed 
this fictitious, you know, list of six major 
complaints like cavities, I was having sex in 
front of the kids with nanny, all of this-it's 
like silly-you know, she might as well have 
said I was absconding to Italy with the children 
as well. I mean it was just erroneous. And so 
I flipped out on her and she sent me four 
different copies of it. And when I looked on 
the case detail system-now here's the 
issue-when somebody files these kind of 
motions, if you're a pro se litigant, the judiciary 
that recei ves these motions and the Court case 
workers that manage the Court cases, are 
supposed to inform you if they've been 
approved to move forward or they've been 

denied. I don't get any denial notice. In fact, I 
get nothing because I'm pro se [*33] and they 
don't have to do anything because they know 
that I don't have any standing in the Court 
because I'm a pro se self represented litigant. 
So she approves it and she scheduled a hearing 
for 9/2, September 2nd. 

THE CAPTAIN: Wow. 

MR. TAUPIER: And so this motion that was 
completely b.s. and it made no sense to 
anyone, I vented to six people on a private 
email, it was never intended to the Judge, it 
was-half Charlton Heston, half F35s and 
smart bombs, and international space stations, 
and there's a bunch of hyperbole all woven in 
there. 

THE CAPTAIN: Right. 

MR. TAUPIER: So one of these people take 
the email and they start sending it out and her 
name is Jennifer Verno. Now Jennifer Verno 
was on this task force to help fix the guardian 
ad litem and AMC problem and she was the 
one that was actually was corresponding with 
me earlier that morning. So I included her-

THE CAPTAIN: So you thought that she was 
like one of --one of your-

MR. TAUPIER: Us. 

THE CAPTAIN:-yeah. 

MR. TAUPIER: One of us. 

THE CAPTAIN: Yeah. 

MR. TAUPIER: So then she spends the next 
five days surfing the email to many, many, 
many, many-IO, 15 people trying to see if 
somebody would actually pick up the phone 
and call the police and [*34] have me arrested. 

THE CAPTAIN: Alright. 

13 In concluding that the defendant was the individual who was being interviewed on the radio program and who made the statements 

hereinafter attributed to him, the court was persuaded by the testimony of Ms. Taupier, who listened to the program and identified the 
defendant's voice, and also by the fact that the defendant identifies himself on the program and speaks of facts and circumstances that 

only he would likeJy have such intimate knowledge of ai .. d be in a position to discuss in significant detail. 
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MR. TAUPIER: So there's no luck, because 
everybody in the Family Court says, '1t's just 
Teddy, he's ranting. He 's extremely intelligent, 
but he's a little off" and sometimes when 
things are completely broken and he just went 
off-it was 11 :50 at night and it was a Friday 
and I had a long work week and I work on 
Wall Street, so it's not-now that I'm pro se, 
I'm working full-time on my job at Court and 
full-time at my job at work. So she then 
doesn't get the response she needs, so she 
sends it to this other person, Linda Allard who 
is part of the Greater Hartford Legal Aid 
Counsel funded by the judiciary. 

THE CAPTAIN: Oh. 

MR. TAUPlER: She picks it up and says, "Oh 
my God, don't send this to me. Send me a 
screen shot by text." So Jennifer takes a text 
picture, sends it to Linda Allard by text and 
telephone, and then Linda Allard sends it to 
Bozzuto- Judge Bozzuto who's the Judge on 
my case. 

THE CAPTAIN: Wow. 

MR. TAUPlER: So get this. Judge Bozzuto 
then picks up the phone and she starts calling 
people and probably emailing people. 

MR. TAUPlER: Right. 

THE CAPTAIN: I mean to anyone. There was 
no direct tbreat-

MR. TAUPIER: It's a list of facts-

THE CAPTAIN:-you did not say '1 want to 
kill this person over here," '1 want to" you 
know "maim this person over here," "I want to 
dismember this"-there was none of that. 
There was no-

MR. TAUPlER: None of it. 

THE CAPTAIN:-none of that. And you do 
have a first amendment right 'cause I'm 
holding the Constitution in my hand. I don't 
know if you can hear that. Well this is one of 
the last remaining documents that the 
government hasn't confiscated yet and they're 
not going to get this document, even from my 
cold dead hands, they're not going to get it. 

MR. TAUPlER: Hands, right. 

THE CAPTAIN: My cold dead fingers will 
still not release this document to the 
government; it's mine. 

MR. TAUPIER: You know, that' s a threat 
according to the state police here in the State 
of [*36J Connecticut if you say something like 
that. 

* * * 

Now let me ask you this question. Is it in the 
judicial preview of her job to start to text and 
email people to have somebody [*35] arrested 
or is that outside her judicial responsibility 
which would give her qualified immunity? 

THE CAPTAIN: I would say it would be 
completely outside of her- of her job 
description by every stretch of the imagination. 
And I've-

MR. TAUPIER: You're right. 

THE CAPTAIN:-read parts of that email and 
I didn't see a direct threat to anybody. 

On the basis of these statements of the defendant, 
the authenticity of which was npt seriously 
disputed, and the other evidence introduced at 
trial, the court concI udes that the defendant 
authored and intentionally communicated14 the 

14 In concluding that the defendant "intentionally" communicated the email, the court means to say that it has detennined that the 

defendant transmitted the email with the requisite general intent- that is , he sent it on purpose, and not by accident. The defendant has 

not contended, for example, that he clicked "send" when he did not [*37] mean to do so, or that his communication of the email was 

for any other reason inadvertent. 
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August 22, 2014 email that is the subject of the 
charges in the present prosecution. 15 

"True Threat" 

Having determined that the defendant was the 
author and sender of the email at issue, the court 
must next determine whether that email 
communicated the type of threatening language 
that may be the subject of a criminal prosecution 
under the statutes charged in the Information. The 
resolution of this question initially turns on 
whether the defendant's statements constitute a 
"true threat." 

1. 

Just over one year ago, our state Supreme Court 
issued its decision in State v. Krijger, 3 J3 Conn. 
434,97 A.3d 946 (2014), a case, like the one here, 
that involved a prosecution for allegedly 
threatening speech. [*39] 16 In undertaking its 
review of the sufficiency of the evidence, that 
court first offered extensive comment on the 
tension between the first amendment and the 
prosecution of threatening speech, and then went 
on to identify and define the concept of a true 
threat. The court wrote: 

The [f]irst [a]mendment, applicable to the 
[s]tates through the [f]ourteenth [a]mendment, 

provides that Congress shall make no law ... 
abridging the freedom of speech. The hallmark 
of the protection of free speech is to allow free 
trade in ideas~ven ideas that the 
overwhelming majority of people might find 
distasteful or discomforting . . . Thus, the 
[f]irst [a]mendment ordinarily denies a [s]tate 
the power to prohibit dissemination of social, 
economic and political doctrine [that] a vast 
majority of its citizens believes to be false and 
fraught with evil consequence ... 

The protections afforded by the [f]irst 
[a]mendrnent, however, are not absolute, and 
we have long recognized that the government 
may regulate certain categories of expression 
consistent with the [c]onstitution ... The 
[f]irst [a]mendment permits restrictions [on] 
the content of speech in a few limited areas, 
which are of such slight social value as a step 
to truth that any benefit that may be derived 
from them is clearly outweighed by the social 
interest in order and morality [*40] ... 

Thus, for example, a [s]tate may punish those 
words [that] by their very utterance inflict 
injury or tend to incite an immediate breach of 
the peace ... Furthermore, the constitutional 
guarantees of free speech and free press do not 
pennit a [s]tate to forbid or proscribe advocacy 
of the use of force or of Jaw violation except 

15 On the basis of these same admissions and other evidence, and in the absence of any persuasive evidence to the contrary, the court 

further concludes that the defendant was a p,arty to the other emails introduced at trial. Specifically, the court finds that the defendant 
was (1) [he author and sender of the email sent to Mr. Nowacki on August 23. 2014, at 8:50 a.m., and (2) a recipient of the foUowing 
emails: Mr. Nowacki's emails of August 22, 2014, at 7:16 p.m. and August 23, 2014, at 7:51 a.m. and 9:08 a.m.; Ms. Stevenson's email 
of August 22, 2014, at 7:00 p.m.; and Ms. Verraneault's email of August 22, 2014 at 9:21 p.m.- all of these emails and their content 

being more partiCUlarly described in the court's factual findings above. Based on the testimony received at triaJ regarding email 

communications generally, and the communications in this case specifically. the coun is persuaded that all of the ernails introduced at 
this trial were what they purported to be- that is. communications to and from the defendant. See Conn. Code Evid. §9·1. Moreover, 

the nature and content of these emails support this conclusion, especially [*38] in light of the fact that they were each a part of the same 

original email thread, namely #third times a chann?" later modified to uthird times a charm? plus knowledge" in which repJies were being 

offered to comments earlier transmitted. These circumstances provide further support for the court's admissjon of these emails and their 

attribution to the defendant as a communication either sent or received by him. See State v. Leecan, 198 Conn. 517, 533-34, 504 A.2d 

480 (1986); Ferris v. Polycast Technology Corp., 180 Conn. 199,204,429 A.2d 850 (1980); Conn. Code. Evid. §9-1(a)(4), Commentary 

('''reply letter' doctrine, under which letter B is authenticated merely by reference to its content and circumstances suggesting it was in 
reply to earlier letter A and sent by addressee of letter A"). 

16 The defendant in Krijger was charged with threatening in the second degree and breach of the peace under the same subsections of 
those statutes that are charged in the present Infonnation. State v, Krijger, 313 Conn. 442. 
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[when] such advocacy is directed to inciting 
or producing imminent lawless action and is 
likely to incite or produce such action ... And 
the [t]irst [a]mendrnent also permits a [s]tate 
to ban a true threat .. , 

and contribute to are significant emotional and 
practical costs for the person threatened resulting 
from fear and the disruption of that person's sense 
of safety and security. True threats also bring 
about significant societal costs, financial and 
otherwise, relating to the investigation of the 
threat, the need to afford protection to the target of 
the threat, and the considerable efforts that must 
be undertaken in order to prevent the threatened 
violence from occurring. 

True threats encompass those statements 
[through which] the speaker means to 
communicate a serious expression of an intent 
to commit an act of unlawful violence to a 
particular individual or group of individuals. 
. . The speaker need not actually intend to 
carry out the threat. Rather, a prohibition on 
true threats protect[s] individuals from the 
fear of violence and from the disruption that 
fear engenders, in addition to protecting people 
from the possibility that the threatened violence 
will occur .... Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 
358-60, 123 S.Ct. 1536, 155 L.Ed.2d 535 
(2003) (opinion announcing judgment). 

Thus, we must distinguish between true threats, 
which, because of their lack of communicative 
value, are not protected by the first 
amendment, and those statements that seek 
[*41] to communicate a belief or idea, such 

as political hyperbole or a mere joke, which 
are protected. State v. DeLoreto, 265 Conn. 
145, 155, 827 A.2d 671 (2003). 

State v. Krijger, supra, 448-50. 

2. 

Under established Connecticut law, courts are 
directed to apply an objective test in order to 
determine whether threatening statement~ 

constitute a true threat. [*42] As recently as last 
year, the court in Krijger expressed the test as 
follows: "In the context of a threat of physical 
violence, [w ]hether a particular statement may 
properly be considered to be a [true 1 threat is 
governed by an objective standard-whether a 
reasonable person would foresee that the statement 
would be interpreted by those to whom the maker 
communicates the statement as a serious 
expression of intent to harm or assault." (Internal 
quotation marks omitted.) State v. Krijger, supra, 
313 Conn. 450. The court here must, therefore, 
apply this objective standard in considering 
whether the state, as to each of the charges in the 
Information, has introduced sufficient evidence to 
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the 
defendant's email constitutes a true threat.17 

3. 

As these comments of our Supreme Court make 
clear, true threats fall outside the scope of the first 
amendment and may be subject to prosecution 
because they fail meaningfully to convey facts 
and ideas that foster and contribute to legitimate 
public debate. Instead, what true threats do foster 

Because the determination of whether the 
defendant's email constitutes a true threat will 

17 To the extent that the defendant argues that this court should reject this objective standard in favor of a subjective one, the court 
declines the defendant's invitation. The court here beJieves that an objective test properly resolves the tension between the first 
amendment and threatening speech. Even more important than this court's own opinion, Krijger remains the last word spoken on this 
subject by our appellate courts. While that case recognized that Wrginia v. Black, supra, 538 U.S. 343, has caused some courts to adopt 
[*43] a subjective test, Krijger left intact Connecticut's objective standard, noting that a majority of the courts "ha[d] concluded iliat 

Black did not alter the traditional objective test for determining whether a true threats exists," State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn. 452 n.l O. 
This precedent is binding on the court here, it being axiomatic that a trial court is "required to follow the prior decisions of an appellate 
court to the extent that they are applicable to facts and issues in the case before it, and the trial court may not overturn or disregard binding 
precedent." Potvin v. Lincoln Service & Equipment Co., 298 Conn. 620, 650, 6 A.3d 60 (2010). 
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characterization, and shrugged it off by saying, 
"no, no, no, not really." /d. Moments later, as the 
zoning officer was reaching his car that was 
parked in a nearby lot, the defendant approacbed 
and apologized for his outburst. [d., 442. 
Notwithstanding his initial downplaying of the 
event to the zoning officer, the town attorney filed 
a complaint with the police two days later and the 
defendant was subsequently arrested. Id. The 
defendant was later convicted after a jury trial. [d., 
442-43. On appeal, he argued that the evidence at 
trial was insufficient as a matter of law to prove 
that his statements constituted a true threat, as 
required on the charges of threatening in the 
second degree and breach of the peace, for which 
he had been convicted. Id., 443. 

4. 

In determining whether statements [*47] of a 
threatening nature constitute a true threat, Krijger 
holds that the finder of fact must consider the 

reqUIre this court's careful consideration of 
Krijger, it is useful at the outset to address the 
facts that were at issue in that case. In Krijger, the 
defendant was involved in a long-standing zoning 
dispute with the town of Waterford. State v. 
Krijger; supra, 313 Conn. 438. He was alleged to 
have made threatening statements to a town 
attorney immediately after the conclusion of a 
court hearing at which the town attorney advised 
the court of the town's intention to seek to impose 
fines against the defendant for his continued 
zoning violations. Id., 439. Specifically, the state 
alleged that the defendant followed the town 
attorney and a zoning officer out of the courtroom, 
directed obscenities toward the town attorney, and 
then made statements to him alluding to a car 
accident in which the town attorney's son had 
suffered serious injury. Id., 439-40. Referencing 
that car accident, the defendant stated that "more 
of what happened to your [*46J son is going to 
happen to you," and "I'm going to be there to 
watch it happen." [d., 440. The town attorney then 
cursed at the defendant and the defendant statements "in light of their entire factual context, 

including the surrounding events and reaction of 
the listeners." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) 
Id:":":4n5;:'O;'::.:;;1~0;:'c::::o:::n~s;tJ;':tu:;t::e~a~tru=e";thi::'r:e=at:=,~K~'::·i;?:·g::e~r-:ali.s~o 

responded in kind. Id. The town attorney and the 
zoning officer then crossed the street to get away 
from the defendant. Id., 441. As they walked 
away, the zoning officer told the town attorney 
that the defendant had just threatened him. Id. The 
town attorney disagreed with his colleague's 

requires that the language used must be "on its 
face and in the circumstances in which it is [used,] 
so unequivocal, unconditional, immediate and 

Moreover, as to the defendant' s suggestion that Elanis v. United States, 575 U.S. _, 135 S.O. 200J, J 92 L.Ed.2d 1 (2015), compels 
the application of a subjective test, the court does not agree. In Elonis, the defendant was charged with violating 18 V .S.c. §875(c), a 
statute that makes it a crime to "transmit ... any communication containing any threat ... " At the defendant's trial, the jury was instructed 
that the government needed only to prove that the defendant communicated a "true threat,'? a concept that the District Court defined by 
means of an objective test nearly identical to that used in Connecticut. Because 18 U.S.c. §875(c) contained no scienter element requiring 
any proof as to the defendant's state of mind. the jury essentially was instructed that the [*44] defendant should be convicted if a 

reasonable person would see his statements as a threat. irrespective of the defendant's subjective awareness that his statements would 
be so viewed. 

Relying exclusively on principles of substantive criminal law and the jurisprudential maxim that "wrongdoing must be conscious to be 
criminal," the court decided that 18 U.S.c. §875(c), though silent on the issue of scienter, required proof of the defendant's awareness, 
to some unspecified degree, of the nature of his statements. The court did not strike down or in any way criticize the District Court's 
instruction on true threats, which directed the jury only to consider how a reasonable person would have viewed Elonis's statements. 
Rather. the court held that this instruction alone was not enough, and the government also was required to prove that Elonis possessed 
some awareness of the nature of his statements before he could be convicted under 18 U.S.c. §875(c). feL . 2004. ("Petitioner was 
convicted of violating [18 U.S.C. §875(c)] under instructions that required the jury to fmd that he communicated what a reasonable 
person would regard as a threat. The question is whether the statute also requires that the defendant be aware of the threatening nature 
of the [*45] communication .. . " [Emphasis added)). For these reasons, the objective test described in Krijger as tbe means of 
determining what constitutes a true threat continues to be good law in Connectic>lt even after Elonis. 
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specific as to the person threatened, as to convey 
a gravity of purpose and imminent prospect of 
execution ... " (Internal quotation marks omitted.) 
[d. 

The email specifically and unequivocally identified 
Judge Bozzuto as the target of the defendant's 
threat, and with equal clarity and precision 
indicated the type and capabilities of the firearm, 
magazines, and ammunition the defendant would 
utilize to bring about the threatened harm. The 
language of the email further identified where the 
assault would occur-that is, at Judge Bozzuto's 
home-and with frightening specificity correctly 
described (thereby communicating the defendant's 
knowledge of) the location of the judge's home, 
the nature and topography of the property 
surrounding the home, and the precise spot 245 
yards from the home's master bedroom window 
from which the defendant was to commit the 
threatened acts of violence with "complete cover 
and concealment." Emphasizing that it was he, 
personally, who was to carry out the threat, the 
defendant stated that he was prepared [*49] to risk 
imprisonment in order to commit the threatened 
assault. These statements, in the court's judgment, 
simply are not susceptible of a "benign 
interpretation.,,18 State v. Krijger; supra, 313 Conn. 
456. 

Krijger identifies the starting point for a court's 
true threat analysis to be the threatening words 
themselves. Adopting that starting point here, the 
court has carefully considered the words used by 
the defendant in the present case in light of their 
entire factual context, and has concluded that the 
defendant's email communicated an explicit threat 
that expressly conveyed the defendant's intention 
to personally undertake a course of action that 
would culminate in injury to Judge Bozzuto. 
Unlike the threatening words in Krijger, the 
words contained in the defendant's email are 
neither vague [*48] nor ambiguous, and the court 
is not "left to speculate as to precisely what he 
meant." State v. Krijger, 130 Conn App. 470, 490, 
24 A.3d 42 (2011) (Lavine, J., dissenting), rev'd 
by, 313 Conn. 434, 97 A.3d 946 (2014). What the 
defendant meant here is abundantly clear, and it 
does not require "too much surmise, too much 
reading into the statements, [or] too much 
interpretation" to figure it out. /d. 5. 

18 The court has not overlooked the fact that the email contained a few seemingly outlandish references to F35 fighter jets, smart 
bombs, and the International Space Station. However wild and exaggerated these references may be when considered in isolation, they 
do not, in the COlirt's view, ultimately render the defendant's email ambiguous or susceptible to a less threatening interpretation. In 
evaluating whether a statement constitutes a true threat, the court is required to consider the Janguage of that statement in its entirety, 
and to detennine how it would be interpreted by a reasonable person, As Justice Alito pointed out in Elonis, "a communication containing 
a threat may inc1ude other statements that have value and are entitled to protection . .. [b]ut that does not justify constitutional protection 
for the threat itself." Elonis v. United States, supra, 135 S.Ct. 2016 (Alito, 1. concurring and dissenting). Similarly, a threatening statement 
that otherwise would be considered a true threat is not automatically converted as a matter of law into protected speech, thereby [*50] 
insulating its speaker or author from crimina] prosecution, merely because the statement may inc1ude an occasional hyperbolic expression 
within iL As Justice Alita so aptly put it, "[a] fig leaf of artistic expression cannot convert ... harmful, valueless threats into protected 
speech." Id., 2017. For this court "[t]o hold otherwise would grant a license to anyone who is c1ever enough to dress up a rea] threat'" 
with a few dramatic flourishes, id" 2016, and render "[statutes proscribing true threats] powerless against the ingenuity of threateners." 
(lnlemaJ quotation marks omitted.) Stale v. Kryger, supra, 313 Conn. 453. 

These generaJ principles aside, the fact here is that the references used by the defendant, while perhaps exaggerated, served only to add 
to, rather than detract from, the overall threatening nature of the email. When considered in the context of the rest of the email, these 
references are most reasonably interpreted as an expression of the strength of the defendant's resolve and as a warning from him that 
only extraordinary efforts would be sufficient to protect Judge SOlzutc from the threatened violence. Using rhetoricaJ embellishments 
to drive home the point, the defendant's language was the rough equivalent of;1 am [*51) going to shoot Judge Bazzuto and there is 
nothing she can do to stop me"- thereby reasonably suggesting that the defendant had become desperate enough not only to make the 
threat, but also to carry it out. 
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Indeed, even if a tortured interpretation of the 
defendant's words was used to produce facial 
ambiguity as to their meaning, that ambiguity 
necessarily would stilI be resolved in favor of 
finding that they constituted a true threat. In 
Krijger, after determining that the statement in 
that case was "facially ambiguous," id., 453, the 
court identified a number of factors-the 
defendant's prior relationship with the person 
threatened, the circumstances immediately 
preceding and following the making of the threat, 
the nature of the harm threatened and its likelihood 
of commission, and the reactions of the recipients 
of the threat-that counseled in that case against a 
finding that the ambiguous statement there was a 
true threat. But when those same factors are 
applied to the present case, as they will be below, 
they support precisely the opposite condusion.19 

Parties' Prior Relationship 

evidence also proved that the defendant harbored 
strong [*53] sentiments against her-feelings that 
he held prior to and long after the date of his 
threatening email. After being admonished by 
Judge Bozzuto at the hearing on June 18, 2014, 
the defendant, according to the credible testimony 
of Attorney Ficarra, made frequent disparaging 
comments about Judge Bozzuto in emails and 
Facebook postings that were still being authored 
and communicated by the defendant even up to 
the date on which Attorney Ficarra was testifying 
in the present matter in April 2015. The 
defendant's animus toward Judge Bozzuto, and 
his willingness to express it in no uncertain terms, 
can also be seen throughout the course of the 
radio interview the defendant gave in January 
2015. In that interview, the defendant made a 
number of offensive statements regarding Judge 
Bozzuto's personal life, using terms that the court 
declines to repeat here. 

,iK~r~ij~g~er~h~o~l~d~S;th~a;t ~a~ni§;III.~~;~~iIn~;sum, this is not a case where the statements at like those in Krijger, were communicated in 
the context of a prior cordial relationship that was 

in acrimony or animosity. Rather, the 
Krijger; supra, In Krijger, the defendant's remarks must be viewed by this court 
defendant and the target of his threat had a through the "clarifying lens," State v. Krijger; 
"long-standing working relationship that ... had supra, 313 Conn. 454, of the strained, if not 
been quite cordial and professional." [d., 454. hostile, relationship between the [*54] defendant 
Indeed, the town attorney testified at the trial that and Judge Bozzuto because "reasonable people 
he had been to the defendant's home on forty or necessarily take an ambiguous threat more 
fifty occasions and that the defendant "was always seriously when it comes from someone who holds 
pleasant and cooperative in his demeanor." State a long-standing grudge." (Internal quotation marks 
v. Krijger; supra, 130 Conn.App. 498. omitted.) ld. 

The same cannot be said about the relationship 
between the defendant and Judge Bozzuto. Ms. 
Taupier and Attorney Ficarra each described the 
defendant's demeanor throughout the course of 
the family case as contentious and adversarial to 
all court personnel involved in his case, including 
the judges. As to Judge Bozzuto specifically, the 

Circumstances Immediately Preceding the Threat 

Krijger also holds that "the immediate 
circumstances surrounding the alleged threat" can 
be significant to the true threat determination. ld. 
In that case, the defendant's statements were 
made "on the heels of a contentious court hearing, 

19 The court conducts this analysis nOl because it believes that the defendant's statements in the present case are ambiguous; to tbe 
contrary, [*52] the court, as noted, finds that they are an explicit true threat, capable of onJy one meaning. The analysis that follows. 
however, will demonstrate that the Krijger factors would resolve any ambiguity in a manner consistent with the same conclusion. 
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at which, for the first time and apparently 
unbeknownst to the defendant, [the town attorney] 
had decided to seek the imposition of 
approximately $6,000 in fines ... It was against 
this backdrop, and immediately following the 
court hearing, while the defendant and [the town 
attorney] were leaving the courthouse, that the 
defendant uttered the offending statements." [d., 
454-55. Resolving the facial ambiguity of the 
statements there, the court held that their 
timing-"that is, right after the court hearing, 
when the defendant was still very agitated over 
what had occurred," id., 456-made a "benign 
interpretation [of the statements] . . . more 
plausible." [d. 

Because the "surrounding [*56] circumstances" of 
an alleged threat include relevant events that may 
have followed the threat's utterance, Krijger 
additionally considered whether the defendant's 
behavior after he made the statements at issue 
shed any light on how its words were most 
plausibly interpreted. State v. Krijger, supra, 313 
Conn. 457-58. In holding that the defendant's 
threatening words were deserving of an innocuous 
interpretation, that court found it significant that 
the defendant apologized for his statements within 
minutes of making them. [d. The court concluded 
that the defendant's expression of contrition 
following the incident was "decidedly at odds 
with the view that, just moments beforehand, he 
had communicated a serious threat to inflict grave 
bodily injury or death" to the town attorney. [d., 
458. 

The statements of the defendant in the present 
case are a far [*55] cry from the spontaneous, 
almost reflexive, statements described in Krijger. 
The defendant's email wasnotprompted.asin 
Krijger, by an event that occurred only minutes 
earlier, but by his receipt hours earlier of Attorney 
Ficarra's contempt motions. Moreover, whereas 
the triggering event in Krijger-the town's 
decision to seek fines---came as a complete 
surprise to the defendant there, the same cannot be 
said for the motions filed by Attorney Ficarra. 
These contempt motions were filed in direct 
response to the fact that the defendant had enrolled 
his children in school in Cromwell over Ms. 
Taupier's objection and in violation of an existing 
court order. Given the defendant's awareness of 
these facts and his involvement in two years of 
often contentious litigation, it cannot be seriously 
contended that it "was unbeknownst to the 
defendant" that sanctions would be sought as a 
remedy for his provocative challenge to the family 
court's authority. These circumstances, in the 
court's opinion, counsel in favor of viewing the 
defendant's statements as a true threat rather than 

It would be a gross understatement to say that the 
defendant's post-threat behavior differed from 
that occurring in Krijger. Having received Mr. 
Nowacki's email response on the morning of 
August 23, 2014--a response that characterized 
comments in the defendant's email of the night 
before as "disturbing" and that urged the defendant 
to refrain from making such statements-the 
defendant's reply, sent an hour later, was neither 
contrite nor apologetic in [*57J language or tone. 
To the contrary, the defendant's email reply to Mr. 
Nowacki unequivocally reasserted the defendant's 
threat to Judge Bozzuto, doing so in words that 
were equally, if not more, chilling than those 
communicated by the defendant the night before. 
The renewal and restatement of the threat, 
particularly having come in response to Mr. 
Nowacki's warning, belies any suggestion that the 
defendant's earlier email should not be viewed as 
having communicated a serious threat. 

the type of "spontaneous act of frustration" at Nature of Threat and Defendant's Capacity to 
issue in Krijger. State v. Krijger; supra, 130 Carry it Out 
Conn.App. 498. 

Circumstances Following the Threat 
Yet another factor that is properly considered in 
the evaluation of an alleged threat is the nature of 

A87 



Page 19 of 30 
2015 Conn. Super. LEXIS 2532, *57 

Finally, the Krijger court held that "a recipient's 
reaction to an alleged threat is [another] factor to 
consider in evaluating whether a statement 
amounted to a true threat."20 State v. Krijger, 
supra, 313 Conn. 459. In response to the 
defendant's alleged threat there, the town attorney 
in Krijger responded with angry and taunting 
words of his own, and moments later was 
dismissive of the suggestion that he had been 
threatened. Id., 459 n.12. He then did not report 
the matter to police until approximately two days 
later. Id. The court concluded that the town 
attorney's behavior in these respects was 
"inconsistent with the response of a person who 
believed that the defendant had just communicated 
a serious threat of injury or death." Id. 

the threat and the defendant's ability to cause 
hann to the victim in the particular manner 
threatened. In Krijger, the defendant appeared to 
have threatened to tamper with the town attorney'S 
car in some unspecified manner and thereby to 
cause the attorney to be involved in a car accident. 
The court there commented that "[a]lthough 
vehicular sabotage is a ubiquitous plot device in 
spy novels and movies, it is practically unheard of 
in the real world"; State v. Krijger, supra, 313 
Conn. 456 n. Il; and pointed out that the state had 
"presented no evidence that the defendant had 
access to [the town attorney's] [*58] vehicle or 
that he possessed the skills or wherewithal 
necessary to carry out such a threat." Id. Under 
such circumstances, the court determined that a 
threat of vehicular sabotage would not reasonably 
have been seen as a serious expression of an intent 
to cause harm to the town attorney. 

As to the reactions of the recipients of the 
defendant's email in the present case, the court 
has already discussed Judge Bozzuto's and Ms. 
Verraneau!t's testimony on this subject, and has 
noted Mr. Nowacki 's reaction, as described [*60] 
by his August 23, 2014 emails. With regard to 
Judge Bozzuto, the court found particularly 
compelling her testimony that, even as she was 
then testifying nearly eight months after the 
defendant's email was sent, the threat it contained 
was still affecting her daily life: "[E]very night 
when I get home and it's usually pretty late and 
during the winter it was dark, as soon as . . . I pull 
up to the 'driveway and pull in and stop to get the 
mail, every time I get out of that car I look up on 
the hill in the back where all the brush and trees 

In sharp contrast to vehicular sabotage, gun 
violence of the kind threatened by the defendant is 
neither practically unheard of in the real world, 
nor ubiquitous only in spy novels and movies. It is 
ubiquitous in the real world, and the defendant __ I 

here had the wherewithal to commit it. The ~te 
not only proved that the defendant was in 
possession of a number of firearms and compatible 
ammunition on August 29, 2014, and by 
reasonable inference on the date of the email as 
well, it also proved that four of those guns were 
operable and capable of firing a shot from the 
distance he had threatened. The defendant's access 
to these firearms, particularly in light of his 
knowledge of and apparent access to the area 
around Judge Bozzuto's home,lends clear support 
to the conclusion that his statements were a true 
threat by demonstrating that he had the ability "to 
follow through on [the] threat" and there was 
[*59] an "imminent prospect of [its] execution." 

Id. 

Reactions of Recipients of the Threat 

are and think of only Mr. Taupier. And the same 
thing, you know, I do my best to live my life and 
I'm busy and active, but it's those bumps in the 
night, it's when the dogs start barking in the 
middle of the night and the first thing that comes 
to mind is Mr. Taupier ... And I have to say as 
I was kissing my daughter goodbye yesterday in 
the driveway and we were having [a] conversation, 
she said, mom, let's rnove it inside because Ted 
could be up there ... And I didn't think really it's 

20 In citing this subjective factor and authorizing its consideration, the court emphasized, however, that the test to be applied in a true 
threat analysis remained "'ultimately an objective one." State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn. 459. 
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on my kid's mind but that came up just 
spontaneously as we were having a conversation 
in that driveway where you could clearly see, you 
know, up on the hill where someone [*61) could 
lie in wait." Contrasted with the relatively cavalier 
reaction of the town attorney in Krijger, the 
reactions of Judge Bozzuto, Ms. Verraneault and 
Mr. Nowacki to the defendant's email reflect the 
type of sober and serious fear and concern that is 
very much consistent with "the response of a 
person who believed that the defendant had just 
communicated a serious threat of injury or 
death."21 State v. Krijger; supra, 313 Conn. 459, 
n.12. 

It is true, of course, that the court also heard 
testimony from two of the other original recipients 
of the defendant's email-Susan Skipp and Sunny 
Kelley-both of whom described their reactions 
upon reading the defendant's email. Ms. Skipp 
[*63) testified that she was not alarmed by the 

email, and did not consider the defendant's words 

as a threat nor believed that anyone was truly in 
danger. Instead, she characterized the email as 
"hyperbolic writing," later adding that "it was just 
ranting" and "like Dr. Seuss." Ms. Kelley voiced a 
similar lack of concern for the email and.using 
almost the same terms as Ms. Skipp, described it 
as a "hyperbolic rant." 

The fact that there is testimony in this case that 
the defendant's email was viewed by some as a 
serious threat to commit violence, but by others 
more innocuously, does not prevent the court from 
concluding, as it has, that the defendant's email 
was a true threat. To begin with, legitimate 
questions were raised as to whether Ms. Skipp and 
Ms. Kelley were objective and unbiased witnesses, 
and those questions significantly undermined the 
value and credibility of their testimony in the 
opinion of the court.22 Even putting aside these 
issues of credibility, the true threat determination, 
in any event, turns solely on an objective analysis 
and requires the state to prove that a reasonable 

21 In an effort to undennine Ms. Verraneault's testimony that she viewed the threat seriOUSly, the defendant at tria] made much of the 
fact that she did not alert police until August 28, 2014, five days after she first read his email. While recognizing the relevance of Ms. 
Verraneault's deJayed disclosure, the court does not find that the delay means tbat she did not interpret the email as a serious expression 
of the defendanl's intent. First, it bears note that, unlike the town attorney in Krijger, Ms. Verraneault neither shrugged off the threat nor 
told anyone that she did not view it to be a real one. Rather, it was because she did take the threat seriously that she immediateJy sought 

out the opinions and counsel of many others, including that of Representative Gonzalez and Attorney Allard, [*62] for guidance as to 

how she should proceed. Second, s.ince Ms. Verraneault was a recipient of the threat but not the person that it threatened, her delay in 

coming forward is, in the court's opinion, oflesser significance than the delay occuning in a case like Krijger, where the person actually 
threatened with hann is the one who chooses not to make a prompt complaint. Third, while there was no jndication as to why the town 
attorney in Krljger waited two days to lodge his complaint, Ms. Verraneault credibly explained the reason for her delay in this case. Ms. 
Verraneault testified that she harbored genuine concerns as to how the defendant would react if he was to learn that she was the person 
who had reported the email to authorities. For all of these reasons, the defendant's claim-that Ms. Verraneault's failure to report the 
email to the police more qujckly means that she did not take the threat seriously-is ultimately unpersuasive to the court. 

22 For example, Ms. Skipp testified that she believes that Judge Bozzuto, despite a conflict of interest, participated in Ms. Skipp's own 
family case and contributed to the wrongful removal of Ms. Skipp's children from her care. In addition, when she was shown a copy 
of the defendant's August 23. 2014 email to Mr. Nowacki, Ms. Skipp not only appeared unwilling to acknowledge that the defendant 
was its author, but went so far as to state that the language of the email "doesn't sound like Ted at all, [but] sounds like Paul [Boyne]," 
thereby seeming to suggest that, in her view, Mr. Boyne had written the email and communicated it through the defendant's email 
account, presumably without the defendant's knowledge. Later, when Ms. Skipp commented that she herself had sent emails with 
language equally as offensive as tbat contained in the defendant's email, she offered as an example an email in which she stated that 

she wanted to, in her words, "mail dog poop'" to the guardian (*65] ad litem in her own famjly case. Ms. Skipp's responses, not to 

mention her effort to equate the language of the defendant's email to Dr. Seuss, reflected a lack of insight or candor that, in either case, 

caused the court to question the reliability of the entirety of Ms. Skipp'S testimony. 

Ms. KelJey's objectivity regarding Judge Bozzuto was similarly brought into question when Ms. Kelley testified that she had in the past 
conducted an "audit" of property owned by Judge Bozzuto for evidence of financial irregularities. Even greater concerns regarding her 
credibility arose from the nature of her relationship with the defendant. Although Ms. Kelley denied having been involved with the 
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person would interpret the threat as a serious 
expression of an intent to do harm. While the 
reactions [*64J of those who receive the threat 
may assist the court in making that reasonable 
person determination, these reactions, either way, 
are in no sense dispositive of the question of how 
a reasonable person would view the threat. 

By way of summary, it is the court's conclusion 
that the defendant's August 22, 2014 email 
contained language that constituted a true threat. 
The court has made this determination by applying 
the objective test set out in Krijger. Pursuant to 
that test, and on the basis of the credible evidence 
presented at trial, the court finds beyond a 
reasonable doubt, first, that a reasonable person 
not only could foresee, but readily would foresee, 
that the language in the email would be interpreted 

violence. The court additionally finds that the 
email at issue, by its language and considered in 
the circumstances in which it was authored and 

by those to whom it was communicated as a 
serious expression of an intent to commit an act of 
violence to Judge Bozzuto; and, second, that a B. 
reasonable recipient of the language of the email, 
familiar with its entire factual context, would be 
highly likely to interpret it as a genuine threat of 

communicated, is unequivocal, unconditional, 
immediate, and specific as to the person 
threatened, and conveys a gravity of purpose and 
imminent [*67J prospect of execution. Although it 
is this court's conclusion that the language of the 
email is neither facially ambiguous nor susceptible 
of a benign interpretation, the court further holds 
that, to the extent that such ambiguity and multiple 
interpretations of the defendant's statements are 
deemed to exist, the state in this case has met its 
burden of proving that the statements constituted 
a true threat by producing the type of evidence 
that the Krijger court determined relevant for that 
purpose and which this court has earlier discussed 
in this decision. 23 

Having concluded that the state has proven beyond 
a reasonable doubt that the defendant 
communicated a true threat-proof that was 

defendant romantically, she admitted that she often visited with his children and babysat for them on occasion, and that she resided with 
(he defendant in his Cromwell home at least from August 27. 2014 until August 29, 2014. She admitted also that she accompanied the 
defendant to Stevens School on August 27, 2014, and was present when his children were removed, and that, on that same day. she was 
with the defendant in Harwinton when he retrieved his guns from Mr. Sutula This testimony raised doubts as [*66] to Ms. Kelley 's 
impartiality, and, as a result, bore negatively on the court's assessment of her credibility as a witness. 

23 In connection with its finding that the defendant's statements constituted a true threat, the court adds one final note. The court's use 
of Judge Bozzuto's professional title throughout this opinion was not intended to signify or even to suggest that the defendant's 
statements were held to be a true threat specifically because they targeted a judge. To the contrary, the court's holding in this case is 
actually that the defendant's statements constituted a true threat even though they targeted a judge, 

In conducting its true threat analysis, the court necessarily considered the defendant's statements "against the background of a profound 
[*68] national commitment to the principle that debate on public issues should be uninhibited, robust, and wide-open, and that it may 

welJ include vehement, caustic, and sometimes unpleasantly sharp attacks on government and public officia1s," State v. Krijger, supra, 

313 Conn. 450. Judges are often called upon to decide matters of significant public and persona1 interest, and. as a result, they may 
themselves become part of the debate that these emotionally charged issues have been known to generate. Judges do not harbor Pollyanna 
notions about the tone or content of that debate, nor naively expect to be immune from the occasional cruel and offensive personal attack 
that may be contained within that legitimate expressive activil)'. However distasteful and discomforting such attacks may be, judges must 
accept the simple truth that these constitutionally protected comments, for better or for worse, #corne with the territory." 

But even after affording the defendant's statements in the present case what could be seen as this heightened level of ftrst amendment 
protection, the court remains convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant's email communicated a true threat. As noted 
earlier, robust debate on matters of public interest is afforded [*69] first amendment protection because "[t]he hallmark of the protection 
of free speech is to allow free trade in ideas." /d., 448. But it is equally true that where the content of speech does not promote free trade 
in ideas- that is, where speech is "of such slight social value as a step to truth that any benefit that may be derived from [it] is clearly 
outweighed by the social interest in order and morallty," id., 449-then such speech is neither entitled to nor deserving of constitutional 
safeguard. 
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required for each of the charges alleged in the 
Information-the court now separately considers 
each charge to determine whether the state also 
has proven the other essential elements that each 
offense contains, 

Threatening in the Second Degree-Second 
Count24 

Pursuant to General Statutes § 53a-62(a)(3), and 
as alleged in the second count of the Information, 
the state was required to prove as to the charge of 
threatening in the second degree that [*71] the 
defendant threatened (by way of a true threat) to 
commit a crime of violence; to wit: an assault 
against Judge Bozzuto, in reckless disregard of 
the risk of causing terror to another person. In 
order to sustain its burden of proof on this charge, 
the state must prove the following elements beyond 
a reasonable doubt: 

(1) that the defendant threatened (by way of a 
true threat) to commit a crime of violence; and 
(2) that, in doing so, the defendant acted in 
reckless disregard of the risk of causing terror 
to another person. 

Threat to Commit a Crime of Violence 

The state was required to prove that the defendant 
threatened (by way of a true threat) to commit a 

crime of violence, that is, "one in which physical 
force is [threatened to be] exerted for the purpose 
of violating, injuring, damaging or abusing another 
person." Connecticut Criminal Jury Instructions 
(4th Ed. 2008) § 6.2-3, available at 
http://jud.ct.gov/JIICriminallPart6/6.2-3.htm Oast 
visited September 28, 201 5) (copy contained in 
the file of this case in the Middlesex Superior 
Court clerk's office). Given that the defendant in 
his email threatened to shoot Judge Bozzuto, and 
in light of the court's earlier finding that the 
defendant's threat constituted a true threat, the 
court [*72] finds that this element has been 
proven beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Reckless Disregard of the Risk of Causing Terror 
to Another 

The state also had the burden of proving that the 
defendant acted in reckless disregard of the risk of 
causing terror to another person,25 The concept of 
recklessness is defined in General Statutes § 
53a-3(l3) as follows: "A person acts 'recklessly' 
with respect to a result Of to a circumstance 
described by a statute defining an offense when he 
is aware of and consciously disregards a substantial 
and unjustifiable risk that such result will occur or 
that such circumstance exists. The risk must be of 
such nature and degree that disregarding it 

In the court's opinion, the defendant's email contained statements that did not, by any conceivable stretch of the imagination, promote 
free trade in ideas or aid in the search for truth. It cannot seriously be contended that the statement "Buzzuto Jjves in watertown with 

her boys and Nanny [and] there is 245 yrds between her master bedroom and a cemetery that provides cover and concealment," has any 
meaningful I/social value as a step to the truth," particularly when that statement appears in the emaiJ immediately after the defendant 
describes firing sixty rounds of ammurution and reloading to flIe thirty more, and just before he describes the particu1ar firearm and 
ammunition capable of carrying out the attack he had planned. [*70] Rather than promoting legitimate debate and a free exchange in 

ideas, the defendant's statements promoted only a "fear of violence" and "the disruption that [such] fear engenders." /d. As such, and 
even though they were directed at a public official, the defendant's statements constituted a true threat and were not protected by the 
first amendment. 

24 Although threatening in the first degree is set out as the first count in the Information, the court wHl first turn its attention to the 
crime of threatening in the second degree as alleged in the second count, given that proof of threatening in the second degree is required 
for proof of threatening in the first degree. 

25 The court is aware, of course, that the defendant has challenged the constirntionality of the charges in this case, [*73] claiming that 
the first amendment and Elonis v. United States, supra, 135 S.Ct 2001, preclude the state from prosecuting threatening speech that was 
communicated recklessly, but not with the specific intent to threaten. See Defendant's Renewed Motion to Dismiss Amended 
Information. dated June 23, 2015. For the reasons set forth in jts separately filed memorandum of decision denying that motion, the court 
has rejected the defendant's claim. That decision, and the court's analysis and reasoning contained within it, are incorporated here by 
reference. 
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constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of 
conduct that a reasonable person would observe in 
the situation."26 Within the context of the crime of 
threatening in the second degree, the "substantial 
and unjustifiable risk" that the defendant must be 
aware of and consciously disregard is the risk that 
his conduct will cause terror to another person. 
The word "terror" refers to stark fear or a state of 
intense fright or apprehension. State v. Dyson, 238 
Conn. 784, 798, 680 A.2d 1306 (1996); 
Connecticut Criminal Jury Instructions, supra, § 
6.2-3. 

constituted a gross deviation-that is, a great and 
substantial deviation as opposed to a slight or 
moderate one-from the standard of conduct that 
a reasonable person would abide by in those 
circumstances. In addition, as to the defendant's 
subjective awareness of the email's risk of causing 
terror, the court further concludes, on the basis of 
the credible evidence presented, that the defendant 
was himself a ware that his email would be seen as 
threatening and create a risk of terror, and yet 
consciously chose to disregard his awareness by 
transmitting the email to its recipients. 

Applying these instructions to the charge of 
threatening in the second degree as alleged here, 
and having considered the defendant's subjective 
state of mind and the extent to which the 
defendant's conduct deviated from that of a 
reasonable person, the court concludes that the 
evidence presented proves beyond a reasonable 
doubt that the defendant communicated his email 
on August 22, 2014, in reckless disregard of the 
risk of terronzmg another person. More 
specifically, [*74) as to the court's objective 
analysis of the nature and degree of the risk, the 
court finds that the evidence proves that a 
reasonably prudent person in the defendant's 
circumstances would not have communicated the 
email at issue to others because of its risk of 
causing terror; and, in addition, that the 
defendant's communication of the email 

In reaching these determinations, the court has 
considered, but ultimately rejects, the defendant's 
claim that the evidence cannot reasonably support 
the conclusion that he acted with reckless disregard 
of the risk of causing terror because (1) he did not 
send the email [*75) directly to Judge Bozzuto, 
and (2) those to whom he did send it were seen by 
him as '1ike-minded individuals" who understood 
and shared his frustration with the family court 
system. 2

? In the court's opinion, neither of these 
assertions--even assuming the second one is 
true-undermines the court's factual finding that 
the defendant acted with the reckless disregard 
required by the statute. 

It is important to note first the precise language of 
General Statutes § 53a-62(a)(3), the particular 
subsection of the statute that is charged here. The 
statute prohibits a person from threatening to 

2(5 Thus, to determine whether a defendant acted recklessly. the fact finder must consider objectively the nature and degree of the risk, 
as well as the defendant's subjective awareness of that risk. Stale v. Davila, 75 Conn.App. 432, 439, 816 A.2d 673, celt. denied, 264 
Conn. 909 , 826 A.2d 180, celt. denied, 543 U.S. 897, 125 S. Ct. 92, 160 L. Ed. 2d 166 (2003), 543 U.S. 897, 125 S.C!. 92, 160 L.Ed.2d 
166 (2004). 

27 In this regard, it is important to note that there is no testimony in this case as to the defendant 'S perception of the like-mindedness 
of those to whom he directed the email; namely, Ms. Verraneault,.Mr. Nowacki,Ms. Stevenson, Mr. Boyne, Ms. Skipp and Ms. Kelley. 
As is his right, the defendant elected not to testify in this case , and no unfavorable inference will be drawn from that election. So to the 
extent tbat the defense has argued that the six listed recipients of the email were like-minded, that characterization can only reflect the 
views held by those witnesses who offered testimony on this question: Ms. Verraneault, Ms. Skipp and Ms. KeJley. These three witnesses, 
however, did not speak with one voice on the question of whether the six recipients of the defendant's email were like-minded. For [*76] 

example, when Ms. Skipp was asked whether those who had received the defendant's email were all like-minded, she answered in the 
negative and specifically excluded Ms. Verraneault from that characterization. Ultimately. however, the court need not decide who was 
like-minded and who was not. Regardless of how the recipients may be characterized, the evidence in this case proves that the defendant 
was aware that his email would be seen as a serious threat, even by persons who may have shared his unfavorable view of the family 

courts . 
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commit a crime of violence in reckless disregard 
of the risk of causing terror to another person. 
Although the statute therefore requires proof that 
a defendant threatened a crime of violence and 
thereby recklessly created a risk of terror to 
another person, the statute is not limited in its 
application only to those cases in which the 
defendant communicates a true threat directly to 
the person threatened. 

Where the recipient of a threat is not the party 
threatened, a defendant's conduct can [*77] be in 
reckless disregard of the risk of causing terror 
under various theories. For example, a defendant 
would act in reckless disregard of the risk of 
causing terror if he was aware of and consciously 
disregarded a risk that his threat, though targeting 
another, would cause the recipient of the 
threatening communication to be personally 
terrorized. Alternatively, even if the defendant 
was unaware of the risk that the recipient would 
be terrorized, a defendant stilI could be found to 
have acted in reckless disregard of the risk of 
causing terror if he was aware of and consciously 
disregarded the separate risk that the recipient, 
whomever that might be, would view the threat as 
sufficiently serious to warrant its disclosure to law 
enforcement or the person threatened, thereby 

creating a risk of terror to the defendant's stated 
target or others?8 

In the present case, the court concludes that the 
evidence introduced at trial, and the reasonable 
inferences that were properly drawn therefrom, 
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant 
knew of the threatening nature of his email, and 
was aware of and consciously disregarded the risk 
that it would be seen by those to whom he sent it 
as so unambiguously serious and [*79] alarming 
that one or more of them would alert law 
enforcement and/or Judge Bozzuto to its existence. 
In reaching this conclusion, the court has been 
guided by the principle that a defendant's 
"[s]ubjective realization of a risk may be inferred 
from [the defendant's] words and conduct when 
viewed in the light of surrounding circumstances." 
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. James, 
154 Conn.App. 795, 809, 112 A.3d. 791 (2015). 
Here, it is the defendant's words themselves-in 
particular, those he used both in the subject email 
and in his response to Mr. Nowacki the next 
morning-that circumstantially demonstrate that 
he was aware of the risk of terror that his actions 
created29 

As to the August 22, 2014 email, the court 
concludes that the defendant was aware that the 

28 The following examples may help to illustrate these two theories of liability. Assume a defendant threatened to hann a child. If the 
defendant communicated that threat to the child's parent, the defendant (depending on the evidence presented) could be found to have 

been aware of and to have consciously disregarded the risk of causing terror to [*78] that parent, even if the child would never come 

to Jearn of the threat. Assume instead that the defendant communicated the same threat not to the child's parent but to a recipient who 

was unacquainted with the child and who therefore was unlikely to personally experience terror-that is, intense, stark fear-by receiving 

the threat. Even under those circumstances, the defendant (again, depending on the evidence) still could be found to have acted in reckless 

disregard of the risk of causing terror if it was proven that he had been aware of and disregarded the risk that the person to whom he 

had communicated the threat would view it as a serious one and feel compelled to bring it to the attention of law enforcement or the 

child's parent, creating the risk in either case that the parent ultimately would be terrorized. 

29 In reaching this conclusion, the court found little value in the defendant's contention, advanced by him during his radio interview 
in January 2015, that he was only Nvent[ing) to six people on a private email, and it was never intended to the Judge .. . N The defendant 

offered this blatantly self-servmg characterization more than four months after his arrest and with criminal charges pending against him. 
As a result, it is difficult not to view the defendant's radio comments as little more than a tidy and well-rehearsed summary of his criminal 

defense-an attempt by him to win the support [*80] of those listening by rationalizing the conduct that led to his arrest and by making 

himself appear to have been the victim of overzealous police and prosecutors who had trampled his constitutional rights. Of course, the 

defendant's desire tp be considered as an innocent victim also explains why, in two hours of air time, he failed to mention any of the 

threatening language he used in his August 22,2014 email or in his response to Mr. Nowacki the following morning--choosing instead 
to say only that it was "half Charlton Heston, half F35s and smarl bombs and international space stations." 
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words he used in the email, even considered 
against the backdrop of the type of language used 
by the most strident and vehement family court 

had been unaware that they would be (wrongly) 
taken seriously. Instead of disabusing Mr. Nowacki 
of his concerns or attempting to explain that the 
email had merely been a rambling, late-night 
tirade borne out of frustration, the defendant 
actually used his response as an opportunity to 
reassert the threat, stressing that he knew where 
Judge Bozzuto lived and it had become "time to 
change the game." Making his response even 
more chilling, the defendant made repeated 
references not only to Judge Bozzuto, but to her 
children-stating that "bad things" had to happen 
to judges and their families, and that judges' 
"families had to be taken from them" before the 
family court system would ever improve. It is 
difficult for the court to conceive of a more 
paradigmatic and terrifying threat than one 
indicating an intent to cause harm to one's 
children, and equally difficult to [*83] conceive 
that the defendant, a parent himself, was not fully 
aware of that very fact as he composed his 
response to Mr. Nowacki. Indeed, at the time he 
communicated this response, the defendant was 
not only aware of a risk that his email of the night 
before would be viewed seriously, he knew that it 
already had been- not by a person who did not 
know him or could not appreciate his level of 
frustration with the family court system, but by a 
"like-minded" person like Mr. Nowacki who 
understood the defendant's email threat to be a 

. critics, were unprecedented in their detailed and 
specific description of the threatened assault and 
in its unambiguous expression of an intent to do 
harm to Judge Bozzuto. In other words, the court 
has detertnined that, even in the context of the 
type of harsh, offensive and even vaguely 
threatening language directed at judges and other 
court officials that may have been [*81] expressed 
in prior communications between the defendant 
and other frustrated family court litigants, the 
defendant knew full well that his email would 
stand out and stand alone, precisely as he had 
intended. For very good reason, the defendant's 
email raised grave concern in the minds of Mr. 
Nowacki and Ms. Verraneault, both of whom, in 
the court's view, were in a better position than 
nearly anyone else to assess the seriousness of the 
defendant's threat and to distinguish it from the 
hyperbole that the defendant and other family 
court critics may have uttered in the past. 

Perhaps even more compelling proof that the 
defendant was aware that his email would be 
viewed as a serious threat and disclosed to others, 
is found in his response to Mr. Nowacki's August 
23,2014 email. As discussed earlier, Mr. Nowacki 
had characterized the comments in the defendant's 
email of the night before as "disturbing," and 
urged him not to communicate those types of 
sentiments to anyone. If the defendant truly had 
been unaware that his earlier email would be seen 
in that way, then one would have reasonably 
expected his response to express some measure of 
surprise at Mr. Nowacki's interpretation, and to 
[*82] contain statements along the lines of '1 was 

only joking, Mike" or "Sorry for the rant," or 
maybe "That's not what I meant." But the 
defendant's response was nothing of the kind. 

In the response he sent to Mr. Nowacki, the 
defendant did not apologize for his words or offer 
a benign interpretation of them, or state that he 

serious one and who therefore warned the 
defendant against sending such statements to 
anyone. 

For these reasons, the defendant's conduct and 
statements after the fact fully support the 
reasonable inference that the defendant knew that 
his email would be seen as a serious expression of 
his intentions, and was aware of and consciously 
disregarded the substantial and unjustifiable risk 
that, as a result, it would be disclosed to others 
and cause terror to Judge Bozzuto. Under these 
circumstances , this court is persuaded that the 
defendant acted in reckless disregard of the risk of 
causing terror to Judge Bozzuto, and that the state 
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has proven beyond a reasonable [*84] doubt the 
elements of the crime of threatening in the second 
degree. 3D 

Threatening in the First Degree-First Count 

discussion and, on that basis, concludes that the 
state proved this aggravating factor beyond a 
reasonable doubt. Significantly, the defendant's 
email did more than merely communicate a vague, 
generalized threat of an assault against Judge 
Bozzuto.The email communicated the defendant's 
specific threat to shoot Judge Bozzuto, and went 
on to identify, and thereby to reflect the 
defendant's intimate knowledge of, both: (1) the 
particular type of weapon-a .308 caliber 
firearm-that [*86] had the sufficient. long-range 
capacity to enable the defendant to carry out the 
shooting of Judge Bozzuto from the precise 
distance and location that the email further 
described, and (2) the particular type of 
ammunition-nan-armor piercing ball 
ammunition-that would maintain sufficient 
foot-pounds of force and energy to cause injury to 
Judge Bozzuto from that stated distance and 
location. 

Having concluded that the state has proven the 
elements of threatening in the second degree 
beyond a reasonable doubt, the court, before 
returning a verdict on that charge, must consider 
whether the state proved the crime of threatening 
in the first degree as alleged in the first count of 
the Information. Pursuant to General Statutes 
§53a-61aa(a)(3), and as alleged in the Information, 
the state was required to prove as to the charge of 
threatening in the first degree that the defendant 
committed threatening in the second degree and 
that, in committing that offense, he "represented 
by his words . .. that he possessed a firearm .. . " 
In order to sustain its burden of proof [*85] as to 
this charge, the state was therefore required to 
prove the following elements beyond a reasonable 
doubt: Given the email's precise description of the 

manner in which the shootiug would be carried 
out and its specific reference not only to firearms 
and ammunition generaJly, but to a firearm of a 
certain caliber and ammunition of a certain type, 
and on the basis of the reasonable inferences that 
the court has drawn therefrom, the court concludes 
that the defendant, by the words he used in his 
email, represented that he possessed a firearm. 
Because the evidence proves beyond a reasonable 
doubt that the defendant committed threatening in 
the second degree by transmitting an email that 
represented by its words that the defendant 
possessed a firearm, it is the verdict of this court 
that the defendant is guilty of the crime of 

(1) that the defendant committed threatening 
in the second degree as alleged in the second 
count; and 

(2) that, in committing that offense, he 
represented by his words that he possessed a 
firearm. 

As to the first of these elements-that the 
defendant committed threatening in the second 
degree-the court incorporates its earlier 
discussion on that subject and concludes that the 
state has proven the commission of threatening in 
the second degree beyond a reasonable doubt. 

As to the second element-that the defendant 
represented by his words that he possessed a 
firearm-the court similarly incorporates its earlier 

30 Having determined that the defendant acted in reckless disregard of the risk of causing terror to Judge Bazzuta in the manner above 
described, the court does not need to reach an alternate manner in which the defendant could have recklessly disregarded the risk of 
causing terror; namely. whether he recklessly disregarded the risk of causing terror to any of the direct reCipients. of his email. See 

footnote 28 and accompanying text, supra. 
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threatening in the first degree as alleged in the 
fIrst count of the InfoI1llation.31 

court has assessed the sufficiency of the evidence 
as to this element in the manner required by 
Indrisano by considering "what a reasonable 
person operating under contemporary community 
standards would consider a disturbance to or 
impediment of a lawful activity, a deep feeling of 
vexation or provocation, or a feeling of anxiety 
prompted by threatened danger or haI1ll." /d. 

Disorderly Conduct-Third Count 

Pursuant to General Statutes §53a-182(a)(2), and 
as alleged in the third count of the InfoI1llation, 
the crime of disorderly conduct is defined as 
follows: "A person is guilty of disorderly conduct 
when, recklessly creating a risk of causing 
inconvenience, annoyance or alaJ1ll to another 
person, such person by offensive or disorderly 
conduct annoys or interferes with such person." In 
order to sustain its burden of proof on this charge, 
the state must prove the following elements beyond 
a reasonable doubt: 

(l) that the defendant recklessly created a risk 
of inconvenience, annoyance or alaJ1ll to Judge 
Bozzuto by sending the email; 

(2) that the sending of the email constituted 
offensive or disorderly conduct; and 

(3) that the defendant's offensive or disorderly 
conduct annoyed or interfered with Judge 
Bozzuto. 

The court has already found, in the context of its 
consideration of the evidence as to the threatening 
charges in the first and second counts of the 
Information, that the defendant, by sending his 
threatening email, was aware of and consciously 
disregarded the substantial and unjustifiable risk 
of causing terror to Judge Bozzuto. Consistent 
with that finding, the court further concludes that 
the defendant's conduct also recklessly created a 
risk that Judge Bozzuto would be inconvenienced, 
annoyed or alarmed by the email's threatening 
content. Unquestionably, when viewed objectively 
pursuant to the lndrisano standard just stated, the 
defendant's email would [*89J cause the person 
threatened by it to experience deep feelings of 
vexation and anxiety as a result of the threatened 
haJ1ll, and to suffer as well a disturbance to 
impediment of his or her lawful activities. The 
court also finds that the defendant was subjectively 
aware of and consciously disregarded the risk that 
his email would cause Judge Bozzuto to 
experience those emotions and to suffer the 
described disturbance and impediment. 

As to the first of these elements, the court notes at 
the outset that it has interpreted "inconvenience" 
to mean something that disturbs or impedes; 
"annoyance" to mean vexation or a deep effect of 
provoking [*88] or disturbing; and "alarm" to 
mean filled with anxiety as to threatened danger 
or harm. See State v. Indrisano, 228 Conn. 795, 
810,640 A.2d 986 (1994), citing Webster's Third 
New International Dictionary. Furthermore, the 

As to the second element, the court finds that the 
defendant's communication of the email 
constituted offensive and disorderly conduct 

31 ["'87J In light of the court's verdict as to this charge, the court does not return a verdict on the charge of threatening in the second 
degree, as alleged in the second count. See faolnote 1, supra. 
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because that email contained a true threat32 of a 
nature that would be "grossly offensive, under 
contemporary community standards, to a person" 
who read or otherwise learned of its existence. 
State v. lndrisano, supra, 228 Conn. 818; 
Connecticut Criminal Jury Instruction, supra, 
§8.4-8. In the court's opinion, the fact that the 
defendant's threat was so detailed and specific in 
the many respects discussed previously, supports 
the court's conclusion that the defendant engaged 
in conduct that would be viewed not merely as 
"offensive," but "grossly offensive," under current 
community standards. 

conduct by writing and communicating the email 
at issue, and thereby annoyed and interfered with 
Judge Bozzuto. In light of this conclusion, it is the 
verdict of this court that the defendant is guilty of 
the crime of disorderly conduct [*92] as alleged in 
the third count of the Information. 

Disorderly Conduct-Fourth Count 

The allegations contained in the fourth count of 
the Information mirror those in the third count, 
except to the extent that they contend that the 
defendant recklessly created a risk of 
inconvenience, annoyance or alarm to Jennifer 
Verraneault (rather than to Judge Bozzuto, as in 
the third count); and that the defendant's offensive 
and disorderly conduct annoyed or interfered with 
Ms. Verraneault (again, rather than Judge 
Bozzuto). 

With regard to the third element, the court 
concludes that the state proved that the defendant's 
offensi ve and disorderly conduct annoyed and 
interfered with Judge Bozzuto. In this regard, the 
court applies the definition of the phrase "annoyed 
and interfered with" that Indrisano dictates, that 
is, to be disturbed or impeded in one's lawful 
activities. State v. Indrisano, supra, 228 Conn. 
819. The court specifically determines in this 
regard that the threatening nature of the email 
disturbed or impeded Judge Bozzuto's lawful 
activities [*91] in at least one of the ways that she 
described in the course of her testimony at the 
trial. 33 

The court therefore concludes that the evidence in 
this case proves beyond a reasonable doubt that 
the defendant, recklessly creating a risk of causing 
inconvenience, annoyance and alarm to Judge 
Bozzuto, engaged in offensive and disorderly 

As to the elements of the crime of disorderly 
conduct that are explained above, the court 
concludes that the state proved each of these 
elements beyond a reasonable doubt. As to the 
element of recklessness, the court specifically 
finds that the defendant, in sending the email to 
Ms. Verraneault, was aware of and consciously 
disregarded the substantial risk that she would 
herself be inconvenienced, annoyed and alarmed 
by its content, despite the fact that she was not the 
person threatened with harm in the email. As 
noted in the court's discussion of the third count, 
to "inconvenience" another person means to 
disturb that person, and to "alarm" another person 

32 Neither the disorderly conduct statute nor the applicable Judicial Branch Model Jury Instruction expressly references the concept 

[*90) of "true threats." Connecticut Criminal Jury Instruction (4th Ed. 2008) §8.4-8, available at 

http://www.jud.ct.gov/JIlcriminallpart8/8.4-8.htm (last visited September 28, 2015) (copy contained in the file of this case in the 

Middlesex Superior Court clerk's office). The court believes. however, that in a disorderly conduct prosecution in which the offensjve 

or disorderly conduct alleged relates to the defendant's communication of threatening speech, the state is required to prove that the 

defendant conununicated a true threat. Having imposed that burden on the state, the court bas determined on the basis of the reasoning 

previously explained that the state has proven this "true threat" element for both the third and fourth counts of the Information. 

33 By way of example, Judge Bozzuto's lawful activities were disturbed and impeded because the defendant' s threat caused her to take 
steps to protect herself and her family (i.e. upgrading her home security system and providing officia1s at her children 's schools with 
the defendant's name and photograph), and to experience the sense of disquietude and anxiety that she still now often experiences when 
she approaches her home in the evening. Judge Bozzuto's lawful activities clearly included her right not to take those actions that she 
felt compelled to take, or to experience those emotions that she still now is forced to endure. 
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means to fill that person [*93] with anxiety of Fifth Count-Breach of the Peace in the Second 
threatened danger or harm. State v. Indrisano, 
supra, 228 Conn. 810. For the reasons earlier 
explained, the court concludes that when the 
defendant communicated his threatening email to 
Ms. Verraneault, he was aware that she would 
view its content as a serious expression of his 
intent to shoot Judge Bozzuto, and that Ms. 
Verraneault would be disturbed and filled with 
anxiety as a result of that threatened harm. 34 

As to the second and third elements of disorderly 
conduct-that the defendant by offensive and 
disorderly conduct, annoyed or interfered with 
Ms. Verraneault-the court, on the basis of the 
same standards, reasoning and analysis that it 
applied to the third count, concludes that the state 
proved these elements beyond a reasonable doubt 
as to the fourth count as well. 35 

The court therefore concludes that the evidence 
[*95] in this case proves beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the defendant, recklessly creating a risk 
of causing inconvenience, annoyance and alarm 
to Jennifer Verraneault, engaged in offensive and 
disorderly conduct by writing and communicating 
the email at issue, and thereby annoyed and 
interfered with Ms. Verraneault. In light of this 
conclusion, it is the verdict of this court that the 
defendant is guilty of the crime of disorderly 
conduct as alleged in the fourth count of the 
Information. 

Degree 

Pursuant to General Statutes §53a-181(a)(3), and 
as alleged in the fifth count, a person is guilty of 
breach of the peace in the second degree when, 
recklessly creating a risk of causing inconvenience, 
annoyance or alarm, such person threatens to 
commit any crime against another person. The 
state alleges specifically that the defendant, by 
authoring and communicating his email, recklessly 
created a risk of causing inconvenience, annoyance 
and alarm by threatening to assault Judge Bozzuto. 
In order to sustain its burden of proof on this 
charge, the state must prove beyond a reasonable 
doubt the following elements: 

(1) that the defendant recklessly created a risk 
of inconvenience, annoyance [*96] or alarm 
to another person; and 

(2) that the defendant threatened (by way of a 
true threat) to commit a crime against Judge 
Bozzuto. 

As to the element of recklessness, the court 
specifically finds that the defendant, in authoring 
and sending the email at issue, recklessly created 
a risk of causing inconvenience, annoyance and 

34 In fact , Ms. VeITaneault testified that she was so disturbed and frightened by the defendant's email that she immediately emailed 
the defendant to state that she was worried about him. The defendant, however, never responded. In the court's view, had the defendant 
been unaware that his email would be taken seriously, it would be reasonable to expect that he would have responded to Ms. Verraneault 
to ask the reasons for her concern or to assuage her fears. The defendant's failure to respond to Ms. Verraneault's email is therefore 
consistent with his earlier discussed failure to express surprise or contrition at the similar concerns expressed by Mr. Nowacki in his email 
of August 23,2014. In both situations, the defendant's behavior supports the reasonable inference that he conununicated his email with 
[*94] full awareness of its threatening character and how seriously it would be viewed. 

3.5 With regard to the manner in which the defendant's email annoyed or interfered with Ms. Verraneault, she testified, for example, 
as to the many people she contacted for advice regarding the email and her duty to alert others about it. She also testified that when she 
did report the email to law enforcement, she did so despite her fears that her personal safety could be jeopardized if the defendant were 
to learn of what she had done. These actions taken and emotions experienced by Ms. Verraneault. like those taken and felt by Judge 
BOZZllto; see footnote 33, .supra; were prompted solely by the defendant's offensive and disorderly conduct and acted to disturb and 
impede Ms. VerraneauJt's lawful activities. 
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alarm to another person.36 This same element is 
contained in the disorderly conduct charges that 
are set forth in the third and fourth counts, and the 
court incorporates here its previous discussion 
regarding the sufficiency of the evidence on this 
element. 

As to the second element, the court finds that the 
evidence also proves that the defendant threatened 
in his email to commit the crime of assault against 
Judge Bozzuto. With regard to the nature of the 
defendant's threat, the court further concludes 
that the language of the defendant's email 
constituted a true threat, as that concept has been 
earlier explained. 

The court therefore concludes that the evidence in 
this case proves beyond a reasonable doubt that 
the defendant, recklessly creating a risk of causing 

inconvenience, annoyance and alarm to another 
person, threatened to commit the crime of assault 
against Judge Bozzuto. In light of this conclusion, 
it is the verdict of this court that the defendant is 
guilty of the crime of breach of the peace in the 
second degree as alleged in the fifth count of the 
Information. 

IV. FURTHER ORDER OF THE COURT 

Having found [*98] the defendant guilty of the 
charges as indicated, the court continues the 
matter for sentencing until December 9, 2015. 

THE COURT 

Gold, J. 

36 UnHke the disorderly conduct charges in the third and fourth counts of the Information, the breach of the peace in the second degree 
charge set forth in the fifth count does not specify a "victim"-that is, it does not allege that the defendant recklessly created a risk of 
inconvenience, annoyance or alarm to a particular named individual. The defendant did not request, either during pretrial proceedings 
or at trial , that the state identify by name the alleged victim in this count. In any event, as indicated in its discussion of the disorderly 
conduct offenses, the court has determined thaL the defendant recklessly [*97] created such a risk which appears in identica11anguage 
in the disorderly conduct and breach of the peace jn the second degree statutes-Lo both Judge Bozzuto and Jennifer Verraneault. 
Therefore, the state, as required, has proven that the defendant recklessly created a risk of inconvenience, annoyance or alarm "to another 
person." 
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STATE OF CONNECTICUT 

v. 

EDWARD F. TAUPIER 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT 

SUPERIOR COURT 

JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF 
MIDDLESEX AT MIDDLETOWN 

MARCH 29, 2016 

Present, Hon. David P. Gold 

JUDGMENT 

Upon Information of Vicki Melchiorre, DCJ Supervisor Assistant State's Attorney for Part 

A, Judicial District of Hartford, filed on August 29,2014 the defendant, Edward F. Taupier was 

charged in the First Count with Threatening in the First Degree on or about August 23, 2014 in 

violation of Connecticut General Statutes (CGS) §53a-61aa, and in the Second Count with 

Harassment in the Second Degree on or about August 23,2014 in violation of CGS §53a-

183(a)(2). 

Uniform Arrest Report (UAR: 1664291) indicates that said defendant was arrested by the 

Connecticut State Police (CSP) in the town of Cromwell on August 29, 2014. He posted a cash 

bond of Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars ($35,000) and was assigned a court date of September 2, 

2014. On said date, the Defendant, represented by Attorney Jefferson Jelly was arraigned in 

the Superior Court Geographical Area No. 14 (GA#14) in the City of Hartford by the Honorable 

Joan Alexander. Said Court increased Defendant's bond by an additional Forty Thousand 

Dollars ($40,000) cash without prejudice, to be posted in court only. This total cash bond of 

Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($75,000) also included certain conditions of release. Since this 

case involved the alleged threatening of a Hartford Superior Court Judge, the matter was 

transferred to the Judicial District of Middlesex, Part A docket. 

Presentment before the Honorable David P. Gold in Middletown was scheduled for 

September 4,2014 when through his Attomeys Jefferson Jelly and John R. Donovan, the 

Defendant entered not guilty pleas to the Information and elected a trial by jury. He was also 

advised of the specific conditions of release that he must comply with, including a 24/7 

lockdown with particular exceptions only, surrender of firearms, and surrender of his passport. 
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On September 8, 2014 the Defendant was called to court to address his alleged failure 

to comply with certain Court (Gold, J.) imposed, and Office of Adult Probation (OAP) enforced 

conditions of release. He appeared with Attorneys Jelly, Donovan and Alisha Mathers. The 

Court (Gold, J.) specifically clarified each condition. Subsequent to this hearing, an Appearance 

for the defendant and a Motion to Dismiss was filed by Attorney Alisha Mathers in lieu of 

Attorneys Jelly and Donovan. 

On September 11, 2014 an Appearance was filed by Attorney Jon Schoen horn in place 

of Attorney Alisha Mathers. Attorney Schoen horn represented the defendant in a separate 

hearing regarding a Firearms Risk Warrant and also filed a Motion to Modify Conditions of 

Release. Another pre-trial hearing was held on September 22,2014 wherein the Court (Gold, 

J.) again clarified, and slightly modified the conditions of release. The Court endeavored to be 

consistent with Middletown Superior Court - GA #9 Family Services Division visitation orders 

regarding Defendant's pending divorce and child custody proceedings. 

On October 1, 201 4 another Appearance was filed by Attorney Rachel Baird in lieu of 

Attorney Jon Schoenhorn. Thereafter the Defendant appeared regularly for discovery, repeated 

modification of conditions of release, and other pretrial conferences between his attorney and 

Assistant State's Attorney (ASA) Brenda Hans. 

On November 17, 2014 ASA Brenda Hans filed a Substituted and/or Amended 

Information charging the Defendant in the First Count with Threatening in the First Degree on or 

about August 23,2014 in violation of Connecticut General Statutes (CGS) §53a-61aa(a)(3); in 

the Second Count with Threatening in the Second Degree on or about August 23,2014 in 

violation of CGS §53a-62(3); in the Third Count with Harassment in the Second Degree on or 

about August 23,2014 in violation of CGS §53a-183(a)(2); in the Fourth Count with Disorderly 

Conduct (re: Elizabeth Bozzuto) on or about August 23,2014 in violation of CGS §53a-

182(a)(2); in the Fifth Count with Disorderly Conduct (re: Jennifer Verraneault) on or about 

August 23, 2014 in violation of CGS §53a-182(a)(2); and in the Sixth Count with Breach of 

Peace in the Second Degree on or about August 23,2014 in violation of CGS §53a-181(a)(3). 

A hearing was held on November 18, 2014 and the Court (Gold, J.) again addressed the 

defendant's financial/non-financial conditions of release. The parties subsequently agreed on 

a tentative schedule for pretria l motions and confirmed that the trial would commence on or 

about March 4, 2015 . 
2 
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On March 3, 2015 ASA Brenda Hans filed a Second Substituted and/or Amended 

Information charging the Defendant in the First Count with Threatening in the First Degree on or 

about August 22,2014 in violation of CGS §53a-61aa(a)(3); in the Second Count with 

Threatening in the Second Degree on or about August 22,2014 in violation of CGS §53a-62(3); 

in the Third Count with Harassment in the Second Degree on or about August 22, 2014 in 

violation of CGS §53a-183(a)(2); in the Fourth Count with Disorderly Conduct (re: Elizabeth 

Bozzuto) on or about August 22,2014 in violation of CGS §53a-182(a)(2); in the Fifth Count 

with Disorderly Conduct (re: Jennifer Verraneault) on or about August 23, 2014 in violation of 

CGS §53a-182(a)(2); and in the Sixth Count with Breach of Peace in the Second Degree on or 

about August 22,2014 in violation of CGS §53a-181(a)(3). 

On March 4, 2015 a hearing was held to address the many pretrial motions filed by the 

parties and/or several subpoenaed witnesses. On March 6, 2015 another hearing was 

convened to ascertain defendant's compliance with his conditions of release. On March 9, 2015 

an evidentiary hearing was held regarding defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence of 

Firearms and Ammunition. 

On March 10,2015 ASA Brenda Hans filed a Third Substituted and/or Amended 

Information charging the Defendant in the First Count with Threatening in the First Degree on or 

about August 22. 2014 in violation of CGS §53a-61aa(a)(3); in the Second Count with 

Threatening in the Second Degree on or about August 22. 2014 in violation of CGS §53a-62(3); 

in the Third Count with Disorderly Conduct (re: Elizabeth Bozzuto) on or about August 22.2014 

in violation of CGS §53a-182(a)(2); in the Fourth Count with Disorderly Conduct (re: Jennifer 

Verraneault) on or about August 23. 2014 in violation of CGS §53a-182(a)(2); and in the Fifth 

Count with Breach of Peace in the Second Degree on or about August 22, 2014 in violation of 

CGS §53a-181 (a)(3). 

On this date the Court (Gold. J.) rendered its ruling that the Defendant's Motion to 

Suppress Evidence of Firearms and Ammunition was denied. This decision is documented in 

the transcribed Memorandum of Decision dated March 10. 2015 and signed on April 13, 2015. 

On March 12. 2015 the parties appeared in court to address outstanding issues. The 

Defendant elected a bench trial. the Court (Gold. J.) canvassed him in great detail, and the trial 

was scheduled to commence on April 6. 2015. 
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Presentation of trial evidence and consideration of additional motions commenced on 

said April 6, 2015. This process was completed by May 26,2015. Closing arguments were 

presented by both parties on June 23, 2015 and more motions were addressed during the 

ensuing months. 

The Court (Gold, J.) filed its written verdict and signed Memorandum of Decision on 

October 2, 2015. It was distributed to the parties in courtroom 38 and recorded at 9: 14 am 

o'clock as follows: 

First Count: Threatening in the First Degree CGS §53a-61aa(a)(3) GUILTY 

Second Count: Threatening in the Second Degree CGS §53a-62(3) NO VERDICT 

Third Count: Disorderly Conduct (re: E.Bozzuto) CGS §53a-182(a)(2) GUILTY 

Fourth Count: Disorderly Conduct (re: JVerraneault) CGS §53a-182(a)(2) GUILTY 

Fifth Count: Breach of Peace in the Second Degree CGS §53a-181(a)(3) GUILTY 

A Pre-Sentence Investigation (PSI) was ordered for the December g, 2015 sentencing 

date and the Defendant's bond remained as set at Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($75,000) 

cash only with specific conditions of release. On November 17, 2015 an Appearance was filed 

by Attorney Norman Pattis "in addition to" the appearance on record of Attorney Rachel Baird. 

The December 9,2015 sentencing date was subsequently continued to January 6,2016 and 

then to January 12, 2016. 

On January 12, 2016 the parties appeared for sentencing. The Court (Gold, J.) 

acknowledged and reviewed the PSI report dated January 4, 2016 and noted a few corrections. 

ASA Brenda Hans and the victim, the Honorable Elizabeth Bozzuto addressed the Court. 

Defense Attorney Rachel Baird had previously filed a collection of letters in favor of the 

Defendant, and now introduced several individuals who presented statements to the Court. 

The Court (Gold, J.) proceeded to impose a total effective sentence (TES) of Five (5) 

years e/s/a Eighteen (18) months served and Five (5) years probation with special conditions 

(sc). The sentence was specified as follows: 

First Count: Threatening in the First Degree CGS §53a-61aa(a)(3) 

Second Count: Threatening in the Second Degree CGS §53a-62(3) 
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Third Count: Disorderly Conduct (re: E.Bozzuto) CGS §53a-182(a)(2) 3 months to serve (conc) 

Fourth Count: Disorderly Conduct (re: J.Verraneault) CGS §53a-182(a)(2) 3 months to serve (conc) 

Fifth Count: Breach of Peace in the Second Degree CGS §53a-181 (a)(3) 6 months to serve (conc) 

Defense attorney Norman Pattis then orally motioned the Court (Gold, J.) for an 

appellate bond. ASA Brenda Hans objected. The Court ordered that the $75,000 cash bond 

(previously posted during the pre-trial process) be refunded by operation of law because the 

case is now disposed. The Court then granted Defense motion and imposed an appellate bond 

of Ninety Thousand Dollars ($90,000) cash only. This bond could only be presented in Court 

with Gold, J. presiding so that additional conditions of release would be imposed. 

Defense Attorney Norman Pattis then orally motioned the Court (Gold, J.) for a Stay of 

Imposition of Sentence. This motion was denied and the defendant was taken into custody by 

the Department of Corrections (DOC) as per the sentence imposed. The Defendant was served 

with Notice of Right to Appeal Judgment of Conviction (JD-CR-19) and a Pardon Notice. 

On January 15,2016 the Defendant appeared with Attorney Fred O'Brien (standing in 

for Attorney Norman Pattis) and with Attorney Rachel Baird. Court notes that the Defendant is 

posting the appellate bond of $90,000 cash and imposes particular conditions of release. On 

January 19, 2015 Attorney Rachel Baird filed a Motion to Withdraw Appearance for particular 

reasons. This motion was heard by the Court and granted on February 11, 2016. Attorney 

Norman Pattis remained as the sole attorney of record on this case. 

On January 21,2016 Edward Taupier through Attorney Norman Pattis electronically filed 

Criminal APPEAL (JD-SC 33) dated January 21,2016. 

Date of Judgment: By the Court: 

January 12, 2016 Gold, J. 

Evelyn Vargas-Rondon 

Court Officer for Criminal Matters 

5 
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doctrine arising under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

CERTIFICATION 

THE APPELLANT 
Edward Taupier 

BY:,~~~~~~z:~~ 
NORMANA.PA 
Pattis & Smith, LLC 
383 Orange Street 
New Haven, CT 06511 
P: 203-393-3017 
F: 203-393-9745 
npattis@pattisandsmith.com 

The foregoing was sent via regular mail this 29th day of January 2016 to: Chief States 
Attorney's Office, Appellate Bureau, 300 Corporate Place, Rocky Hill, CT and to Maria Sheehan 
at dcLocsa.appellate@ct.gov, this 29th day of January 2016. A copy was also mailed to Edward 
Taupier at his physical address. He consents to electronic filing. 
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STATEMENT FOR PRE-ARGUMENT CONFERENCE 

This is a criminal appeal involving a custodial sentence, and, as such, there will not be a 
pre-argument settlement conference. 
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~RSON ORDERING A TRANSCRIPT FOR AN APPEAL: / 

.. ,11y and gille this (orm .to the OfflcJ8/ Court Reporter. 

The Judicial Branch of the State 01 Connect/cut 
complies with the Americans with Olsabilities Act 
(ADA). If you need a reasonable accommodation in 
accordance wIth the ADA, cohtact a court clem or an 
ADA contact person listed at www.judct.govIADA. 

_.Ielal Court Reporter the name and address of aU ccunselend self·represen/ed parties o( ret;{)rd. 
"" Ine Official Court RepDrler fills out section 3 and returns the form to you, nil out section 4. 

Se"t/on 1. 

Appeal docket number 

AC 38809 /VlX 3/S 
Trial court docket number Name of ease 

STATE OF CONNECTICUTV. EDWARD TAUPIER : '-II-W' CJLt:t - 0 In fi (P IV 
Healing dates of transcript being brdered 

SEE ATTACHED 
Trial coun location 

ONE COURT STREET, MIDDLETOWN, 06457 
Case type rX" one) 

I Judicial district of 

MIDDLESEX 
Case tried to ("X~ one) Appeal to rXw one) Name(s) of Judge(s) 

DAVID GOLD 
~ Criminal D Family o Jury o Supreme Court o Juvenile DCivil ~ Court (gJ Appellate Court 
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D (a) concerning Termination of Parental Rights o 4, Involving the public interest 
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11 
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From 
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Submit this page with JD-ES-38, NoOce of Appeal Transctipl Order, when additional 
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Name of case 
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The Judicial Branch of the State of Connecticut 
complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA). If you need a reasonable accommodation in 
accordance with the ADA, contad a court derk or an 
ADA contact person listed at wwwJud.ctgovIADA. 

Trial court docket number _ 
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reporter(s)/monitor(s) 
Name(s) of transcribing 
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APPELLATE COURT 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT 

AC 38809 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT 
HAY n R ?OTS 

v. 

MAY 4,2016 
ORDER 

THE MOTION OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, FILED MAY 2,2016, FOR 

PERMISSION TO AMEND CERTIFICATE RE: TRANSCRIPT, HAVING BEEN 

PRESENTED TO THE COURT, IT IS HEREBY 0 R D ERE D GRANTED. A COURT 

REPORTER'S ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM WITH .AN ESTIMATED DELIVERY DATE 

SHALL BE FILED ON OR BEFORE MAY 16, 2016. 

THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF REMAINS DUE ON JUNE 13,2016. 

NOTICE SENT: 5 .4. 16 
COUNSEL OF RECORD 
pd 

A117 

BY THE COURT, 

/S/ 
ALAN M. GANNUSCIO 
ASSISTANT CLERK-APPELLATE 

153478 



First Amendment to the United States Constitution 

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or 

prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or 

of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to 

petition the Government for a redress of grievances. 
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Article 1, Section 4 of the Connecticut Constitution 

Every citizen may freely speak, write and publish his sentiments on all 

subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that liberty. 

A119 



Article 1! Section 5 of the Connecticut Constitution 

No law shall ever be passed to curtail or restrain the liberty of speech or of 

the press. 
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Article 1, Section 14 of the Connecticut Constitution 

The citizens have a right, in a peaceable manner, to assemble for their 

common good, and to apply to those invested with the powers of 

government, for redress of grievances, or other proper purposes, by 

petition , address or remonstrance. 
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Connecticut General Statute § 53a-61aa 

• (a) A person is guilty of threatening in the first degree when such 
person (1) (A) threatens to commit any crime involving the use of a 
hazardous substance with the intent to terrorize another person, to 
cause evacuation of a building, place of assembly or facility of public 
transportation or otherwise to cause serious public inconvenience, or 
(8) threatens to commit such crime in reckless disregard of the risk of 
causing such terror, evacuation or inconvenience; (2) (A) threatens to 
commit any crime of violence with the intent to cause evacuation of a 
building, place of assembly or facility of public transportation or 
otherwise to cause serious public inconvenience, or (8) threatens to 
commit such crime in reckless disregard of the risk of causing such 
evacuation or inconvenience; or (3) commits threatening in the 
second degree as provided in section 53a-62, and in the commission 
of such offense he uses or is armed with and threatens the use of or 
displays or represents by his words or conduct that he possesses a 
pistol, revolver, shotgun, rifle, machine gun or other firearm. No 
person shall be found guilty of threatening in the first degree under 
subdivision (3) of this subsection and threatening in the second 
degree upon the same transaction but such person may be charged 
and prosecuted for both such offenses upon the same information. 

• (b) For the purposes of this section, "hazardous substance" means 
any physical, chemical, biological or radiological substance or matter 
which, because of its quantity, concentration or physical, chemica l or 
infectious characteristics, may cause or significantly contribute to an 
increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible or 
incapacitating reversible illness, or pose a substantial present or 
potential hazard to human health. 

• (c) Threatening in the first degree is a class D felony. 
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Connecticut General Statute § 53a-48 

• (a) A person is guilty of conspiracy when, with intent that conduct 
constituting a crime be performed, he agrees with one or more 
persons to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct, and 
anyone of them commits an overt act in pursuance of such 
conspiracy. 

• (b) It shall be a defense to a charge of conspiracy that the actor, 
after conspiring to commit a crime, thwarted the success of the 
conspiracy, under circumstances manifesting a complete and 
voluntary renunciation of his criminal purpose. 
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18 U.S.C. § 875(c) 

• (a) Whoever transmits in interstate or foreign commerce any 
communication containing any demand or request for a ransom or 
reward for the release of any kidnapped person, shall be fined under 
this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both . 

• (b) Whoever, with intent to extort from any person, firm , association, 
or corporation, any money or other thing of value, transmits in 
interstate or foreign commerce any communication containing any 
threat to kidnap any person or any threat to injure the person of 
another, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 
twenty years, or both. 

• (c) Whoever transmits in interstate or foreign commerce any 
communication containing any threat to kidnap any person or any 
threat to injure the person of another, shall be fined under this title or 
imprisoned not more than five years, or both. 

• (d) Whoever, with intent to extort from any person, firm, association, 
or corporation, any money or other thing of value, transmits in 
interstate or foreign commerce any communication containing any 
threat to injure the property or reputation of the addressee or of 
another or the reputation of a deceased person or any threat to 
accuse the addressee or any other person of a crime, shall be fined 
under this title or imprisoned not more than two years, or both. 

A124 



PATTIS & SMITH, LLC 
383 ORANGE STREET, FIRST FLOOR 

NEW HAYEN, CT 06511 
TELEPHONE 203-393-3017 

FACSIMILE 203-393-9745 

NORMAN A. FA TITS (npattis@pattisandsmitll.com) 

KEVIN M. SMI1H (Jcsmitll@pattisandsmitll .com) 

DANI'EL M. ERWIN (derwin@pattisandsmitll.com) 

BRITTANY B. PAZ (bpaz@paWsandsmitll.com) 

FREDERICK M . 0 'BRIEN (fobrien@p. U;snndsmitll.com) 

Paul Hartan 
Chief Clerk 
Connecticut Supreme/Appellate Courts 
231 Capitol Avenue 
Hartford, CT 06106 

September 21 , 2016 

. RE: State v. Taupier, A.C. 38809, Request For Permission To File Overs ize Brief 

Dear Mr. Hartan: 

Pursuant to Practice Book §67-3, I am writing to ask that you convey tp the 
Appellate Court the defendant's request to file an oversize brief of no more than 40 
pages. The specific grounds for this request are the last paragraph of §67-3 that 
permits the clerk to grant up to five (5) additional pages "[wJhere a claim relies on the 
state constitution as an independent ground for'felief." The issue in this case presents 
an emerging issue of First Amendment law that has divided the federal courts of 
appeals. See State v. Krijger, 313 Conn. 434, 451 n. 10(2014). At the writing of th is 
request, I have briefed a succinct state constitutional argument of three (3) pages as an 
independent grounds for relief. However, I have several other authorities I need to 
address and may fill the entire five pages. Given that, the voluminous trial record, and 
several secondary issues I must address in the brief, the additional five pages are 
necessary to complete the defendant's analysis under the state constitution. I 
respectfully request that the additional five page request be granted. 

Cc: State's Attorney, Appellate Bureau 



By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

EDWARD F. TAUPIER 
THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT 

ii&fJ£;;[l=> 
DANIEL M. ERWIN 
PATTIS & SMITH, LLC 
Juris No. 423934 
383 Orange Street, 151 Floor 
New Haven, CT 06511 
T: 203-393-3017 
F: 203-393-9745 
npattis@pattisandsmith.com 

CERTIFICATION 

The undersigned certifies, in conformity with Connecticut Practice Book § 67-2, that: 

1) The electronically submitted copy of this brief and appendix has been delivered 

electronically to the last known e-mail address of each counsel of record for 

whom and e-mail address has been provided; 

2) The electronically submitted brief and appendix and the filed paper brief has 

been redacted or does not contain the names or other personal identifying 

information that is prohibited from disclosure by rule, statute, court order, or case 

law; 

3) A copy of the brief and appendix has been sent to each counsel of record and to 

any trial judge who rendered a decision that is the subject matter of this appeal, 

in compliance with Practice Book §62-7; 

4) The brief and appendix being filed with the appellate clerk are true copies of the 

brief and appendix that were submitted electronically; and 

5) Th, bri,' romp';" w", ,II pm",i", of !hi, rul'~ 

NA. e TI 
PATTIS & SMITH, LLC 




